
 

  
 
 

Principal Scrutiny Adviser: 
Steven Courtney 
Tel: (0113) 37 88666 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

 
A 

 

 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH & ACTIVE LIFESTYLES) 
 

 
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds, LS1 1UR on 

Tuesday, 21st June, 2022 at 1.30 pm 
 

(A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board at 1.00 p.m.) 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
 Councillors  
 

C Anderson - Adel and Wharfedale; 

S Burke - Middleton Park; 

L Farley - Burmantofts and Richmond 
Hill; 

J Gibson - Cross Gates and Whinmoor; 

N Harrington - Wetherby; 

C Hart-Brooke - Rothwell; 

M Iqbal - Hunslet and Riverside; 

W Kidger - Morley South; 

A Marshall-Katung (Chair) - Little London and 
Woodhouse; 

E Taylor - Chapel Allerton; 

E Thomson - Guiseley and Rawdon; 

 
Co-opted Member (Non-voting) 

 
To be determined 

 
 
Please Note: Please do not attend the meeting in person if you have symptoms of Covid-19 and 

please follow current public health advice to avoid passing the virus onto other people. 
 
Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the 
‘View the Meeting Recording’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked 
below) ahead of the meeting. The webcast will become available at the commencement of 
the meeting: Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) - 21 June 2022 
 

Public Document Pack

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1090&MId=11912


 

  
 
 

Principal Scrutiny Adviser: 
Steven Courtney 
Tel: (0113) 37 88666 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

 
B 

 



 

C 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 25* of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded). 
 
(* In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, notice of 
an appeal must be received in writing by the Head 
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before 
the meeting).  
 

 

2   
 

  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

1. To highlight reports or appendices which 
officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report. 

 
2. To consider whether or not to accept the 

officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information. 

  
3. If so, to formally pass the following 

resolution:- 
 

RESOLVED – That the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the 
agenda designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, as follows: 

 
           No exempt items have been identified. 
 

 



 

 
D 

3   
 

  LATE ITEMS 
 
To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration. 
 
(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes.) 
 

 

4   
 

  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
To disclose or draw attention to any interests in 
accordance with Leeds City Council’s ‘Councillor 
Code of Conduct’. 
 

 

5   
 

  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND 
NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTES 
 
To receive any apologies for absence and 
notification of substitutes. 
 

 

6   
 

  MINUTES - 15 MARCH 2022 AND 26 APRIL 2022 
 

(1) To approve as a correct record the minutes 
of the meeting held on 15 March 2022. 
 

(2) To note the meeting notes of the 
consultative meeting held on 26 April 2022. 

 

7 - 16 

7   
 

  CO-OPTED MEMBERS 
 
To receive a report from the Head of Democratic 
Services on the appointment of co-opted members 
to the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active 
Lifestyle). 
 

17 - 
20 

8   
 

  SCRUTINY BOARD TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
To receive a report from the Head of Democratic 
Services presenting the Scrutiny Board’s terms of 
reference. 
 

21 - 
40 

9   
 

  LOCAL AUTHORITY HEALTH SCRUTINY 
 
To receive a report from the Head of Democratic 
Services associated with the discharge of the 
Boards special responsibility to fulfil the council’s 
statutory health scrutiny function. 
 

41 - 
84 



 

 
E 

10   
 

  SOURCES OF WORK FOR THE SCRUTINY 
BOARD 
 
To receive a report from the Head of Democratic 
Services on potential sources of work for the 
Scrutiny Board. 
 

85 - 
138 

11   
 

  PERFORMANCE UPDATE 
 
To receive a joint report from the Director of Adults 
and Health, the Director of Public Health and the 
Director of City Development that presents an 
update on progress in delivering the council and 
city priorities in line with the council’s performance 
management framework. 
 

139 - 
174 

12   
 

  WORK SCHEDULE 
 
To consider the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for 
the 2022/23 municipal year. 
 

175 - 
190 

13   
 

  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 
Tuesday, 19 July 2022 at 1:30pm (pre-meeting for 
all Board Members at 1:00pm) 
 
 

 



 

 
F 

   THIRD PARTY RECORDING 
 
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those 
not present to see or hear the proceedings either as 
they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of 
those proceedings.  A copy of the recording protocol is 
available from the contacts on the front of this agenda. 
 
Use of Recordings by Third Parties – code of practice 
 

a) Any published recording should be 
accompanied by a statement of when and 
where the recording was made, the context 
of the discussion that took place, and a clear 
identification of the main speakers and their 
role or title. 

b) Those making recordings must not edit the 
recording in a way that could lead to 
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the 
proceedings or comments made by 
attendees.  In particular there should be no 
internal editing of published extracts; 
recordings may start at any point and end at 
any point but the material between those 
points must be complete. 

 

 



SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS,HEALTH & ACTIVE LIFESTYLES) 

TUESDAY, 15TH MARCH, 2022 

PRESENT: Councillor A Marshall-Katung in the Chair 

Councillors C Anderson, L Cunningham, 
J Dowson, J Gibson, N Harrington, C Hart-
Brooke, M Iqbal, W Kidger, G Latty and 
E Taylor 

Co-opted Member present – Dr J Beal 

52 Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents  

There were no appeals. 

53 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public 

There were no exempt items. 

54 Late Items  

No formal late items of business were added to the agenda, however, 
supplementary information in respect of item 9 “Access to Local NHS Dental 
Services – Working Group Summary” had been despatched to Members prior 
to the meeting and published to the Council’s website. (Minute no.59 refers) 

55 Declaration of Interests  

No declarations of interests were made at the meeting. 

56 Minutes of previous meetings  

RESOLVED – 

(a) That the minutes of the meeting held on 11th January 2022 be approved as
an accurate record.

(b) That the note of the consultative meeting held on 8th February 2022 be
noted.

57 Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board - Progress Report 

The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report which introduced a 
progress report provided to the Scrutiny Board by the Leeds Safeguarding 
Adults Board (LSAB).  The progress report included reference to the LSAB 

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday 21st June 2022 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday 21st June 2022  

Annual Report for 2020/2021 and highlighted progress made against its 
Strategic Plan for 2021/22, as well as sharing some early thinking about its 
ambitions for 2022/23. 

The following were in attendance for this item: 

 Cllr Fiona Venner, Executive Member for Adult and Children’s Social Care
and Health Partnerships

 Richard Jones CBE, Independent Chair of Leeds Safeguarding Adults
Board

 Cath Roff, Director of Adults and Health

 Victoria Eaton, Director of Public Health

 Shona McFarlane, Deputy Director Social Work and Social Care Service

The Chair particularly welcomed the attendance of the Independent Chair of 
the LSAB, Richard Jones CBE.  In introducing this item, the Chair 
acknowledged the significance of the wording set out as part of the foreword 
to the LSAB 2020/21 Annual Report and therefore invited the LSAB Chair to 
relay this to the Board prior to presenting the broader progress report. 

In introducing the LSAB progress report, the LSAB Chair highlighted the 
following: 

 There had been an increased rate of safeguarding referrals made during
2020/21, with 10,917 referrals made (an increase of 12% from 2019/20).

 When a referral is received by Leeds City Council: Adults & Health, a
decision is then made whether to undertake a safeguarding enquiry.  In
2020/21, there were 3286 safeguarding enquiries commenced, which
amounts to 30% of all referrals.

 Such safeguarding enquiries involved one or more of a range of different
types of concerns, with the highest proportion involving concerns around
neglect and acts of omission (32%); physical abuse (25%) and financial or
material abuse (13%).

 During 2020/21, the LSAB sought to reach out across diverse communities
in Leeds, to promote awareness of safeguarding and the work of the
Board.  This continues to remain a priority.

 The LSAB is promoting positive images of safeguarding, of the support
and help that is available, and the difference it can make to people's lives.
These messages are based on citizen-led consultation about what good
practice looks like and feels like. This also reflects the Board's commitment
to becoming increasingly citizen-led.

 The LSAB worked with the city’s Community Safety Partnership, Safer
Leeds in undertaking a thematic review, conducted under Section 44 (5) of
the Care Act 2014, using the LSAB’s powers to conduct a discretionary
review, considering the experience of adults who died while living street-
based lives in Leeds.

 The LSAB also published two mandatory Safeguarding Adults Reviews in
2020 concerning Mr and Mrs A and Mr B. The joint action plan that was
developed as a result of these two reviews has been a significant focus of

Page 8



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday 21st June 2022  

the Board’s work in 2020-21 and has enabled the Board to work towards 
the development of a robust approach to supporting those citizens living in 
circumstances of harmful self-neglect. 

 It was acknowledged that the LSAB has close working relationships with a
range of organisations and networks that enable the Board to work in
partnership towards making Leeds a Safe Place for Everyone. Tributes
were made to the frontline staff, practitioners and organisations for their
extraordinary commitment to support and safeguard people from across
communities, particularly during such a difficult period.

The following areas were also discussed during the Board’s consideration of 
the LSAB progress report:  

 The continual rise in safeguarding referrals and areas of particular
concern, such as self-neglect linked to financial hardship.

 The importance of monitoring practice and activity within care homes,
particularly during periods of visiting restrictions linked to infection control
and prevention measures.

 The importance of collaborative working and maximising resources across
key services and partners, with particular emphasis around information
sharing and ‘Professional Curiosity’.

 The work being undertaken with communities and partners to ensure
people know how to seek help and have the confidence to do so.

 Establishing appropriate success measures while acknowledging that
safeguarding enquiries can take different forms so as to respond
effectively to the nature of the risk, the specific circumstances and the
person’s desired outcomes.

The Chair thanked everyone for their contributions and acknowledged the 
continued hard work and commitment of the Leeds Safeguarding Adults 
Board.  

RESOLVED – That the contents of the report and discussions be noted. 

58 Better Lives Strategy 2022 to 2027 Update Report 

The report of the Director of Adults and Health presented an update on the 
development of a new Better Lives Strategy, which is the Council’s strategy 
for people with care and support needs. Linked to this, the Scrutiny Board was 
invited to review and comment on the draft proposed strategy prior to it being 
approved by the Executive Board in April 2022. 

The following were in attendance for this item: 

 Cllr Fiona Venner, Executive Member for Adult and Children’s Social Care
and Health Partnerships

 Cath Roff, Director of Adults and Health

 Victoria Eaton, Director of Public Health

Page 9



 Shona McFarlane, Deputy Director Social Work and Social Care Service

 Carmel Langstaff, Chief Officer Transformation and Innovation

The Executive Member for Adult and Children’s Social Care and Health 
Partnerships gave a brief introduction, which included an overview of the 
engagement work undertaken to inform the new strategy and also the 
associated governance and performance monitoring arrangements linked to 
the Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF) and the role of the 
Better Lives Board. 

The Chief Officer for Transformation and Innovation also provided further 
detail surrounding the engagement and consultation work undertaken to help 
understand what matters most to people, which had consequently led to the 
identified 6 priority areas set out within the new strategy. 

In consideration of the report and the draft strategy, the following areas were 
raised by the Board: 

 Reflecting the ambition for Leeds to become a Marmot City – having
recently given its support to the proposal for Leeds to become a Marmot
City, the Board was pleased to note that one of the six identified priorities
set out within the new Better Lives Strategy focuses on ‘Tackling Poverty
and Inequality’.  The Board was also assured that, moving forward,
associated links between the new strategy and the Marmot City ambition
would be strengthened through the connected leadership of the Health
and Wellbeing Board and the Better Lives Board.

 Using digital tools and technology – the Board discussed the identified
priority to support people to use digital tools, technology, and services in
the right way for them. In doing so, Members emphasised the importance
of the new Strategy also recognising those individuals unable to utilise
digital tools due to dexterity limitations or other types of disability, for which
they would need alternative means to access support.  The Board also
acknowledged that there is ongoing digital technology innovation within the
health and care sector and was informed about the intention to develop a
separate digital strategy for Adult Social Care.

In conclusion, the Scrutiny Board collectively endorsed the new draft Better 
Lives Strategy 2022 – 2027.  

RESOLVED – 
a) That the contents of the report, along with Members comments, be noted.
b) To note that the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles)
collectively endorses the new draft Better Lives Strategy 2022-2027.

59 Access to local NHS dental services - working group summary 

The report of the Head of Democratic Services introduced the summary note 
of the main issues and proposed recommendations arising from the Scrutiny 
Board’s working group meeting on 25th February 2022 in relation to access to 
local NHS dental services.  

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday 21st June 2022 

Page 10



The summary note, which was referenced as Appendix 1 to the report, had 
been published and circulated separately to Board Members as part of a 
supplementary agenda pack. 

In introducing the report, the Scrutiny Board’s Principal Scrutiny Adviser gave 
an overview of the proposed recommendations set out within the working 
group summary note for the Board’s consideration and formal ratification. 

In endorsing the proposed recommendations, an additional recommendation 
was also proposed in relation to the Chair of the Adults, Health and Active 
Lifestyles Scrutiny Board writing to the national NHS England & NHS 
Improvement Team to also highlight local concerns raised that are associated 
with broader national issues within the dental sector in terms of workforce 
capacity and whether the existing NHS dental contract, which came into force 
in 2006, remains fit for purpose? 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the report and working group summary note be noted.
(b) That the proposed recommendations set out within the working group

summary note be approved.
(c) That an additional recommendation be added, as reflected above.

60 Work Schedule 

The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report that presented the work 
schedule for the remainder of the municipal year. 

The Principal Scrutiny Adviser explained that there were no further formal 
public meetings of the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board 
scheduled for this municipal year. However, the Board was reminded that 
there will be a remote consultative meeting taking place in April, which will be 
focused on the ongoing development of the new Integrated Care System. 

Members were also advised that a date for the Board’s Active Leeds visit is to 
be confirmed, with the intention to try and hold this before the end of the 
municipal year. 

In conclusion, the Chair highlighted to Members that the Scrutiny Board’s 
Principal Scrutiny Adviser, Angela Brogden, will not be continuing to support 
the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board in the new municipal 
year but will be remaining within the Scrutiny Team.  The Chair therefore took 
the opportunity to formally thank Angela for her support to the Scrutiny Board 
over the last two years.  

RESOLVED – That the work schedule for the remainder of the 2021/22 
municipal year be noted. 

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday 21st June 2022 

Page 11



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Tuesday 21st June 2022  

61 Date and Time of Next Meeting 

RESOLVED – To note that the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny 
Board will be holding a remote consultative meeting on Tuesday, 26th April 
2022 at 11.30 am (with a pre-meeting at 11.15 am) 

Page 12



SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES) - 
REMOTE CONSULTATIVE MEETING 

 
TUESDAY, 26TH APRIL, 2022 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor A Marshall-Katung in the Chair 

 Councillors C Anderson, J Dowson, 
J Gibson, N Harrington, M Iqbal, G Latty 
and E Taylor 

 
 
 
Co-opted Member present – Dr J Beal 
 
 

24 Declaration of Interests  
 

There were no declarations of interests. 
 

25 Update on the development of the local Integrated Care System  
 

The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report to provide an update on 
the development of the local Integrated Care System. 
 
The Chair highlighted that since July last year, the Adults, Health and Active 
Lifestyles Scrutiny Board has continued to monitor the ongoing development 
of the new local Integrated Care System.  Board Members were reminded that 
back in November, the West Yorkshire Health and Care Partnership had 
published the draft constitution of the West Yorkshire Integrated Care Board 
for consultation and that the Scrutiny Board had used its January meeting to 
consider and provide feedback on the draft constitution.   
 
The Chair explained that the main purpose of the meeting was to provide a 
further update to the Board, including details of changes made to the West 
Yorkshire ICB constitution in light of the broader consultation feedback.  
Appended to the report was a briefing note by the Leeds NHS Clinical 
Commissioning Group setting out the latest position regarding the draft ICB 
Constitution and Leeds Place Based Governance arrangements. 
 
The following were in attendance: 
 

 Cllr Fiona Venner - Executive Member for Adult and Children’s Social Care 

and Health Partnerships 

 Cllr Salma Arif, Executive Member for Public Health and Active Lifestyles 

 Cath Roff - Director of Adults and Health 

 Victoria Eaton - Director of Public Health 

 Tim Ryley - Chief Executive of NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group 

Page 13



 Arfan Hussain, Corporate Governance Manager, Leeds Clinical 

Commissioning Group 

 
The Chief Executive of NHS Leeds CCG gave a brief introduction and 
particularly highlighted the following: 
 
 The expectation surrounding the Health and Care Bill receiving Royal 

Assent in the coming days, thereby placing Integrated Care Systems (ICS) 

onto a statutory footing from 1 July 2022, when Integrated Care Boards 

will replace CCGs. 

 That the latest iteration of the draft West Yorkshire ICB Constitution, as 

presented within the meeting agenda pack, would be put forward to NHS 

England for review and comment prior to the final version being approved. 

 The main changes to the Constitution document following the consultation 

process, with particular reference made to strengthening the focus on 

people and workforce issues by adding a Director of People to the Board 

and establishing an ICB People Committee. 

 The importance of the governance handbook which continues to be in 

development and is expected to be considered by the West Yorkshire 

Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee as well as being shared 

more widely with a view to being finalised by July. 

 Details of the revised proposed membership of the West Yorkshire ICB, 

which will now include a total of 24 representatives, along with an updated 

position on the recruitment process. 

 The role of the Integrated Care Partnership and wider decision-making 

structures as part of the ICS. 

 The current position surrounding the Leeds Place Based arrangements, 

including confirmation of the appointment of the two Independent 

Members to the Leeds Committee of the ICB. It was noted that the 

recruitment of the Independent Chair remained ongoing. 

 
The Executive Member for Adult and Children’s Social Care and Health 
Partnerships also gave a brief introduction and particularly emphasised the 
important relationship between the Leeds Committee of the ICB and the 
Health and Wellbeing Board moving forward.  Reference was also made to 
the allyship approach being adopted by the Health and Wellbeing Board in 
terms of senior health and social care leaders working closely with Third 
Sector organisations. 
 
Members discussions included: 
 
 Future commissioning arrangements for dental services and the 

importance of undertaking more detailed work to understand how best to 

take this forward as the responsibility moves from NHS England to local 

Integrated Care Systems from April 2023. 

 The importance of general practice and the commitment towards ensuring 

that GPs continue to have a voice within local health and care systems. 

Page 14



 An acknowledgement of the positive collaborative relationships already 

embedded across the local health and care system. 

 
In conclusion, the Chair thanked everyone for their contributions and 
highlighted that the successor Scrutiny Board would be receiving an updated 
position in June.  
 
RECOMMENDED -  

(a) That the contents of the report, along with Members comments, be 
noted. 

(b) That a further update is provided to the successor Scrutiny Board in 
June. 

 
26 Work Schedule  
 

The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report that presented the work  
schedule for the remainder of the municipal year (set out in Appendix 1), as 
well as a draft work schedule of the successor Scrutiny Board for the 2022/23 
municipal year (set out in Appendix 3). 
 
The Principal Scrutiny Adviser introduced the report and highlighted the 
following: 
 
 Forthcoming visit to Active Leeds facilities – the date of the visit had been 

confirmed as Monday 9th May 2022.  Any Board Members who had not 
already confirmed their availability but wished to take part in the visit were 
advised to contact the Principal Scrutiny Adviser as soon as possible.   

 
 Maternal health provision – within the report, reference had been made to 

the recent publication of the final report of the independent review (known 
as the Ockenden Review) of maternity services at the Shrewsbury and 
Telford Hospital NHS Trust.  It was noted that as part of the draft work 
schedule for the 2022/23 municipal year, a suggestion had been put 
forward by the Chair for the successor Scrutiny Board to utilise its July 
meeting to receive a report on maternal health provision in Leeds.  This 
would include an update on the Leeds Maternity Strategy work; the current 
position of the Leeds Fertility IVF service; the implications of the Ockenden 
Review findings and how any recommendations are being taken forward 
across the local maternity system in Leeds.  

 

In conclusion, the Chair acknowledged that this was the Scrutiny Board’s final 
meeting of the municipal year and therefore thanked all Board Members and 
the officers for their contributions and support throughout the year. 
 
The Chair also took the opportunity to pay tribute to Councillor Graham Latty 
who would be retiring from the Council in May.  In doing so, the Chair 
reflected on Councillor Latty’s 22 years’ service as a local councillor and 
particularly as a long-standing member of the Adults, Health and Active 
Lifestyles Scrutiny Board.  On behalf of the Scrutiny Board, the Chair thanked 

Page 15



Councillor Latty for his efforts and contribution to the Board’s work, including 
that of the West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
and wished him a long and happy retirement. 
 
RECOMMENDED – 

a) That the current work schedule, as presented at Appendix 1, be noted.  
b) That the visit to Active Leeds facilities is scheduled for Monday 9th May 

2022.   
c) That the draft work schedule for the 2022/23 municipal year, as 

presented at Appendix 3, be noted. 
 
 
 

Page 16



 
 

 

 

What is this report about?  
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

 The Council’s Scrutiny arrangements are one of the key parts of the Council’s governance 
arrangements.  For a number of years, the Council’s Constitution has made provision for the 
appointment of co-opted members to individual Scrutiny Boards.  

 For those Scrutiny Boards where co-opted members have previously been appointed, such 

arrangements have tended to be reviewed on an annual basis, usually at the beginning of a 

new municipal year.  

 

 This report provides guidance to the Scrutiny Board when seeking to appoint co-opted 

members. There are also some legislative arrangements in place for the appointment of 

specific co-opted members. Such cases are set out in the Council’s Constitution and are 

also summarised within this report.   

 

Recommendations 

In line with the options available and information outlined in this report, Members are asked to 

consider and discuss the appointment of non-voting co-opted members to the Adults, Health and 

Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Co-opted Members 

Date: 21 June 2022 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Steven Courtney 

Tel: 0113 3788666 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



Why is the proposal being put forward?  
1. In the majority of cases the appointment of co-opted members is optional and is 

determined by the relevant Scrutiny Board.  The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules within 
the Council’s Constitution outlines the options available to Scrutiny Boards in relation to 
appointing co-opted members.   

 
2. In general terms, Scrutiny Boards can appoint: 

 

 Up to five non-voting co-opted members for a term of office that does not go beyond 
the next Annual Meeting of Council ; and/or, 

 

 Up to two non-voting co-opted members for a term of office that relates to the duration 
of a particular and specific scrutiny inquiry. 

 
3. To assist the Scrutiny Board, this report sets out a number of key issues to consider when 

seeking to appoint a co-opted member. 
 

 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

4. It is widely recognised that in some circumstances, co-opted members can significantly aid 

the work of Scrutiny Boards.   

 
5. The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules make it clear that co-option would normally only be 

appropriate where the co-opted member has some specialist skill or knowledge, which 
would be of assistance to the Scrutiny Board.   

 
6. In considering the appointment of co-opted members, Scrutiny Boards should be satisfied 

that a co-opted member can use their specialist skill or knowledge to add value to the work 
of the Scrutiny Board.  However, co-opted members should not be seen as a replacement 
to professional advice from officers.  

 
7. Co-opted members should be considered as representatives of wider groups of people.  

However, when seeking external input into the Scrutiny Board’s work, consideration should 
always be given to other alternative approaches, such as the role of expert witnesses or 
use of external research studies, to help achieve a balanced evidence base.  

 

8. When considering the appointment of a co-opted member for a term of office, Scrutiny 
Boards should be mindful of any potential conflicts of interest that may arise during the 
course of the year in view of the Scrutiny Boards’ wide-ranging terms of reference.  To 
help overcome this, Scrutiny Boards may wish to focus on the provision available to 
appoint up to two non-voting co-opted members for a term of office that relates to the 
duration of a particular and specific scrutiny inquiry.  

 

9. The process for appointing co-opted members should be open, effective and carried out in 
a manner which seeks to strengthen the work of the Scrutiny Board.  In doing so, due 
regard should also be given to any potential equality issues in line with the Council’s 
Equality and Diversity Scheme. 
 
 
 

Wards affected: All 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☐No 

 

Page 18



Non-voting co-opted members and health scrutiny 
 

10. Historically, Scrutiny Boards responsible for considering health and social care matters 
have generally operated with standing non-voting co-opted members.  Predominantly, 
such appointments have tended to include those groups / bodies representing the voice of 
patients / service users.   

 
11. Following the formal establishment of HealthWatch Leeds and after a period of 

consolidation, in 2014/15 the Scrutiny Board appointed a standing non-voting co-opted 
member representative from HealthWatch Leeds.  The overarching aim of this approach 
being to help provide an opportunity for the views and intelligence gathered from service 
users and the wider public to be routinely brought to the attention of the Scrutiny Board in 
an appropriate and timely manner.  It also provides an opportunity for work areas/ priorities 
to be shared and to help avoid any unnecessary duplication.  

 
12. The general consensus from Scrutiny Board members and HealthWatch Leeds has been 

that the arrangements have worked well and there is a positive working relationship 
between both bodies. 

 
13. Initial discussions have confirmed that HealthWatch Leeds would welcome similar 

arrangements for the current municipal year 2022/23 and have again identified the Chair of 
HealthWatch Leeds (Dr John Beal) as its nominated representative. 

 
14. It should be noted this approach would not preclude the appointment of any further co-

opted members, within the overall provision provided by the Council’s Constitution 
(described above in paragraph 2). 

 
What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

15. The guidance surrounding co-opted members was previously discussed by the Scrutiny 

Chairs when it was agreed that individual Scrutiny Boards would consider the appointment 

of co-optees on an individual basis. 

 

What are the resource implications? 

16. Where applicable, any incidental expenses paid to co-optees will be met within existing 

resources. 

 

What are the legal implications?  

17. Where additional members are co-opted onto a Scrutiny Board, such members  must 

comply with the provisions set out in the Member’s Code of Conduct as  detailed within 

the Council’s Constitution. 

 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 

18. When Scrutiny Boards are considering the appointment of a standing co-opted member for 

a term of office, they should be mindful of any potential conflicts of interest that may arise 

during the course of the year in view of the Scrutiny Boards’ wide-ranging terms of 

reference.   

 

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars? 

☒ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☒ Climate Emergency 

Page 19



 

19. The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward looking 

Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council objectives and it is widely recognised 

that co-opted members can significantly aid the work of Scrutiny Boards.   
  

  

Appendices 

20. None. 

 

Background papers 

21. None. 

Page 20



 
 

 

 

What is this report about?  
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

 

 This report presents the terms of reference for the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active 
Lifestyles). 

 While general Terms of Reference is applied to all Scrutiny Boards, the variations in the 
Scrutiny Boards’ remits, together with their special responsibilities, are captured within 
Article 6 of the constitution. 

 

 The report also highlights the likely impact of the Health and Care Act 2022 on aspects of 
the Council’s constitution, including potential implications for the Scrutiny Board’s future 
terms of reference. 
 

 Further information is presented within this report to show how each of the five individual 
Scrutiny Boards align to 2022/23 Officer Delegated Functions and Executive Portfolios. 
 

 In line with the Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules, the Scrutiny Boards will also continue to 
ensure through service review that equality and diversity/cohesion and integration issues are 
considered in decision making and policy formulation. 
 

Recommendations 

Members are requested to note the Scrutiny Board’s terms of reference and the likely future impact 

of the Health and Care Act 2022, which will be reported to the Board in due course.   

 

 
 

 

 

 

Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference 

Date: 21 June 2022 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Steven Courtney 

Tel: 0113 3788666 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 

 

Why is the proposal being put forward?  
1. This report presents the terms of reference for the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and 

Active Lifestyles). 
 
2. The general Terms of Reference applied to all Scrutiny Boards is set out in Appendix 1. 

 

3. The variations in the Scrutiny Boards’ remits, together with their special responsibilities, 
are captured within Article 6 of the constitution (see Appendix 2). 

 

4. Further detail has been provided to illustrate how the five individual Scrutiny Boards align 

to 2022/23 Officer Delegated Functions and Executive Portfolios (see Appendix 3).  

 

Health and Care Act 2022 

 

5. During the course of the previous municipal year, the Scrutiny Board maintained an 

overview of the development, progress and implications of the Health and Care Bill 2021-

22 – predominantly in the context of the health and social care system across West 

Yorkshire and Leeds, particularly with regard to the development of the local Integrated 

Care System (ICS).   The previous Scrutiny Board received and considered the latest 

position presented by NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group at its consultative 

committee meeting on 26 April 2022.  

 

6. The Bill received Royal Ascent on 28 April 2022, becoming the Health and Care Act 2022 

(the Act).  This confirmed the formal establishment of Integrated Care Boards and the 

dissolving of Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) from 1 July 2022.  ICBs will take on 

the commissioning responsibilities of CCGs and lead the integration of health and care 

services across their area.  Details of the specific proposals for West Yorkshire and Leeds 

were set out in more detail in the briefing note presented to the Board on 26 April 2022.  

 

7. Partnership working and the integration of health and care services has been a key feature 

of Leeds’ health and care landscape for a number of years, however the Act introduces a 

formal duty for ICBs to promote the integration of health services where this would improve 

quality; and reduce inequalities of access and outcomes for individuals.   

 

8. Dissolving existing CCGs is also a feature of the Act and has some specific implications for 

the Council and its Constitution, for example around the membership of the Health and 

Wellbeing Board.  Such implications and any necessary revised arrangements are 

currently being worked through and any necessary constitutional amendments will be 

considered and progressed through the appropriate decision-making processes within the 

Council.   

 

New Secretary of State intervention powers 

 

9. The Health and Care Act 2022 also introduces new Secretary of State intervention powers 

associated with substantial service reconfigurations across the NHS.  Details of those 

powers and associated arrangements are available at the following link Health and Care 

Page 22

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/31/schedule/6/enacted


Act 2022 (legislation.gov.uk) and includes the requirement for guidance to be provided on 

how the Secretary of State proposes to exercise these specific functions.   

 

10. It is expected that the new Secretary of State intervention powers will supersede the local 

authority’s powers (currently delegated to the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active 

Lifestyles) to make formal referrals to the Secretary of State on matters associated with 

service reconfigurations that the authority is being consulted on.   However, it is also 

expected that the new Secretary of State intervention powers will not be introduced until 

April 2023, therefore the existing power of referral will remain in place during this 

transitional period.  Such arrangements may require transitional government guidance.   

 

11. Council officers will continue to maintain oversight of the ongoing developments 

specifically related to the new Secretary of State intervention powers and associated 

arrangements, providing future updates to the Scrutiny Board as and when further details 

become available.   

 

12. Any specific requirements to amend the Council’s Constitution arising from the new 

Secretary of State intervention powers will be considered and progressed through the 

appropriate decision-making processes within the Council.   

 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

13. This report seeks to provide clarity surrounding the terms of reference for the Scrutiny 
Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) and highlight ongoing consideration of the 
Health and Care Act 2022, and specific implications for the Council and its Constitution. 
 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

14. The Terms of Reference were formally considered and approved by Council at the Annual 

General Meeting on 26 May 2022. 

 

What are the resource implications? 

15. This report has no specific resource implications. 

 

What are the legal implications?  

16. This report has no specific legal implications. 

 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 

17. This report has no risk management implications. 

  

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars? 

☒ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☒ Climate Emergency 

 

18. The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards will continue to promote a strategic and 

outward looking Scrutiny function that focuses on the Best City Ambition. 
   

Wards affected: All 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☐No 

 

Page 23

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/31/schedule/6/enacted


Appendices 

19. Appendix 1 - General Terms of Reference applied to all Scrutiny Boards. 

20. Appendix 2 - Article 6 of the constitution showing the variations in the Scrutiny Boards’ 

remits, together with their special responsibilities.  

21. Appendix 3 – Details of how individual Scrutiny Boards align to 2022/23 Officer Delegated 

Functions and Executive Portfolios. 

Background papers 

22. None. 

Page 24



Council Committees’ Terms of Reference 

Scrutiny Board 

The Scrutiny Board is authorised to discharge the following overview and scrutiny 
functions1: 

1. to review or scrutinise decisions made or other action taken in connection with
any council or executive function or any matter which affects the authority’s
area or the inhabitants of that area;2

2. to receive and consider requests for Scrutiny from any source;

3. to review or scrutinise the performance of such Trust / Partnership Boards as
fall within its remit;

4. to act as the appropriate Scrutiny Board in relation to the Executive’s initial
proposals for a relevant plan or strategy within the Budget and Policy
Framework which falls within its remit;3

5. to review or scrutinise executive decisions that have been Called In;

6. to exercise such special functions as are allocated in Annex 3 to Article 6 –
Scrutiny Boards; and

7. to make such reports and recommendations as it considers appropriate and to
receive and monitor formal responses to any reports or recommendations
made.

1 In relation to functions set out in Annex 2 to Article 6 – Scrutiny Boards, whether or not those 
functions are concurrently delegated to any other committee or officer. 
2 Including matters pertaining to outside bodies and partnerships to which the authority has made 
appointments. 
3 In accordance with Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules. 

Appendix 1

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Article 6 - Scrutiny Boards 

ARTICLE 6 – SCRUTINY BOARDS 

6.1 ROLE 

The Council will appoint Scrutiny Boards as set out in Annex 2 to this Article to 
exercise functions conferred by section 9F of the Local Government Act 2000 and in 
accordance with the National Health Service Act 2006, in accordance with their terms 
of reference1.  

6.2 VISION FOR SCRUTINY 

The Council has adopted a Vision for Scrutiny, which is attached at Annex 1. 

6.3 ROLE OF SCRUTINY 

Policy development and review 

Within their Terms of Reference all Scrutiny Boards may: 

 assist the Council and the Executive in the development of the Budget and Policy
Framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues;

 conduct research, community and other consultation in the analysis of policy
issues and possible options;

 consider and implement mechanisms to encourage and enhance community
participation in the development of policy options;

 question Members of the Executive and Directors about their views on issues
and proposals affecting the area; and

 liaise with other external organisations operating in the area, whether national,
regional or local, to ensure that the interests of local people are enhanced by
collaborative working.

Scrutiny 

Within their terms of reference all Scrutiny Boards may: 

 make recommendations to the Executive and/or appropriate committees and/or
Council arising from the outcome of the scrutiny process;

 review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the area and
invite reports from them by requesting them to address the Scrutiny Board and
local people about their activities and performance; and

 question and gather evidence.

1 As set out at Part 3 Section 2A of the Constitution 

Appendix 2

Page 27



Article 6 - Scrutiny Boards 

6.4 SCRUTINY OFFICER 

The Council has designated the post of Head of Democratic Services, as Scrutiny 
Officer2. 

The functions of the Scrutiny Officer are: 
(a) to promote the role of the Scrutiny Boards;
(b) to provide support to the Scrutiny Boards and their members3;
(c) to provide support and guidance to Members (including Executive Members),
and officers4, in relation to the Scrutiny Boards’ functions;
(d) to report to Council5 annually about how the authority has carried out its
overview and scrutiny functions.

6.5 PROCEEDINGS 

Scrutiny Boards will conduct their proceedings in accordance with the Scrutiny 
Board Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

6.6 MEMBERSHIP 

Members shall be appointed in accordance with the Scrutiny Board Procedure 
Rules. 

Scrutiny Boards shall co-opt members in accordance with the Scrutiny Board 
Procedure Rules. 

6.7 SCRUTINY BOARD CHAIRS 

The Chair of each of the Scrutiny Boards shall be appointed in accordance with the 
Council Procedure Rules. 

Group spokespersons shall not be appointed to Chair a Scrutiny Board which 
corresponds to the same portfolio.6 

 The Scrutiny Board with responsibility for health shall nominate Members to any
joint overview and scrutiny committee appointed by the authority.7

2 Under Section 9FB Local Government Act 2000.   
3 The Scrutiny Officer shall exercise overall responsibility for the finances made available to Scrutiny Boards. 
4 The Scrutiny Officer shall exercise overall responsibility for the work programme of the officers employed to 
support the work of the Scrutiny Boards. 
5 After consultation with the relevant Scrutiny Chairs 
6 This does not apply to those groups who have less than 10% of the membership of the Council 
7 such nominations to reflect the political balance of the Board. 

Page 28



Article 6 - Scrutiny Boards 

ANNEX 1 
Vision for Scrutiny at Leeds 

“To promote democratic engagement through the provision of an influential 
scrutiny function which is held in high regard by its many stakeholders and  
which achieves measurable service improvements which add value for the 
people of Leeds through a member led process of examination and review" 

To achieve this Scrutiny will follow the nationally agreed ‘Four Principles of Good Scrutiny’; 

1. Provide ‘critical friend’ challenge to decision makers, through holding them to
account for decisions made, engaging in policy review and policy development;

2. Promote Scrutiny as a means by which the voice and concerns of the public can be
heard;

3. Ensure Scrutiny is carried out by ‘independent minded’  Board members;

4. Improve public services by ensuring reviews of policy and service performance are
focused.

To succeed Council recognises that the following conditions need to be present; 

 Parity of esteem between the Executive and Scrutiny

 Co-operation with statutory partners

 Member leadership and engagement

 Genuine non-partisan working

 Evidence based conclusions and recommendations

 Effective dedicated officer support

 Supportive Directors and senior officer culture

Council agrees that it is incumbent upon Scrutiny Boards to recognise that 
resources to support the Scrutiny function are, (like all other Council functions), 
under considerable pressure and that requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always 
be met.  Therefore Council agrees that constructive consultation should take place 
between the Executive and Scrutiny about the availability of resources prior to any 
work being undertaken.   
Consequently, when establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should 

 Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive
Member about available resources

 Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already
having oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue (e.g. Plans Panel,
Housing Advisory Board, established member working groups, other Scrutiny
Boards)

 Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add
value and can be delivered within an agreed time frame.

Page 29



Article 6 - Scrutiny Boards 

ANNEX 2 

Scrutiny Board External oversight Officer oversight (by reference to the Officer Delegation Scheme) 

Council Functions Executive Functions 

Strategy and 
Resources 

Chief Executive 
Director of Resources  
Chief Officer (Financial Services) 
City Solicitor 
Director of Communities, Housing and 

Environment 

Chief Executive (1-3)  
Director of Resources (1-7) 
City Solicitor (1-3) 
Chief Officer (Financial Services)(1-5) 
Director of Communities, Housing and Environment (2, 15 – 17) 
Director of City Development (8, 11) 

Infrastructure, 
Investment and 
Inclusive Growth 

Risk management authorities 
(defined by S6 Flood and 
Water Management Act 2010) 

Director of City Development 
Chief Planning Officer 

Chief Executive (4) 
Director of City Development (1, 3-5a&b, 6 & 7, 9-10, 14) 
Chief Planning Officer (1-4) 
Director of Children and Families (2(e)) 

Environment, 
Housing and 
Communities 

Responsible authorities 
(defined by S5 Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998) 

None Director of Communities, Housing and Environment (1, 3-14, 
18-20) 
Director of Resources (8-12) 
Director of City Development ( 2) 

Children and Families Director of Children and Families Director of Children and Families (1, 2(a-d & f), 3) 
Programme Director Strengthening Families, Protecting 
Children (1 – 3) 

Adults, Health and 
Active Lifestyles 

Relevant NHS bodies or health 
service providers including:-
NHS England 
NHS Leeds Clinical 
Commissioning Group 
Local NHS Trusts and other 
NHS service providers 
Healthwatch Leeds 

None Director of Adults and Health (1 - 8) 
Director of Public Health (1-6) 
Director of City Development (12&13) 

P
age 30



Article 6 - Scrutiny Boards 

ANNEX 3 

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF SCRUTINY BOARDS 

1 – Flood risk Management 

The Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth) is allocated 
special responsibility for flood risk management namely:- 

 To review and scrutinise the exercise by risk management authorities8 of flood risk
management functions9 which may affect the Leeds City Council area10.

2 – Crime and Disorder 

The Scrutiny Board (Environment, Housing and Communities) is allocated special 
responsibility for crime and disorder namely:- 

 To exercise the functions of a crime and disorder committee11, including the
following:

a) To review or scrutinise the exercise of crime and disorder functions12 by
responsible authorities13; and

b) To review or scrutinise any local crime or disorder matter14 raised by a
Member.

3 – Health 

The Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) is allocated special 
responsibility for health namely:- 

 to review and scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation
of the health service in its area and to make reports and recommendations on any
such matter it has reviewed or scrutinised;

 to comment on, make recommendations about, or report to the Secretary of State in
writing about such proposals as are referred to the authority by a relevant NHS
body or a relevant health service provider;

 to respond to consultation by any relevant NHS body or health service provider; and

8 As defined by Section 6 Flood and Water Management Act 2010 
9 As defined by Section 4 Flood and Water Management Act 2010 
10 In accordance with Section 9FH Local Government Act 2000 
11 In accordance with Section 19 Police and Justic Act 2006 
12 As defined by Section 6 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (formulating and implementing crime and disorder 
strategies) 
13 These are the authorities responsible for crime and disorder strategies set out in Section 5 Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998. 
14 Any matter concerning –  

a) crime and disorder (including in particular forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-social
behaviour or other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment); or

b) the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in that area

Page 31



Article 6 - Scrutiny Boards 

Matters which fall within the terms of reference of this Scrutiny Board include: 

 arrangements made by local NHS bodies to secure hospital and community
health services to the inhabitants of the authority’s area and the quality and
safety of such services;

 the provision of family health services, personal medical services, personal
dental services, pharmacy and NHS ophthalmic services;

 arrangements made by the authority for public health, health promotion, health
improvement and for addressing health inequalities;

 the planning of health services by NHS bodies, including plans made in co-
operation with local authority’s Health and Wellbeing Board for improving both
the health of the local population and the provision of health care to that
population;

 any matter referred by Healthwatch Leeds; and

 the arrangements made by relevant NHS bodies and health service providers for
consulting and involving patients and the public.

The Scrutiny Board may make recommendations to the authority, relevant NHS bodies, or 
relevant health service providers arising from the scrutiny process. 

4– Residual Responsibility 

The Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) is allocated residual responsibility for 
any function not otherwise allocated to a Scrutiny Board. 

Page 32



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

 

Scrutiny Board: Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles 
Functions by reference to the Officer Delegation Scheme Executive Board Portfolio  

Director of Adults & Health 
1. Promotion of well-being 
2. Information, advice and advocacy 
3. Prevention and Recovery 
4. Safeguarding 
5. Assessment and eligibility 
6. Diverse and high-quality services 
7. Charging and financial assessment 
 

ADULT AND CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH 
PARTNERSHIPS 
Cllr F Venner 

Director of City Development 
13. Active Travel (relating to the promotion and championing of active travel – with 
responsibilities for infrastructure remaining within the highways and transport and 
planning functions) 
 

INFRASTRUCTURE & CLIMATE 
Cllr Hayden 

Director of City Development 
12. Sport and Active Leeds 
 
Director of Adults & Health 
8. Public Health 
 
Director of Public Health 
1. Health Improvement Function  
2. Health Protection Functions 
3. Functions relating to the commissioning of Public Health 
4. Provision of statutory and mandated functions 
5. Functions of Responsible Authority 
6. Production and Publication of the annual report on the health of the local 
population.  

PUBLIC HEALTH & ACTIVE LIFESTYLES 
Cllr Arif 

P
age 33



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

 

Scrutiny Board: Children and Families  
Functions by reference to the Officer Delegation Scheme Executive Board Portfolio  

Director of Children and Families 
 
1. Children’s Social Work including:- 

a) Preventative Services;  
b) Safeguarding and Child Protection;  
c) Assessment and Care Management;  
d) Residential and Respite Care;  
e) Support For Carers; and  
f) Youth Offending Services.  

 
2. Learning including:- 

a) Early Years Provision; and 
f) Development of active citizens. 

 
3. Child friendly City including:- 

a) Child Poverty; and 
b) Voice and Influence 
c) Influencing Climate Change And Sustainability 

  
Functions delegated to the Director of Children & Families as Lead Officer of One 
Adoption Agency for West Yorkshire 
1. Adoption Services 

 

ADULT AND CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH 
PARTNERSHIPS 
Cllr F Venner 

Director of Children & Families 
4. Youth Services 

COMMUNITIES 
Cllr Harland  

Director of Children & Families 
2b. Sustainable Access to Education 

ECONOMY, CULTURE & EDUCATION 
Cllr Pryor  

  

P
age 34



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

Scrutiny Board: Environment, Housing and Communities 
Functions by reference to the Officer Delegation Scheme Executive Board Portfolio  

Director of Communities, Housing & Environment 
1.  Integrated locality working and its associated city-wide functions 
3. The Council’s community hubs 
4. Library and Information Service 
18. Welfare and benefits services 
 

COMMUNITIES 
Cllr Harland 

Director of Communities, Housing & Environment 
6. Public Health Protection and Control of Statutory Nuisance 
7. Environmental Health and Consumer Protection 
8. Environmental management 
9. Car parking 
10. Waste 
19. Landlord Functions (funded by the Housing Revenue Account) 
20. Other Housing Functions 

ENVIRONMENT & HOUSING 
Cllr Rafique 

Director of Resources 
10. Climate Change 
11. Sustainable Energy and Carbon Reduction 
12. Clean Air 

INFRASTRUCTURE & CLIMATE 
Cllr Hayden 

Director of Communities, Housing & Environment 
11. Cemeteries, Crematoria, Burial grounds and mortuaries 
12. Parks and Countryside 
13. Countryside management 
14.  Ecological sustainability  

PUBLIC HEALTH & ACTIVE LIFESTYLES 
Cllr Arif 

Director of Resources 
8. Civic Enterprise Leeds 
9. Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
 
 

RESOURCES 
Cllr Coupar  

P
age 35



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

Director of Communities, Housing & Environment 
5. Community Safety including: 
a) CCTV 
b) Reduction of crime and disorder 
c) Drugs and alcohol treatment and offender management 
d) Tackling antisocial behaviour 
e) Tackling domestic violence  
 
Director of City Development:  
3. Functions relating to the Council’s Register of Assets of Community Value 

  

P
age 36



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

Scrutiny Board: Infrastructure, Investment and Inclusive Growth 
Functions by reference to the Officer Delegation Scheme Executive Board Portfolio  

Chief Executive 
4a. City Region Functions 

LEADER’S PORTFOLIO 
Cllr Lewis 

Director of City Development 
1. Asset Management 

RESOURCES 
Cllr Coupar 

Director of City Development 
3. Inclusive Growth 
6. Sustainable Economic Development 
7. Employment and Skills 
 
Director of Children & Families 
2e. 14 – 16 Skills Development 

ECONOMY, CULTURE & EDUCATION 
Cllr Pryor  

Director of City Development 
4. Sustainable Development  
5. Sustainable Housing Growth  
9. Highways and Transportation  
10. Flood and water management  
14. Planning Services 
 
Chief Planning Officer 
1.  Development Plan functions 
2. Planning Policy and Guidance functions 
3. Neighbourhood Planning functions 
4a. Conservation Area functions 

INFRASTRUCTURE & CLIMATE 
Cllr Hayden 

  

P
age 37



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

Scrutiny Board: Strategy and Resources 

Functions by reference to the Officer Delegation Scheme Executive Board Portfolio  

Chief Executive 
1. Functions in relation to elections 
 
Director of resources 
1. Setting supporting and monitoring the Council’s policies and procedures [note 1e & 1g 
fall within the Leader’s Portfolio as detailed below] 
2. Digital and Information Services 
3. Customer Relations 
4. Corporate communication services 
6. The Council’s city-wide resilience planning and policy development services including 
co-ordination of the Best Council Plan  
7. Shared Services 
 
Chief Officer Financial Services  
2. Ensuring effective financial management and controls 
3. Setting, supporting and monitoring the Council’s policies and procedures for budgets 
4. Administering effective financial management and controls 
5. Corporate Governance 
 
City solicitor 
1. Legal Services 
2. Democratic Services including support to elected members in their responsibilities 
3. Standards and Conduct 
 
Director of Communities, Housing & Environment  
15. Registrars functions 
16. Licensing functions 
17. Land and property search functions 
 

RESOURCES 
Cllr Coupar 

P
age 38



Appendix 3: Scrutiny Board Alignment to Executive Functions 

Chief Executive 
2. Civic and Ceremonial functions 
3. Devolution and local freedoms 
 
Director of Resources 
1e. Joint Strategic Needs Analysis 
1g. risk and business continuity  
5. The Council’s corporate planning and policy development services, including co-

ordination of the Best Council Plan 
 
Chief Officer Financial Services 
1. Setting, supporting and monitoring the Council’s financial strategy. 

LEADER’S PORTFOLIO 
Cllr Lewis  

Director of Communities, Housing & Environment  
2. Equalities 

COMMUNITIES 
Cllr Harland 

Director of City Development 
8.  International and domestic inward economic investment 
11. Culture 

ECONOMY, CULTURE & EDUCATION 
Cllr Pryor  

 

 

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

What is this report about?  
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

 Local Authority Health Scrutiny was first introduced by the Health and Social Care Act 2001 
and is a fundamental way by which democratically elected local councillors are able to voice 
the views of their constituents, and hold relevant NHS bodies and relevant health service 
providers to account. 

 The Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) has been allocated special 
responsibility to fulfil the council’s statutory health scrutiny function and therefore has a 
specific remit / responsibility in relation to reviewing and scrutinising any matter relating to 
the planning, provision and operation of local health services. 

 NHS Commissioners and Service Providers have a duty to consult local authorities (through 
the health scrutiny function) where any proposal is under consideration for a substantial 
development of the health service or a substantial variation in the provision of such a service 
in the local authority area. 

 This report also sets out some of the specific health scrutiny implications arising from the 
Health and Care Act 2022 and likely to impact on the future work of the Scrutiny Board, 
presenting further information and guidance to assist the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and 
Active Lifestyles) in undertaking its specific health scrutiny role. 

Recommendations 

The Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) is recommended to: 

(a) Note the content of this report, alongside the associated appendices, information and 

guidance presented. 

(b) Re-establish the Health Service Developments Working Group as a forum that allows early 

engagement with the Scrutiny Board regarding proposed developments and/or changes to 

local health services, with the Terms of Reference as presented at Appendix 2. 

(c) Agree the Board’s representatives to sit on the West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC) for this municipal year (2022/23). 

(d) Note that the JHOSC arrangements may be subject to further review and amendments as a 

result of the local implementation of the Health and Care Act 2022. 

 

Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

Date: 21 June 2022 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Steven Courtney 

Tel: 0113 3788666 

Page 41

Agenda Item 9



 
 

Why is the proposal being put forward?  

1. The Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) has been assigned to fulfil the 
council’s statutory health scrutiny function and this report presents further information and 
guidance to assist the Board in undertaking this specific role. 
 

2. In June 2014, the Department of Health published its ‘Local Authority Health Scrutiny’ 
guidance to support local authorities and partners deliver effective health scrutiny.  A copy 
of this guidance is therefore appended to this report for Members’ information (see 
Appendix 1). 

 

3. In considering these details, and as highlighted elsewhere on the agenda, the Board’s 
attention is drawn to the Health and Care Act 2022 that introduces new Secretary of State 
intervention powers associated with substantial service reconfigurations across the NHS. 

 

4. Any specific requirements to amend the Council’s Constitution arising from the new 

Secretary of State intervention powers will be considered and progressed through the 

appropriate decision-making processes within the Council.   

 

Health Service Developments Working Group 

 
5. The Health and Social Care Act (2012) reinforced the duty of NHS Commissioners and 

Service Providers to make arrangements to involve and consult patients and the public in:  
 

 Planning service provision;  

 The development of proposals for changes; and,  

 Decisions about changes to the operation of services.  
  

6. In accordance with Part 4 of the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing 
Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013, the requirement to consult on service 
changes and/or developments also includes a duty to consult local authorities (through the 
health overview and scrutiny function) where any proposal is under consideration for:  

 

 a substantial development of the health service; or,  

 a substantial variation in the provision of such a service in the local authorities area. 
 

7. Such a duty does not apply to any proposals on which the responsible NHS body is 
satisfied that a decision has to be taken without allowing time for consultation because of a 
risk to safety or welfare of patients or staff.  However, the Regulations state that the 
authority must still be notified immediately of the decision taken and the reason why no 
consultation has taken place. 

 
8. The levels of service variation and/or development are not specifically defined in legislation 

and it is widely acknowledged the term ‘substantial variation or development of health 
services’ is subjective. Commissioners and providers are therefore advised to approach the 
local authority’s health scrutiny function when proposals are first being considered to 
discuss and reach a view on whether the change proposed is substantial, as well as 
determining appropriate next steps. 

 
9. To assist in this process, a Health Service Developments Working Group has previously 

been established to offer an environment that allows early engagement with the Scrutiny 
Board regarding proposed developments and/or changes to local health services. 

 

Page 42



Health and Care Act 2022 
 

10. As outlined elsewhere on the agenda, the Board’s attention is also drawn to the likely 
impact of the Health and Care Act 2022 on the Council’s future Health Scrutiny functions – 
including the introduction of new Secretary of State intervention powers associated with 
substantial service reconfigurations across the NHS.   

 

11. Under the Health and Care Act 2022, the duty remains for NHS bodies to consult local 
authorities (through the health overview and scrutiny function) where substantial 
reconfiguration proposals are under consideration.  In relation to substantial service 
reconfiguration there is existing provision for the local authority (delegated to the Scrutiny 
Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles)) to make formal referrals to the Secretary of 
State where those proposals are not considered to be in the interest of local health 
services and/or it is deemed that insufficient consultation has taken place with the Scrutiny 
Board.  However, it is expected that the new Secretary of State intervention powers will 
supersede the local authority’s existing referral power.  Nonetheless, on a practical level, it 
is anticipated that the new Secretary of State intervention powers will not be introduced 
until April 2023, with the existing power of referral remaining in place during this transitional 
period.  Such arrangements may require transitional government guidance. 

 
12. The Scrutiny Board will continue to be kept up-to-date with further developments as they 

progress, however it is recommended that arrangements are put in place to re-establish 

the Health Service Developments Working Group for the current municipal year (2022/23).  

Draft terms of reference are attached at Appendix 2 for the Boards consideration and 

approval.   

Joint Health Scrutiny 
 

13. As explained within the Department of Health guidance document, Regulation 30 of the 

Local Authority (Public Health, Health and wellbeing boards and Health Scrutiny) 

Regulations 2013 requires local authorities to appoint mandatory joint health scrutiny 

committees where a relevant NHS body or health service provider consults more than one 

local authority’s health scrutiny function about substantial reconfiguration proposals. 

 

14. Under Regulation 30, local authorities may also appoint a discretionary joint health scrutiny 

committee to carry out all or specified health scrutiny functions, for example health scrutiny 

in relation to health issues that cross local authority boundaries. Establishing a joint 

committee of this kind does not prevent the appointing local authorities from separately 

scrutinising health issues. However, it is recognised that there are likely to be occasions on 

which a discretionary joint committee is the best way of considering how the needs of a 

local population, which happens to cross council boundaries, are being met.   

 

15. In November 2014, the chairs of the five West Yorkshire Councils health overview and 

scrutiny committees agreed to pursue establishing a discretionary joint health overview 

and scrutiny committee and in November 2015, Leeds City Council agreed to join other 

West Yorkshire authorities in making joint arrangements and approving terms of reference 

for a discretionary West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

(JHOSC).  The original terms of reference for this Committee are set out in Appendix 3 for 

Members’ information. 

 
Working arrangements of the JHOSC 
 

16. The JHOSC formally consists of Leeds, Bradford, Calderdale, Kirklees and Wakefield 
Councils, with North Yorkshire County Council formally appointed as a co-opted member 
since 2018/19, and continues to maintain oversight for the development of the West 

Page 43



Yorkshire Integrated Care Board (currently operating in shadow form until 1 July 2022) and 
the West Yorkshire Partnership Board (due to become the West Yorkshire Integrated Care 
Partnership) which will set the overall system strategy.   
 

17. Membership of the JHOSC currently consists of two members from the relevant scrutiny 
committee within each constituent local authority.  Leeds’ representatives on the JHOSC 
have been the Chair and another member of the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active 
Lifestyles).  Historically this position has been filled by a Scrutiny Board Member 
representing the council’s largest opposition political group.   
 

18. The support resource for the JHOSC will remain within the remit of colleagues at 
Calderdale Council for 2022/23 and the JHOSC will appoint a new Chair from its 
membership at its first meeting of 2022/23.  

 
19. As in previous years, the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) will continue 

to be kept up-to-date on the work being undertaken by the JHOSC to help ensure any 
broader views of the Scrutiny Board are fed into the work of JHOSC, to help ensure the 
effective use of resource and avoid any unnecessary duplication.   
 

20. The Scrutiny Board is asked to note the current JHOSC arrangements and agree the 
Board’s representatives for this municipal year (2022/23), while also recognising that such 
arrangements may be subject to further review linked to Health and Care Act 2022. 

 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

21. This report presents information and guidance to assist the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health 

and Active Lifestyles) in undertaking its specific health scrutiny role. 

 
What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

22. The terms of reference of the West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee and draft terms of reference of the Health Service Development Working Group 

and, as appended to this report, have been informed by earlier engagement work 

undertaken with the Scrutiny Board. 

 

What are the resource implications? 

23. This report has no specific resource implications. 

 

What are the legal implications?  

24. The Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) has been allocated special 
responsibility to fulfil the council’s statutory health scrutiny function and this report presents 
further information and guidance to assist the Board in undertaking this specific role. 

 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 

25. This report has no risk management implications. 

  

 

 

Wards affected: All 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☐No 

 

Page 44

https://www.calderdale.gov.uk/council/councillors/councilmeetings/query.jsp


 

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars? 

☐ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☐ Climate Emergency 

 

26. Health scrutiny should be outcome focused, looking at cross-cutting issues, including 

general health improvement, wellbeing and how well health inequalities are being 

addressed, as well as specific treatment services.  

  
  

Appendices 

27. Appendix 1 - Department of Health ‘Local Authority Health Scrutiny’ guidance (June 2014). 

28. Appendix 2 - Health Service Developments Working Group Draft Terms of Reference for 

the current municipal year (2022/23). 

29. Appendix 3 - West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee Terms of 

Reference (2015) 

Background papers 

30. None. 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



 

June 2014 

Local Authority Health 
Scrutiny 
Guidance to support Local Authorities and their 
partners to deliver effective health scrutiny.  
 
 

Page 47



 

 2 

Title:  
 
Local Authority Health Scrutiny: Guidance to support Local Authorities and their partners to 
deliver effective health scrutiny 
 
Author:  
 
SCLGCP/PCLG/18280   
 
Document Purpose:  
 
Guidance 
 
Publication date:  
 
June 2014 
 
To be reviewed in June 2015 
 
Target audience: 
 

• Local Authorities 
• Local Government Association 
• Health and Wellbeing Boards 
• Clinical Commissioning Groups 
• NHS trusts (acute, community, mental health) 
• NHS England 
• Healthwatch 

 
Contact details:  
 
Local Government Team 
Department of Health  
Room 330, Richmond House  
79 Whitehall  
London  
SW1A 2NS  
 

 

You may re-use the text of this document (not including logos) free of charge in any format or 
medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence, visit 
www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/ 

© Crown copyright  

Published to gov.uk, in PDF format only.  

www.gov.uk/dh 

 

Page 48



 

 3 

Local Authority Health 
Scrutiny 
Guidance to support Local Authorities and their 
partners to deliver effective health scrutiny.  
 

Prepared by the People, Communities and Local Government Division of the Department 
of Health. 
 

Page 49



 

 4 

Contents 
Contents ....................................................................................................................................... 4 
Key messages ............................................................................................................................. 5 
1. Introduction ........................................................................................................................... 8 

1.1 Background ..................................................................................................................... 8 
1.2 Purpose of guidance ....................................................................................................... 9 
1.3 Scope of the Regulations .............................................................................................. 10 

2. What remains the same following the new legislation? .......................................................... 12 
2.1 For local authorities ....................................................................................................... 12 
2.2 For the NHS .................................................................................................................. 13 
2.3 For patient and public involvement ............................................................................... 13 

3. Changes arising from the new legislation ............................................................................... 15 
3.1 Powers and duties – changes for local authorities ........................................................ 15 
3.2 Powers and duties – changes for the NHS ................................................................... 20 
3.3 Powers and duties – referral by local Healthwatch ....................................................... 22 

4. Consultation ........................................................................................................................... 23 
4.1 The context of consultation ........................................................................................... 23 
4.2 When to consult ............................................................................................................ 23 
4.3 Who consults ................................................................................................................ 24 
4.4 Timescales for consultation .......................................................................................... 24 
4.5  When consultation is not required ................................................................................ 24 
4.6 Responses to consultation ............................................................................................ 25 
4.7 Referrals to the Secretary of State ................................................................................ 25 

5. References and useful links ................................................................................................... 29 
5.1 Relevant legislation and policy ...................................................................................... 29 
5.2 Useful reading ............................................................................................................... 29 

 

 

Page 50



 

 5 

Key messages 
• The primary aim of health scrutiny is to strengthen the voice of local people, ensuring 

that their needs and experiences are considered as an integral part of the commissioning 
and delivery of health services and that those services are effective and safe. The new 
legislation extends the scope of health scrutiny and increases the flexibility of local 
authorities in deciding how to exercise their scrutiny function.  

 
• Health scrutiny also has a strategic role in taking an overview of how well integration of 

health, public health and social care is working – relevant to this might be how well health 
and wellbeing boards are carrying out their duty to promote integration - and in making 
recommendations about how it could be improved.  

 
• At the same time, health scrutiny has a legitimate role in proactively seeking information 

about the performance of local health services and institutions; in challenging the 
information provided to it by commissioners and providers of services for the health 
service (“relevant NHS bodies and relevant health service providers”1) and in testing this 
information by drawing on different sources of intelligence.  

 
• Health scrutiny is part of the accountability of the whole system and needs the 

involvement of all parts of the system. Engagement of relevant NHS bodies and relevant 
health service providers with health scrutiny is a continuous process. It should start early 
with a common understanding of local health needs and the shape of services across the 
whole health and care system. 

 
• Effective health scrutiny requires clarity at a local level about respective roles between 

the health scrutiny function, the NHS, the local authority, health and wellbeing boards 
and local Healthwatch.  
 

• In the light of the Francis Report, local authorities will need to satisfy themselves that 
they keep open effective channels by which the public can communicate concerns about 
the quality of NHS and public health services to health scrutiny bodies. Although health 
scrutiny functions are not there to deal with individual complaints, they can use 
information to get an impression of services overall and to question commissioners and 
providers about patterns and trends.  
 

• Furthermore in the light of the Francis Report, health scrutiny will need to consider ways 
of independently verifying information provided by relevant NHS bodies and relevant 
health service providers – for example, by seeking the views of local Healthwatch.  
 

                                            
1 In this guidance, “health service commissioners and providers” is a reference to: 
a) certain NHS bodies, (i.e. NHS England, clinical commissioning groups, NHS trusts and NHS foundation trusts) 
and  
b) providers of NHS and public health services commissioned by NHS England, clinical commissioning groups and 
local authorities.  
Each of these is “a responsible person”, as defined in the Regulations, on whom the Regulations impose certain 
duties for the purposes of supporting local authorities to discharge their health scrutiny functions.  
 

Page 51



 6 

• Health scrutiny should be outcome focused, looking at cross-cutting issues, including 
general health improvement, wellbeing and how well health inequalities are being 
addressed, as well as specific treatment services. 
 

• Where there are concerns about proposals for substantial developments or variation in 
health services (or reconfiguration as it is also known) local authorities and the local NHS 
should work together to attempt to resolve these locally if at all possible. If external 
support is needed, informal help is freely available from the Independent Reconfiguration 
Panel (IRP)2 and/or the Centre for Public Scrutiny3. If the decision is ultimately taken to 
formally refer the local NHS’s reconfiguration proposals to the Secretary of State for 
Health, then this referral must be accompanied by an explanation of all steps taken 
locally to try to reach agreement in relation to those proposals.  
 

• In considering substantial reconfiguration proposals health scrutiny needs to recognise 
the resource envelope within which the NHS operates and should therefore take into 
account the effect of the proposals on sustainability of services, as well as on their quality 
and safety. 

 
• Local authorities should ensure that regardless of any arrangements adopted for carrying 

out health scrutiny functions, the functions are discharged in a transparent manner that 
will boost the confidence of local people in health scrutiny. Health scrutiny should be held 
in an open forum and local people should be allowed to attend and use any 
communication methods such as filming and tweeting to report the proceedings. This will 
be in line with the new transparency measure in the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 and will allow local people, particularly those who are not present at scrutiny 
hearing-meetings, to have the opportunity to see or hear the proceedings. 

                                            
2 Independent Reconfiguration Panel website: www.irpanel.org.uk/view.asp?id=0 
3 Centre for Public Scrutiny website: www.cfps.og.uk 

Page 52



 

 

 

Page 53



 8 

1. Introduction 
This guidance is intended to support local authorities, relevant NHS bodies and relevant health 
service providers in discharging their responsibilities under the relevant regulations; and thereby 
supporting effective scrutiny. The guidance needs to be conscientiously taken into account. 
However, the guidance is not intended to be a substitute for the legislation or to provide a 
definitive interpretation of the legislation. Only the courts can provide a definitive interpretation 
of legislation. Anyone in doubt should seek legal advice.  
 

1.1 Background 
 
1.1.1 The primary aim of health scrutiny is to act as a lever to improve the health of local 

people, ensuring their needs are considered as an integral part of the commissioning, 
delivery and development of health services. For some time, local authority overview and 
scrutiny4 of health has been an important part of the Government’s commitment to place 
patients at the centre of health services. It is even more important in the new system. 
 

1.1.2 Health scrutiny is a fundamental way by which democratically elected local councillors 
are able to voice the views of their constituents, and hold relevant NHS bodies and 
relevant health service providers to account.  To this end, it is essential that health 
scrutiny functions are also carried out in a transparent manner, so that local people have 
the opportunity to see and hear proceedings, in line with the new transparency measure 
in the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.  Local government itself is making an 
even greater contribution to health since taking on public health functions in April 2013 
(and will itself be within the scope of health scrutiny). Social care and health services are 
becoming ever more closely integrated and impact on each other, with the result that 
scrutiny of one may entail, to a certain extent, scrutiny of the other. In many cases, health 
scrutiny reviews will be of services which are jointly commissioned by the NHS and local 
government.  
 

1.1.3 Within the NHS, there has been increasing emphasis on the need to understand and 
respond to the views of patients and the public about health and health services: the 
NHS Constitution, the Government’s Mandate to NHS England and the NHS Operating 
Framework together provide a strong set of principles underpinning the NHS’s 
accountability to the people it serves. Responding positively to health scrutiny is one way 
for the NHS to be accountable to local communities.  
 

1.1.4 This is an important and challenging time for local authority scrutiny of the health service 
in England. The wider context includes huge financial pressures on the public services 
and the challenges of an ageing society in which more people are living for longer with 
illness and long-term medical conditions and disability. The NHS and local government 
are operating in a completely new health landscape underpinned by new legislation; with 
care commissioned and, in many cases, potentially delivered, by more and varied 
organisations. New health scrutiny legislation permits greater flexibility in the way that 
local authorities discharge their health scrutiny functions. Local government is working 
ever more closely with the NHS through health and wellbeing boards, taking a holistic 
view of the health, public health and social care system.  

                                            
4 Referred to as ‘review and scrutiny’ in the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013. 

Page 54



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 9 

 
1.1.5 At the same time, the whole health and care system and the public accountability 

mechanisms that surround it are grappling with the implications of the Francis inquiry into 
the shocking failure of care at Mid-Staffordshire NHS Trust. Among many other 
recommendations, the Francis report says that: 

 
• The Care Quality Commission should expand its work with overview and scrutiny 

committees. 
• Overview and scrutiny committees and local Healthwatch should have access to 

complaints information.  
• The “quality accounts” submitted by providers of NHS services should contain 

observations of commissioners, overview and scrutiny committees and local 
Healthwatch. 

 
1.1.6 Following the Francis report and recommendations, the role and importance of effective 

health scrutiny will become more prominent. The Francis inquiry increased expectations 
for local accountability of health services. It is expected that health scrutiny will develop 
working relationships and good communication with Care Quality Commission local 
representatives, NHS England’s local and regional Quality Surveillance Groups as well 
as with local Healthwatch. While there is no legislative stipulation as to the extent of 
support that should be made available for the health scrutiny function, the health and 
social care system as a whole will need to think about how the function is supported 
nationally, regionally and locally to enable the powers and duties associated with the 
function to be exercised appropriately.  

 

1.2 Purpose of guidance 
1.2.1 It is against this background that this guidance has been prepared. It is intended to 

provide an up-to-date explanation and guide to implementation of the regulations under 
the National Health Service Act 2006 governing the local authority health scrutiny 
function. The relevant regulations are the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 (“the Regulations”), which 
came into force on 1st April 20135. They supersede the 2002 Regulations under the 
Health and Social care Act 20016. The Regulations have implications for relevant NHS 
bodies and relevant health service providers, including local authorities carrying out the 
local authority health scrutiny function7, health and wellbeing boards and those involved 
in patient and public engagement activities. The duties in the Regulations are aimed at 
supporting local authorities to discharge their scrutiny functions effectively. Failure to 
comply with those duties would place the relevant NHS body or relevant health service 
provider in breach of its statutory duty and render it at risk of a legal challenge.  

 
1.2.2 This guidance is, therefore, of relevance to: 
 

• Local authorities (both those which have the health scrutiny functions and district 
councils). 

• Clinical commissioning groups (CCGs).  
• NHS England. 

                                            
5 References to numbered Regulations throughout this guide are to the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
wellbeing boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.  
6 These had effect as if made under the National Health Service Act 2006. 
7 The health scrutiny function is conferred on the152 councils with social services responsibilities.  

Page 55



 10 

• Providers of health services including those from the public, private and voluntary 
sectors. 

• Those involved in delivering the work of local Healthwatch. 
 
 
 

The guidance should be read alongside other guidance issued by the Department of Health and 
NHS England, such as the guidance on the NHS duty to involve8, and guidance for NHS 
commissioners on the good practice principles and process for planning of major service 
change. 
 

1.3 Scope of the Regulations 
1.3.1 The Regulations explained in this guidance relate to matters relating to the health 

service, i.e. including services commissioned and/or provided by the NHS as well as 
public health services commissioned by local authorities. This includes services provided 
to the NHS by external non-NHS providers, including local authorities (this is discussed in 
more detail in section 3).   
 

1.3.2 The NHS Constitution, the Mandate to NHS England, and the NHS Outcomes 
Framework provide a set of guiding principles and values for the NHS which indicate that 
the NHS is not just a sickness service, but is there to improve health, wellbeing and to 
address health inequalities: “to pay particular attention to groups or sections of society 
where improvement in health and life expectancy are not keeping pace with the rest of 
the population9”. The Mandate makes clear that one of NHS England’s priorities should 
be a focus on “preventing illness, with staff using every contact they have with people as 
an opportunity to help people stay in good health10”. Since the creation of the health 
scrutiny functions under the Health and Social Care Act 2001, local authority scrutiny 
committees have prioritised issues of health improvement, prevention and tackling health 
inequalities as areas where they can add value through their work. In their reviews, local 
authorities have looked at the wider social determinants of health and health inequalities, 
not least because of local government’s own contribution through the whole range of its 
services.  
 

1.3.3 NHS services can themselves impact on health inequalities and general wellbeing of 
communities, for example, by improving access to services for the most deprived and 
least healthy communities. Moreover  the Department of Health has always advised and 
local authorities have recognised that the best use of their health scrutiny powers will 
depend on scrutiny extending to health issues, the health system and health economy 
rather than being limited to services commissioned or managed by the NHS or local 
authorities.  
 

1.3.4 The duties of health service commissioners and providers under the Regulations apply to 
NHS commissioners and to providers of health services as part of the health service, 
including NHS bodies and local authorities, as discussed below. However, local authority 
health scrutiny committees have often drawn on their wider powers to promote 

                                            
8 http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/trans-part-hc-guid1.pdf 
9 NHS Constitution, The NHS belongs to us all, March 2013: 
http://www.nhs.uk/choiceintheNHS/Rightsandpledges/NHSConstitution/Documents/2013/the-nhs-constitution-for-
england-2013.pdf 
10 The Mandate: A mandate from the Government to the NHS Commissioning Board: April 2013 to March 2015, p8: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213131/mandate.pdf 

Page 56



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 11 

community wellbeing to carry out overview and scrutiny of a range of health issues which 
go beyond NHS services. In the new health landscape, public health is a responsibility of 
local government and health and wellbeing boards provide strategic leadership of the 
health system through partnership, with a specific duty to encourage integrated working 
across health and social care. We can expect an increasing number of services to be 
jointly commissioned between local authorities and the NHS. Any health scrutiny exercise 
may therefore include reviewing the local authority’s own contribution to the health of 
local people and the provision of health services, as well as the role of the health and 
wellbeing board, and of other agencies involved in the health care of local people. 
 

1.3.5 Responses to matters that are scrutinised may therefore be the responsibility of a 
number of stakeholders. In this light, the power to scrutinise the health service should be 
seen and used in the wider context of the local authority role of community leadership 
and of other initiatives to promote and facilitate improvement and reduce inequalities. In 
the context of the NHS reforms, this includes: 
 

• A greater emphasis on involving patients and the public from an early stage in proposals 
to improve services. 

• The work of health and wellbeing boards as strategic bodies bringing together 
representatives of the whole local health and care system. 

• The work of other relevant local partnerships, such as community safety partnerships 
and partnerships with the community and voluntary sectors. 
 

1.3.6 The new legislation in the 2012 Act lays increased emphasis on the role of patients and 
the public in shaping services. This is recognised in the introduction of local Healthwatch 
organisations and their membership of health and wellbeing boards. The Regulations 
make provision about the referral of matters by local Healthwatch to local authority health 
scrutiny. This is discussed in section 3 below.  
 

1.3.7 Section 2 below outlines those aspects of the health scrutiny system that remain the 
same for each of the key players: local authorities, the NHS and the patient and public 
involvement system. Section 3 discusses in detail what has changed following the new 
legislation for each of these key players and how the changes should be implemented. 
Section 4 discusses the important issue of consultation on substantial reconfiguration 
proposals (i.e. proposals for a substantial development of the health service or for a 
substantial variation in the provision of such service). Section 5 provides references and 
links to relevant additional documents.  

 

  

Page 57



 12 

2. What remains the same following the new 
legislation? 

 

2.1   For local authorities 
2.1.1 Under the Regulations, local authorities in England (i.e. “upper tier” and unitary 

authorities11, the Common Council of the City of London and the Council of the Isles of 
Scilly) have the power to: 

• Review and scrutinise matters relating to the planning, provision and operation of the 
health service in the area. This may well include scrutinising the finances of local health 
services. 

• Require information to be provided by certain NHS bodies about the planning, provision 
and operation of health services that is reasonably needed to carry out health scrutiny. 

• Require employees including non-executive directors of certain NHS bodies to attend 
before them to answer questions. 

• Make reports and recommendations to certain NHS bodies and expect a response within 
28 days. 

• Set up joint health scrutiny committees with other local authorities and delegate health 
scrutiny functions to an overview and scrutiny committee of another local authority. 

• Refer NHS substantial reconfiguration proposals to the Secretary of State if a local 
authority considers: 

• The consultation has been inadequate in relation to the content or the amount of time 
allowed.  

• The NHS body has given inadequate reasons where it has not consulted for reasons 
of urgency relating to the safety or welfare of patients or staff.  

• A proposal would not be in the interests of the health service in its area. 

(In the case of referral, the Regulations lay down additional conditions and requirements as to 
the information that must be provided to the Secretary of State – these are listed in section 4.7 
below.) 

2.1.2 As previously, executive members may not be members of local authority overview and 
scrutiny committees, their sub-committees, joint health overview and scrutiny committees 
and sub-committees. Overview and scrutiny committees may include co-opted members 
i.e. those who are not members of the relevant local authority (for example, co-opted 
members of overview and scrutiny committees of district councils or representatives of 
voluntary sector organisations). Co-opted members may not be given voting rights 
except where permitted by the relevant local authority in accordance with a scheme 
made by the local authority12. 
 

                                            
11 i.e. county councils, district councils other than lower-tier district councils and London Borough councils. 
However, in general, health scrutiny functions may be delegated to lower-tier district councils (except for referrals – 
see regulations 28 and 29) or their overview and scrutiny committees, or carried out by a joint committee of those 
councils and another local authority.   
12 Section 9FA of and Schedule A1 to the Local Government Act 2000, Regulations 5 and 11 of the Local 
Authorities (committee system) (England) Regulations 2012 and Regulation 30 of the Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and wellbeing boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013. 

Page 58



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 13 

2.1.3 The position of councils which have returned to a committee system of governance is 
discussed in section 3 below. 
 

2.1.4 The position in relation to these matters remains following the new legislation, but the 
legislation is extended to cover additional and new organisations and diverse local 
authority arrangements, as described in section 3 below. 

 

2.2 For the NHS 
2.2.1 Regulations under the Health and Social Care Act 2001 created duties on the NHS which 

mirror the powers conferred on local authorities. These duties are carried forward into the 
new legislation, and require the NHS to: 

• Provide information about the planning, provision and operation of health services as 
reasonably required by local authorities to enable them to carry out health scrutiny 
(section 3 lists all those now covered by this requirement). 

• Attend before local authorities to answer questions necessary for local authorities to 
carry out health scrutiny. 

• Consult on any proposed substantial developments or variations in the provision of the 
health service13. 

• Respond to health scrutiny reports and recommendations: NHS service commissioners 
and providers have a duty to respond in writing to a report or recommendation where 
health scrutiny requests this, within 28 days of the request. This applies to requests 
from individual health scrutiny committees or sub-committees, from local authorities and 
from joint health scrutiny committees or sub-committees. 

2.2.2 These duties remain in place, and (following the abolition of PCTs and Strategic Health 
Authorities) now apply to CCGs; NHS England; local authorities as providers of NHS or 
public health services; and providers of NHS and public health services commissioned by 
CCGs, NHS England and local authorities. Additional responsibilities are described in 
section 3 below.  

2.3 For patient and public involvement 
2.3.1 Legislation has created a number of far-reaching requirements on the NHS to consult 

service users and prospective users in planning services, in the development and 
consideration of proposals for changes in the way services are provided and in decisions 
affecting the operation of those services. 
 

2.3.2 For NHS trusts, the duty as to involvement and consultation is set out in section 242 of 
the 2006 Act (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012). The public 
involvement duties of NHS England and of CCGs are set out in sections 13Q and 14Z2 
respectively of the 2006 Act. These are separate duties from those set out in the 
Regulations discussed here. Together they add up to a web of local accountability for 
health services. 
 

2.1.1 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 introduced local Healthwatch to represent the voice 
of patients, service users and the public; and health and wellbeing boards to promote 
partnerships across the health and social care sector. The Regulations set up formal 
relationships between local Healthwatch and local authority health scrutiny, to ensure 

                                            
13 Subject to exceptions as set out in the 2013 Regulations. 

Page 59



 14 

that the new system reflects the outcomes of involvement and engagement with patients 
and the public, as described in section 3 below.  

 

  

Page 60



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 15 

3. Changes arising from the new legislation 
3.1 Powers and duties – changes for local authorities 
 
Councils as commissioners and providers of health services 
3.1.1 As commissioners or providers of public health services and as providers of health 

services to the NHS, services commissioned or provided by local authorities are 
themselves within the scope of the health scrutiny legislation. 

3.1.2 To that end local authorities may be bodies which are scrutinised, as well as bodies 
which carry out health scrutiny.  
 

3.1.3 The duties which apply to scrutinised bodies such as the duty to provide information, to 
attend before health scrutiny and to consult on substantial reconfiguration proposals will 
apply to local authorities insofar as they may be “relevant health service providers”14.  
 

3.1.4 Being both scrutineer and scrutinee is not a new situation for councils. It will still be 
important, particularly in making arrangements for scrutiny of the council’s own health 
role, to bear in mind possible conflicts of interest and to take steps to deal with them.  

 
Councils as scrutineers of health services 
3.1.5 The Local Government Act 2000 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011) makes 

provision for authorities: 
 

• To retain executive governance arrangements (i.e. comprising a Leader and cabinet or a 
Mayor and cabinet).  

• To adopt a committee system of governance.  
• To adopt any other form of governance prescribed by the Secretary of State.  

 
3.1.6 Health scrutiny arrangements will differ in some respects depending on the system that 

the council chooses to operate. Most importantly:  
 

• Councils operating executive governance arrangements are required to have at least one 
overview and scrutiny committee. In this case, the scrutiny is independent of the 
executive. 

• If a council adopts a committee system, they can operate overview and scrutiny 
committees if they choose, but are not required to do so.  

 
3.1.7 At present, most local authorities are retaining executive governance arrangements. For 

those councils moving to a committee system, a further discussion of the differences and 
implications for health scrutiny is included on page 16 below.   

 
3.1.8 Generally health scrutiny functions are in the form of powers. However, there are certain 

requirements under the Regulations as follows. Local authorities on whom health scrutiny 
functions have been conferred should: 

 
• Have a mechanism in place to deal with referrals made by Local Healthwatch 

organisations or contractors15. 
                                            
14 See section 244 of the NHS Act and Regulation 20 of the 2013 Regulations for the meaning of “relevant health 
service provider”. 
15 See Regulation 21 of the 2013 Regulations. 

Page 61



 16 

• Have a mechanism in place to respond to consultations by relevant NHS bodies and 
relevant health service providers on substantial reconfiguration proposals. Such 
responses could be made through the full council, an overview and scrutiny committee 
with delegated powers from the full council, a joint overview and scrutiny committee or a 
committee appointed under s101 of the Local Government Act.  

• Councils also need to consider in advance how the members of a joint health scrutiny 
committee would be appointed from their council where the council was required to 
participate in a joint health scrutiny committee with other councils to respond to 
substantial reconfiguration proposals covering more than one council area.  

 
Conferral of health scrutiny function on full council 
3.1.9 The National Health Service Act 2006, as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 

2012, confers health scrutiny functions on the local authority, as distinct from any 
overview and scrutiny committee or panel within the local authority section 244 (2ZD). 
This new provision is designed to give local authorities greater flexibility and freedom 
over the way they discharge health scrutiny functions. The full council of each local 
authority will determine which arrangement is adopted. For example: 

 
• It may choose to continue to operate its existing health overview and scrutiny committee, 

delegating its health scrutiny functions to the committee. 
• It may choose other arrangements such as appointing a committee involving members of 

the public and delegating its health scrutiny functions (except the function of making 
referrals) to that committee. 

• It may operate its health scrutiny functions through a joint scrutiny committee with one or 
more other councils. 

 
3.1.10 As indicated above local authorities may delegate their health scrutiny functions under 

section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 but are not permitted to delegate the 
functions to an officer (Regulation 29).  

 
3.1.11 Executive members of councils operating executive governance arrangements (that is a 

Leader and cabinet or a Mayor and cabinet) may not be members of local authority 
overview and scrutiny committees or of their sub-committees or of joint health overview 
and scrutiny committees and sub-committees.    

 
3.1.12 Overview and scrutiny committees are a proven model offering a number of benefits that 

other structures may not, including having a clear identity within the local authority, 
political balance and, in many cases, an established reputation within the local 
community for independence and accessibility.   

 
Delegation of health scrutiny function by full council 
3.1.13 The legislation enables health scrutiny functions to be delegated to: 
 

• An overview and scrutiny committee of a local authority or of another local authority 
(Regulation 28). 

• A sub-committee of an overview or scrutiny committee (Local Government Act 2000). 
• A joint overview and scrutiny committee (JOSC) appointed by two or more local 

authorities or a sub-committee of such a joint committee. 
• A committee or sub-committee of the authority appointed under section 102 of the Local 

Government Act 1972 (section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972) (except for 
referrals). 

• Another local authority (section 101 of Local Government Act 1972) (except for referrals).  

Page 62



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 17 

 
3.1.14 Local authorities may not delegate the health scrutiny functions to an officer – this option 

under the Local Government Act 1972 is disapplied (disallowed) by Regulation 29.  
 
3.1.15 If a council decides to delegate to a health scrutiny committee, it need not delegate all of 

its health scrutiny functions to that committee (i.e. it could retain some functions itself). 
For example, it might choose to retain the power to refer issues to the Secretary of State 
for Health as discussed below. Equally, it might choose to delegate that power to the 
scrutiny committee. 

 
Joint health scrutiny arrangements 
3.1.16 As before, local authorities may appoint a discretionary joint health scrutiny committee 

(Regulation 30) to carry out all or specified health scrutiny functions, for example health 
scrutiny in relation to health issues that cross local authority boundaries. Establishing a 
joint committee of this kind does not prevent the appointing local authorities from 
separately scrutinising health issues. However, there are likely to be occasions on which 
a discretionary joint committee is the best way of considering how the needs of a local 
population, which happens to cross council boundaries, are being met.  

 
3.1.17 Regulation 30 also requires local authorities to appoint joint committees where a relevant 

NHS body or health service provider consults more than one local authority’s health 
scrutiny function about substantial reconfiguration proposals (referred to below as a 
mandatory joint health scrutiny committee). In such circumstances, Regulation 30 sets 
out the following requirements (see section 4 on consultation below for more detail).  

 
• Only the joint committee may respond to the consultation (i.e. rather than each individual 

local authority responding separately). 
• Only the joint committee may exercise the power to require the provision of information 

by the relevant NHS body or health service provider about the proposal. 
• Only the joint committee may exercise the power to require members or employees of 

the relevant NHS body or health service provider to attend before it to answer questions 
in connection with the consultation. 

 
3.1.18 These restrictions do not apply to referrals to the Secretary of State. Local authorities 

may choose to delegate their power of referral to the mandatory joint committee but they 
need not do so. If a local authority had already appointed a discretionary committee, they 
could even delegate the power to that committee if they choose to.  

 
3.1.19 If the local authority has delegated this power, then they may not subsequently exercise 

the power of referral. If they do not delegate the power, they may make such referrals. 
 
3.1.20 A situation might arise where one of the participating local authorities had delegated their 

power of referral to the joint committee but not the other(s). In such a case a referral 
could be made by: the JOSC or any of the authorities which had not delegated their 
power of referral to the JOSC, but not the authorities which had delegated their power of 
referral to the JOSC. 

 
Reporting and making recommendations 
3.1.21 Regulation 22 enables local authorities and committees (including joint committees, sub-

committees and other local authorities to which health scrutiny functions have been 
delegated) to make reports and recommendations to relevant NHS bodies and health 

Page 63



 18 

service providers. The following information must be included in a report or 
recommendation: 

 
• An explanation of the matter reviewed or scrutinised. 
• A summary of the evidence considered. 
• A list of the participants involved in the review or scrutiny. 
• An explanation of any recommendations on the matter reviewed or scrutinised.  

 
3.1.22 A council can choose to delegate to an overview and scrutiny committee (including joint 

committee, sub-committee or another local authority) the function of making scrutiny 
reports and recommendations to relevant NHS bodies and health service commissioners. 
Alternatively, a council can choose to delegate only the function of preparing such 
reports and recommendations, and retain for itself the function of actually making that 
report or recommendation. The latter approach would give the full council the opportunity 
to endorse the report or recommendation before it was sent to the NHS. 

 
3.1.23 Where a local authority requests a response from the relevant NHS body or health 

service provider to which it has made a report or recommendation, there is a statutory 
requirement (Regulation 22) for the body or provider to provide a response in writing 
within 28 days of the request.  

 
 
Conflicts of interest 
3.1.24 Councils should take steps to avoid any conflict of interest arising from councillors’ 

involvement in the bodies or decisions that they are scrutinising. A conflict might arise 
where, for example, a councillor who was a full voting member of a health and wellbeing 
board was also a member of the same council’s health scrutiny committee or of a joint 
health scrutiny committee that might be scrutinising matters pertaining to the work of the 
health and wellbeing board.  

 
3.1.25 Conflicts of interest may also arise if councillors carrying out health scrutiny are, for 

example: 
 

• An employee of an NHS body. 
• A member or non-executive director of an NHS body. 
• An executive member of another local authority. 
• An employee or board member of an organisation commissioned by an NHS body or 

local authority to provide services.  
 
3.1.26 These councillors are not excluded from membership of overview and scrutiny 

committees, and, clearly, where the full council has retained the health scrutiny function, 
they will be involved in health scrutiny. However they will need to follow the rules and 
requirements governing the existence of interests in matters considered at meetings. 
Where such a risk is identified, they should consult their monitoring officer for advice on 
their involvement. 

 
Councils operating a committee system 
3.1.27 Councils which have returned to a committee system under the Local Government Act 

2000 may or may not have retained a council-wide overview and scrutiny function. If they 
have retained such function, they will be able to delegate their health scrutiny functions to 
overview and scrutiny committees in the same way as those councils operating executive 
arrangements that have executive and scrutiny functions.  

Page 64



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 19 

 
3.1.28 Councils with a committee system that have not retained a council-wide scrutiny function 

will need to decide what to do about their health scrutiny functions. The health scrutiny 
function is conferred on the full council but delegation to a committee, joint committee, 
sub-committee or another local authority is permitted (except in the case of referrals in 
relation to which delegation under section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 is not 
permitted). Therefore such a council might retain health scrutiny functions or delegate 
these to a committee, joint committee or sub-committee (or indeed to another council or 
its overview and scrutiny committee). 

 
3.1.29 In deciding how to operate a health scrutiny function, councils operating a committee 

system will need to consider issues of potential conflicts of interest. Like upper tier and 
unitary councils, they will need to have a health and wellbeing board whose work will be 
within the scope of health scrutiny insofar as it relates to the planning, provision and 
operation of the health service. They may also have a health and social care committee 
or a stand-alone health committee which makes decisions about the commissioning of 
public health services. A conflict might arise where, for example, under a committee 
system, the members of any committee of the council which is taking commissioning 
decisions on public health services, are also members of its health scrutiny committee or 
where a health and social care committee of a council operating a committee system is 
also acting as a health overview and scrutiny committee. The solution might be to have a 
separate health overview and scrutiny committee, with different members.  

 
3.1.30 Regardless of the governance arrangements being operated by a council, the health 

scrutiny function may not be delegated to an officer (Regulation 29).  
 
 
The role of district councils 
3.1.31 As previously, under the new Regulations (Regulation 31), district councillors in two tier 

areas, who are members of district overview and scrutiny committees, may be co-opted 
by the upper tier county council onto health overview and scrutiny committees of those 
councils or other local authorities. Such co-option may be on a long term (i.e. for the life 
of the overview and scrutiny committee or until the county council decides) or ad hoc 
basis (i.e. for review and scrutiny of a particular matter) (Regulation 31).  

 
3.1.32 District councillors in two tier areas may also (Regulation 30 read with the Local 

Government Act 2000) be co-opted onto joint health scrutiny committees between the 
upper tier county councils and other local authorities. 

 
3.1.33 District councillors in two tier areas may also be on joint health scrutiny committees of the 

relevant district council and the upper tier county council (Regulation 30). 
 
3.1.34 Many county councils have taken the opportunity to co-opt district councillors onto their 

scrutiny committees, as district councillors bring very local knowledge of their 
communities’ needs and may also provide a useful link to enhance the health impact of 
district council services. Health and wellbeing strategies in two-tier areas are likely to 
include reference to the role of district councils in improving health and reducing 
inequalities, for example through their housing and leisure functions. As health and 
wellbeing boards’ functions including their strategies (insofar as related to the planning, 
provision and operation of the health service) will be within the scope of health scrutiny, 
this provides an additional reason for considering the co-option of district councillors. 

 

Page 65



 20 

3.2 Powers and duties – changes for the NHS 
 
Extension of scope of health scrutiny 
3.2.1 A significant change for the NHS in the new health landscape is the extension of certain 

duties in the Regulations to cover providers of health services (commissioned by NHS 
England, CCGs or local authorities) who are not themselves NHS bodies. Together with 
relevant NHS bodies these are known as ‘responsible persons’ in the legislation and 
these include: 

 
• CCGs 
• NHS England 
• Local authorities (insofar as they may be providing health services to CCGs, NHS 

England or other local authorities). 
• NHS trusts and NHS foundation trusts. 
• GP practices and other providers of primary care services (previously not subject to 

specific duties under health scrutiny regulations as independent contractors, they are 
now subject to duties under the new Regulations as they are providers of NHS services). 

• Other providers of primary care services to the NHS, such as pharmacists, opticians and 
dentists. 

• Private and voluntary sector bodies commissioned to provide NHS or public health 
services by NHS England, CCGs or local authorities. 

 
3.2.2 Under the Regulations, ‘responsible persons’ are required to comply with a number of 

duties to assist the health scrutiny function. These duties are underpinned by the duty of 
co-operation which applies between the NHS and local authorities under section 82 of 
the NHS Act 2006 which requires them, in exercising their respective functions, to co-
operate with one another in order to secure and advance the health and welfare of the 
people of England and Wales.   

 
Required provision of information to health scrutiny  
3.2.3 Regulation 26 imposes duties on ‘responsible persons’ to provide a local authority with 

such information about the planning, provision and operation of health services in the 
area of the authority as it may reasonably require to discharge its health scrutiny 
functions. All relevant NHS bodies and health service providers (including GP practices 
and other primary care providers and any private, independent or third sector providers 
delivering services under arrangements made by clinical commissioning groups, NHS 
England or the local authority) have a duty to provide such information. 

 
3.2.4 In addition, the duty of candour under the NHS Standard Contract is also relevant in 

relation to the provision of information to patients generally. 
   
3.2.5 The type of information requested and provided will depend on the subject under 

scrutiny. It may include: 
 

• Financial information about the operation of a trust or CCG, for example budget 
allocations for the care of certain groups of patients or certain conditions, or capital 
allocations for infrastructure projects, such as community facilities. 

• Management information such as commissioning plans for a particular type of service. 
• Operational information such as information about performance against targets or quality 

standards, waiting times. 

Page 66



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 21 

• Patient information such as patient flows, patient satisfaction surveys, numbers and 
types of complaints and action taken to address them. 

• Any other information relating to the topic of a health scrutiny review which can 
reasonably be requested. 

 
3.2.6 Confidential information that relates to or identifies a particular living individual or 

individuals cannot be provided unless the individual or individuals concerned agree to its 
disclosure. However, the information can be disclosed in a form from which identification 
is not possible. In such a situation, health scrutiny bodies (i.e. councils or council health 
overview and scrutiny committees or sub-committees carrying out delegated health 
scrutiny functions) can require that the information be put in a form from which the 
individual cannot be identified in order that it may be disclosed. 

 
3.2.7 In some cases, information, such as financial information, may be commercially sensitive. 

In such cases, it may be possible for health scrutiny to receive this information in 
confidence to inform, but not be directly referred to in, its reports and recommendations.  

 
Required attendance before health scrutiny 
3.2.8 Members and employees of a relevant NHS body or relevant health service provider 

have a duty to attend before a local authority when required by it (provided reasonable 
notice has been given) to answer questions the local authority believes are necessary to 
carry out its health scrutiny functions. This duty now applies to all those listed at the 
beginning of this section. So, for example, if a local authority were to require the 
attendance of a member of a CCG, or of a private company commissioned to provide 
particular NHS services, it could do so under the Regulations. Bodies, the employees or 
members of which are required to attend by local authority health scrutiny, are expected 
to take the appropriate steps to ensure the relevant member or employee complies with 
this requirement16.  

 
3.2.9 As regards the attendance of particular individuals, identification of the appropriate 

member or employee to attend will depend on the type of scrutiny review being 
undertaken and its aims. By way of example, where the local authority has required 
attendance of a particular individual, say the accountable officer of a clinical 
commissioning group, and it is not practicable for that individual to attend or if that 
individual is not the most suitable person to attend, the CCG would be expected to 
suggest another, relevant individual.  Thus, in such situations, both the local authority 
and the commissioner or provider (as the case may be) would be expected to co-operate 
with each other to agree on a suitable person for attendance and, in doing so, to act 
reasonably at all times. 

 
Responding to scrutiny reports and recommendations 
3.2.10 Depending on the topic being reviewed, reports and recommendations by local authority 

health scrutiny bodies may be made to any of the relevant NHS bodies or health service 
providers covered by the legislation (and, in the case of health scrutiny by a body to 
which the function has been delegated, to the delegating authority e.g. the relevant local 
authority or in the case of a sub-committee appointed by a committee, that committee or 
its local authority).  

 
                                            
16 The meaning of ‘member’ is given in section 244 of the NHS Act 2006 and includes people who are members of 
committees or sub-committees of CCGs who are not members of the CCG, directors of NHS trusts and directors 
and governors of NHS foundation trusts. They also include directors of bodies which provide health services 
commissioned by NHS England, CCGs and local authorities.  

Page 67



 22 

3.2.11 Relevant NHS bodies and health service providers to which a health scrutiny report or 
and recommendation has been made must by law, if a response is requested, respond 
within 28 days of the request. Reports and recommendations are expected to be based 
on evidence. Respondents should take the evidence presented seriously, giving a 
considered and meaningful response about how they intend to take forward reports or 
recommendations. Meaningful engagement is likely to lead to improvements in quality 
and access to services.  

 
3.2.12 Many local authorities, as part of their work plan, return to completed scrutiny reviews 

after a certain period – usually 6 months or a year – to find out whether and how their 
recommendations have been implemented and how they have influenced improvements. 
Relevant NHS bodies and health service providers to whom scrutiny reports have been 
presented should be prepared for this kind of follow-up and be able to report on progress 
and improvements resulting from scrutiny reviews. 

 

3.3 Powers and duties – referral by local Healthwatch 
3.3.1 Local Healthwatch organisations and contractors have specific roles which complement 

those of health scrutiny bodies. For example, they can “enter and view” certain premises 
at which health and social care services are provided. This can enable local Healthwatch 
to act as the “eyes and ears” of patients and the public; to be a means for health scrutiny 
to supplement and triangulate information provided by service providers; and to gain an 
additional impression of quality of services, safety and issues of concern around specific 
services and provider institutions. Health scrutiny bodies and local Healthwatch are likely 
each to benefit from regular contact and exchange of information about their work 
programmes. It may also be helpful in planning work programmes, to try to ensure that 
certain aspects are aligned. For example, if a health scrutiny body is planning a review of 
a certain service, it might be useful if local Healthwatch plans to visit the service in a 
timely way to inform the review.  

 
3.3.2 Local Healthwatch organisations and their contractors carry out certain statutory activities 

including that of making reports and recommendations concerning service improvements 
to scrutiny bodies. This would cover the provision of information and the referral of 
matters relating to the planning, provision and operation of health services in their area 
(which could potentially include concerns about local health services or commissioners 
and providers) to local authority health scrutiny bodies.  

 
3.3.3 Regulation 21 sets out duties that apply where a matter is referred to a local authority by 

a local Healthwatch organisations or contractors. The local authority must: 
 

• Acknowledge receipt of referrals within 20 working days. 
• Keep local Healthwatch organisations (or contractors as the case may be) informed of 

any action it takes in relation to the matter referred. 
 

  

Page 68



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 23 

4. Consultation 
 

4.1 The context of consultation  
4.1.1 The duty on relevant NHS bodies and health service providers to consult health scrutiny 

bodies on substantial reconfiguration proposals should be seen in the context of NHS 
duties to involve and consult the public. Focusing solely on consultation with health 
scrutiny bodies will not be sufficient to meet the NHS’s public involvement and 
consultation duties as these are separate. The NHS should therefore ensure that there is 
meaningful and on-going engagement with service users in developing the case for 
change and in planning and developing proposals. There should be engagement with the 
local community from an early stage on the options that are developed. 

 
4.1.2 The backdrop to consultation on substantial reconfiguration proposals is itself changing. 

The ideal situation is that proposals for change emerge from involving service users and 
the wider public in dialogue about needs and priorities and how services can be 
improved. Much of this dialogue may take place through representation of service users 
and the public on health and wellbeing boards and through the boards’ own public 
engagement strategies. With increasing integration of health and care services, many 
proposals for change may be joint NHS-local authority proposals which may have been 
discussed at an early stage through the health and wellbeing board. Health scrutiny 
bodies should be party to such discussions – local circumstances will determine the best 
way for this to happen. If informally involved and consulted at an early enough stage, 
health scrutiny bodies in collaboration with local Healthwatch, may be able to advise on 
how patients and the public can be effectively engaged and listened to. If this has 
happened, health scrutiny bodies are less likely to raise objections when consulted.  

 
4.1.3 NHS England has published good practice guidance for NHS commissioners on the 

planning and development of proposals for major service changes and 
reconfigurations.  The guidance is designed to support commissioners, working with local 
authorities and providers, to carry out effective service reconfiguration in a way that puts 
quality of care first, is clinically evidence-based and which involves patients and the 
public throughout.  It is intended to be used as a reference guide to help develop and 
implement plans in a clear and consistent way.  The guidance is available at:  
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/plan-del-serv-chge1.pdf 

 

4.2 When to consult 
4.2.1 Regulation 23 requires relevant NHS bodies and health service providers to consult a 

local authority about any proposal which they have “under consideration” for a substantial 
development of or variation in the provision of health services in the local authority’s 
area. The term “under consideration” is not defined and will depend on the facts, but a 
development or variation is unlikely to be held to be “under consideration” until a 
proposal has been developed. The consultation duty applies to any “responsible person” 
under the legislation, i.e. relevant NHS bodies and health service commissioners which 
now come under the scope of health scrutiny as described above.  

 
4.2.2 As previously, “substantial development” and “substantial variation” are not defined in the 

legislation. Many local authority scrutiny bodies and their NHS counterparts have 
developed joint protocols or memoranda of understanding about how the parties will 

Page 69



 24 

reach a view as to whether or not a proposal constitutes a “substantial development” or 
“substantial variation”. Although there is no requirement to develop such protocols it may 
be helpful for both parties to do so. The local authority may find a systematic checklist, of 
the kind often contained in such protocols, useful in reaching a view about whether a 
proposed development or variation is substantial and, for example, NHS commissioners 
may find it helpful in explaining to providers what is likely to be regarded as substantial.  

 

4.3 Who consults 
4.3.1 In the case of substantial developments or variation to services which are the 

commissioning responsibility of CCGs or NHS England, consultation is to be done by 
NHS commissioners rather than providers i.e. by the relevant CCG(s) or NHS England. 
When these providers have a development or variation “under consideration” they will 
need to inform commissioners at a very early stage so that commissioners can comply 
with the requirement to consult as soon as proposals are under consideration. 

 

4.4 Timescales for consultation 
4.4.1 The Regulations now require timescales to be provided to health scrutiny bodies and to 

be published by the proposer of substantial developments or variations, (Regulation 23). 
When consulting health scrutiny bodies on substantial developments or variations, a 
relevant NHS body or health service provider is required by the Regulations to notify the 
health scrutiny body of the date by which it requires the health scrutiny body to provide 
comments in response to the consultation and the date by which it intends to make a 
decision as to whether to proceed with the proposal17. These dates must also be 
published. This is so that local patients and communities are aware of the timescales that 
are being followed. Any changes to these dates must be notified to the relevant health 
scrutiny body and published. Constructive dialogue between relevant NHS bodies and 
health service providers on the one hand, and health scrutiny bodies on the other, when 
communicating on timescales for comments or decisions in relation to substantial 
developments or variations should help ensure that timescales are realistic and 
achievable. 

 
4.4.2 It is sensible for health scrutiny to be able to receive details about the outcome of public 

consultation before it makes its response so that the response can be informed by 
patient and public opinion.  

 

4.5 When consultation is not required 
4.5.1 The Regulations set out certain proposals on which consultation with health scrutiny is 

not required. These are: 
 

• Where the relevant NHS body or health service commissioner believes that a decision 
has to be taken without allowing time for consultation because of a risk to safety or 
welfare of patients or staff (this might for example cover the situation where a ward 
needs to close immediately because of a viral outbreak) – in such cases the NHS body 
or health service provider must notify the local authority that consultation will not take 
place and the reason for this. 

                                            
17 Government guidance on consultation principles was published in July 2012 (see references). 

Page 70



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 25 

• Where there is a proposal to establish or dissolve or vary the constitution of a CCG or 
establish or dissolve an NHS trust, unless the proposal involves a substantial 
development or variation.   

• Where proposals are part of a trusts special administrator’s report or draft report (i.e. 
when a trust has financial difficulties and is being run by an administration put in place by 
the Secretary of State) – these are required to be the subject of a separate 30-day 
community-wide consultation. 

 

4.6 Responses to consultation  
4.6.1 Where a health scrutiny body has been consulted by a relevant NHS body or health 

service provider on substantial developments or variations, the health scrutiny body has 
the power to make comments on the proposals by the date (or changed date) notified by 
the body or provider undertaking the consultation. Having considered the proposals and 
local evidence, health scrutiny bodies should normally respond in writing to the body 
undertaking the consultation and when commenting would need to keep within the 
timescale specified by them.  

 
4.6.2 Where a health scrutiny’s body’s comments include a recommendation and the 

consulting organisation disagrees with that recommendation, that organisation must 
notify the health scrutiny body of the disagreement. Both the consulting organisation and 
the health scrutiny body must take such steps as are reasonably practicable to try to 
reach agreement. Where NHS England or a clinical commissioning group is acting on 
behalf of a provider, in accordance with the Regulations, as mentioned above, the health 
scrutiny body and NHS England or the CCG (as the case may be) must involve the 
provider in the steps they are taking to try to reach agreement.    

 
4.6.3 Where a health scrutiny body has not commented on the proposal or has commented but 

without making a recommendation, it must notify the consulting organisation as to its 
decision as to whether to refer the matter to the Secretary of State and if so, the date by 
which it proposes to make the referral or the date by which it will make a decision on 
whether to refer the matter to the Secretary of State. 

 

4.7 Referrals to the Secretary of State 
4.7.1 Local authorities may refer proposals for substantial developments or variations to the 

Secretary of State in certain circumstances outlined below. The circumstances remain 
largely the same as in previous legislation. 

 
4.7.2 The new Regulations set out certain information and evidence that are to be provided to 

the Secretary of State and the steps that must be taken before a referral can be made.  
On receiving a referral from a local authority, overview and scrutiny committee, joint 
committee or sub-committee, the Secretary of State may ask for advice from the 
Independent Reconfiguration Panel (IRP), an advisory non-departmental public body. 
The new Regulations do not affect the position of the IRP. The IRP will undertake an 
initial assessment of any referral to the Secretary of State for Health where its advice is 
requested. It may then be asked to carry out a full review. Not all referrals to the 
Secretary of State for Health will automatically be reviewed in full by the IRP – this is at 
the Secretary of State’s discretion. The IRP has published a summary of its views on 
what can be learned from the referrals it has received and the reviews it has undertaken 
from the perspective both of the NHS and of health scrutiny. The IRP also offers pre-

Page 71



 26 

consultation advice and support to NHS and other interested bodies on the development 
of local proposals for reconfiguration or significant service change - including advice and 
support on methods for public engagement and formal public consultation. 
 
Relevant NHS bodies, health service providers and local authority scrutiny may also find 
it helpful to read its report on the Safe and Sustainable review of children’s heart surgery, 
the first national reconfiguration proposal referred to the IRP, whose recommendations 
were accepted by the Secretary of State (see references). 

 
4.7.3 The powers under the previous Regulations to refer matters relating to NHS foundation 

trusts to Monitor have been removed, as this was not considered appropriate to the role 
of Monitor and the new licensing regime. 

 
Circumstances for referral 
4.7.4 The circumstances for referral of a proposed substantial development or variation remain 

the same as in previous legislation. That is, where a health scrutiny body has been 
consulted by a relevant NHS body or health service provider on a proposed substantial 
development or variation, it may report to the Secretary of State in writing if: 

 
• It is not satisfied with the adequacy of content of the consultation. 
• It is not satisfied that sufficient time has been allowed for consultation.18 
• It considers that the proposal would not be in the interests of the health service in its 

area. 
• It has not been consulted, and it is not satisfied that the reasons given for not carrying 

out consultation are adequate. 
 
4.7.5 However, there are certain limits on the circumstances in which a health scrutiny bodies 
may refer a proposal to the Secretary of State.   
 
In particular, where a health scrutiny body has made a recommendation and the relevant NHS 
body or health service provider has disagreed with the recommendation, the health scrutiny 
body may not refer a proposal unless: 

• it is satisfied that reasonably practicable steps have been taken to try to reach agreement 
(with steps taken to involve the provider where NHS England or a CCG is acting on the 
provider’s behalf) but agreement has not been reached within a reasonable time; or 

• it is satisfied that the relevant NHS body or health service provider has failed to take 
reasonably practicable steps to try to reach agreement within a reasonable period. 

 
In a case where a health scrutiny body has not commented on the proposal or has commented 
without making a recommendation, the health scrutiny body may not refer a proposal unless: 

• It has informed the relevant NHS body or health service provider of- 
• its decision as to whether to exercise its power of referral and, if applicable, the 

date by which it proposed to exercise that power, or 
• the date by which  it proposes to make a decision as to whether to exercise its 

power of referral.   
 

• In a situation where it informed the relevant NHS body or health service provider of the 
date by which it proposed to decide whether to exercise the power of referral, it has 
made that decision by that date and informed the body or provider of the decision. 

                                            
18 The referral power in the context of inadequate consultation only relates to the consultation with the local 
authority, and not consultation with other stakeholders.  

Page 72



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 27 

 
Who makes the referral? 
4.7.6 Where a local authority has a health overview and scrutiny committee (e.g. under section 

9F of the Local Government Act 2000, as amended by the Localism Act 2011) as the 
means of discharging its health scrutiny functions, the health overview and scrutiny 
committee may exercise the power of referral on behalf of the local authority where this 
has been delegated to it. The power of referral may also be delegated to an overview 
and scrutiny committee of another local authority in certain circumstances (Regulation 
28). Where a local authority has retained the health scrutiny function for the full council to 
exercise, or where it has delegated some health scrutiny functions, but not the power of 
referral to a committee, the full council would make the referral.  

 
4.7.7 Where a local authority has established an alternative mechanism to discharge its health 

scrutiny functions, such as delegation to a committee, sub-committee or another local 
authority under section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972, the referral power cannot 
be delegated to that committee, sub-committee or other local authority but must instead 
be exercised by the local authority as a function of the full council (or delegated to an 
overview and scrutiny as above, although local authorities would need to consider the 
appropriateness of separate delegation to an overview and scrutiny committee in such 
circumstances)19.   

 
4.7.8 Where a local authority is participating in a joint overview and scrutiny committee (JOSC) 

(see pages 14-15), who makes the referral will depend on whether the power to refer has 
been delegated to the joint committee or retained by the local authority.   

 
4.7.9 The following applies to both discretionary joint committees (i.e. where councils have 

chosen to appoint the joint committee to carry out specified functions) and mandatory 
joint committees (i.e. where councils have been required under Regulation 30 to appoint 
a joint committee because a local NHS body or health service provider is consulting more 
than one local authority’s health scrutiny function about substantial reconfiguration 
proposals):  

 
• Where the power to refer has been delegated to the joint committee, only the joint 

committee may make a referral. 
• Where the power to refer has not been delegated to the joint committee, the individual 

authorities that have appointed the joint committee (or health overview and scrutiny 
committees or sub-committees to whom the power has been delegated) may make a 
referral. 

 
4.7.10 In the case of either mandatory or discretionary JOSCs, where individual authorities have 

retained the power to refer, they should ensure that they are in a position to satisfy the 
relevant requirements under Regulation 23 to include certain explanations and evidence 
with the referral. They should also ensure that they can demonstrate compliance with the 
conditions set out in Regulation 23(10), bearing in mind that in the case of a mandatory 
JOSC, only that JOSC may make comments to the consulting body and that, where the 
JOSC makes a recommendation which is disagreed with by the consulting body, certain 
requirements have to be satisfied before a referral can be made.  

 
Information and evidence to be sent to Secretary of State 

                                            
19 See Regulation 29. 

Page 73



 28 

4.7.11 When making a referral to the Secretary of State, certain information and evidence must 
be included. Health scrutiny will be expected to provide very clear evidence-based 
reasons for any referral to the Secretary of State. These requirements are new since the 
previous Regulations, so they are given here in full. Referrals must now include: 

 
• An explanation of the proposal to which the report relates. 
• An explanation of the reasons for making the referral. 
• Evidence in support of these reasons.  
• Where the proposal is referred because of inadequate consultation, the reasons why the 

health scrutiny body is not satisfied of its adequacy. 
• Where the proposal is referred because there was no consultation for reasons relating to 

safety or welfare of patients or staff, reasons why the health scrutiny body is not satisfied 
that the reasons given for lack of consultation are adequate. 

• Where the health scrutiny body believes that proposals are not in the interests of the 
health service in its area, a summary of the evidence considered, including any evidence 
of the effect or potential effect of the proposal on the sustainability or otherwise of the 
health service in the area. 

• An explanation of any steps that the health scrutiny body has taken to try to reach 
agreement with the relevant NHS body or health service provider. 

• Evidence that the health scrutiny body has complied with the requirements which apply 
where a recommendation has been made. 

• Evidence that the health scrutiny body has complied with the requirements which apply 
where a recommendation has not been made, or where no comments have been 
provided on the proposal. 

4.7.12 The terms of reference of the IRP, in assessing proposals and providing advice to the 
Secretary of State, are to consider whether the proposals will provide safe, sustainable 
and accessible services for the local population. Referrals to the Secretary of State and 
information provided by consulting bodies when consulting health scrutiny will, therefore 
be most helpful if they directly address each of these issues.  

 
  

Page 74



Local Authority Health Scrutiny 

 29 

5. References and useful links 
 

5.1 Relevant legislation and policy 
 

• Department of Health (2013), The NHS Constitution: the NHS belong to us all: 
http://www.nhs.uk/choiceintheNHS/Rightsandpledges/NHSConstitution/Documents/2013/
the-nhs-constitution-for-england-2013.pdf 

 
• Department of Health (2012), The Mandate: A mandate from the Government to the NHS 

Commissioning Board: April 2013 to March 2015: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213131/m
andate.pdf 

 
• Government guidance on consultation principles (2012): 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance 
 

• Health and Social Care Act 2001, sections 7 – 10: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2001/15/contents  
 

• Health and Social Care Act 2012, sections 190 – 192: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents 
 

• Local Government Act 2000:  
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/contents 

 
• The Localism Act 2011: 

 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted 
 

• National Health Service Act 2006, sections 244 – 245: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/41/contents  

 
• Statutory Instrument No. 2013/218 The Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 

Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/218/contents/made  

 

5.2 Useful reading 
 

• Centre for Public Scrutiny (2013): Spanning the system: broader horizons for council 
scrutiny (based on health scrutiny work on the health reforms in 14 local authority areas): 
http://cfps.org.uk/domains/cfps.org.uk/local/media/downloads/L13_19_CfPSspanning_th
e_system__web.pdf 

 
• Centre for Public Scrutiny (2012): Local Healthwatch, health and wellbeing boards and 

health scrutiny: roles, relationships and adding value: 
http://cfps.org.uk/domains/cfps.org.uk/local/media/downloads/L12_693_CFPS_Healthwat
ch_and_Scrutiny_final_for_web.pdf 

 

Page 75



 30 

• Centre for Public Scrutiny (2011), Peeling the Onion, learning, tips and tools from the 
DH-funded Health Inequalities Scrutiny Programme: 
http://politiquessociales.net/IMG/pdf/CfPSPeelingonionfin_1_1_.pdf 

 
• Centre for Public Scrutiny (2007): Ten questions to ask if you’re assessing evidence: 

http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=209&offset=150 
 

• Independent Reconfiguration Panel (2010): Learning from Reviews: 
http://www.irpanel.org.uk/lib/doc/learning%20from%20reviews3%20pdf.pdf 

 
• Independent Reconfiguration Panel (2013): Advice on Safe and Sustainable proposals 

for children’s heart services: 
http://www.irpanel.org.uk/lib/doc/000%20s&s%20report%2030.04.13.pdf 

 
• Institute of Health Equity (2008), Fair Society, Healthy Lives (the Marmot report): 

http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-
review  
 

• LGA and ADSO (2012), Health and wellbeing boards: a practical guide to governance 
and constitutional issues: 
http://www.local.gov.uk/c/document_library/get_file?uuid=ca8437aa-742c-4209-827c-
996afa9583ca&groupId=10171 
 

• NHS England’s guidance on the duty to involve (2013): Transforming Participation in 
Health and Care - http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/trans-part-hc-
guid1.pdf  
 

• NHS England (2013): Planning and Delivering Service Change for Patients - 
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/plan-del-serv-chge1.pdf 

 
 

 

Page 76



 

Page | 1 

APPENDIX 2 
 

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)  
 

HEALTH SERVICE DEVELOPMENTS WORKING GROUP 
 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
1.0 Background 
 

1.1 The Health and Social Care Act (2012) reinforced the duty of NHS Commissioners 
and Service Providers to make arrangements to involve and consult patients and the 
public in: 

 

 Planning service provision; 

 The development of proposals for changes; and,  

 Decisions about changes to the operation of services. 
 
1.2 The requirement to consult on service changes and/or developments, also includes 

a duty to consult local authorities (through the health overview and scrutiny function) 
where any proposal is under consideration for: 

 

 a substantial (major) development of the health service; or, 

 a substantial (major) variation in the provision of such a service in the local 
authorities area. 

 
1.3 The Department of Health guidance, ‘Local Authority Health Scrutiny’ (June 2014) 

also states that, as commissioners or providers of public health services and as 
providers of health services to the NHS, services commissioned or provided by local 
authorities are themselves within the scope of the health scrutiny legislation and 
therefore subject to the same requirements as NHS commissioners and service 
providers. 
 

1.4 Leeds City Council currently delegates its health scrutiny function to the Scrutiny 
Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) to discharge on its behalf. 

 
2.0 Scope 
 

2.1 The levels of service variation and/or development are not specifically defined in 
legislation and it is widely acknowledged the term ‘substantial variation or 
development of health services’ is subjective. 
 

2.2 However, to help achieve some degree of consistency, the Centre for Public 
Scrutiny (CfPS) had published a scrutiny guide, Major Variations and Developments 
of Health Services, in December 2005.  Based on this guidance, and through 
discussions with local NHS partners, locally developed definitions and stages of 
have been adopted.  These have been refined over time and are detailed in Annex A 
and summarised in Table 1.   
 

2.3 The overall purpose of the working group is to offer an environment that allows early 
engagement with the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) regarding 
proposed developments and/or changes to local health services; allowing local NHS 
commissioners and service providers to have an on-going dialogue in this regard. 
 

2.4 The working group also provides an opportunity for members of the Scrutiny Board 
(Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) to consider progress of previously discussed 
proposals. 
 
 

Page 77



 

Page | 2 

 

Table 1: Assessment framework for proposed service changes / reconfigurations.   

DEGREE OF PROPOSED SERVICE CHANGE / VARIATION  
INVOLVEMENT OF 

HOSCs 

Category 4 – Substantial or Major variation or development 

Introduction of a new service, proposed service reconfiguration – 

changing how/where and when large scale services are delivered.  

CONSULT 

(RED) 

Category 3 – Significant variation or development 

Change in demand for specific services or modernisation of 

services, changing provider of existing service, pathway redesign 

impacting on a wide range of people 

ENGAGE  

(ORANGE) 

Category 2 – minor change 

Proposals made based on routine patient/ service user feedback 

or activity, proposal to extend or reduce opening hours 

ADVISE 

(YELLOW) 

Category 1 – ongoing operational change 

Identified need for modernisation with no / minimal impact on how, 

where and when patients access services.  Changes to support / 

administration services and other non-patient facing parts of a 

pathway.  

INFORM 

(GREEN) 

 
2.5 The role of the working group can be summarised as follows: 
 

 To consider, at an early stage, any future proposals for new service changes 
and/or developments of local health services. 

 To consider and recommend the appropriate category of variation (i.e. 
Substantial (Major), Significant, Minor or Operational changes), which in turn will 
determine the level of public engagement and involvement. 

 To consider whether or not relevant plans for public engagement and 
involvement are appropriate and appear satisfactory1. 

 To maintain an overview of progress associated with ongoing service change 
proposals and associated public engagement and involvement activity, including 
details of any stakeholder feedback and how this is being used to further 
develop the proposals. 

 To review the implementation of any agreed service change and/or 
development, including any subsequent service user feedback (as determined 
by the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles)). 

 To refer any matters of significant concern to the full Scrutiny Board (Adults, 
Health and Active Lifestyles), for further consideration. 

 
2.6 It should be recognised that the statutory duty to consider any substantial (major) 

service changes or developments remains the responsibility of the Scrutiny Board 
(Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles).  As such, any substantial (major) service 
changes and/or developments identified (i.e. category 4) will automatically be 
referred to the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) for 
consideration.   

 
2.7 Where a substantial service change and/or development is identified, the view of the 

working group will usefully inform the deliberation of the Scrutiny Board (Adults, 
Health and Active Lifestyles) when considering such matters.  
 
 

                                            
1  The aim of early engagement is to allow early discussions and agreement regarding the proposed degree of 

variation, prior to the commencement of any patient and public engagement and involvement activity 

Page 78



 

Page | 3 

Health and Care Act 2022 
 

2.8 The Health and Care Act 2022 is likely to impact on the Council’s future health 
scrutiny function.  The introduction of new Secretary of State intervention powers 
associated with substantial service reconfigurations across the NHS is specifically 
relevant.   
 

2.9 Under the Health and Care Act 2022, the duty remains for NHS bodies to consult 
local authorities (through the health overview and scrutiny function) where 
substantial reconfiguration proposals are under consideration.   
 

2.10 There is existing provision for the local authority (delegated to the Scrutiny Board 
(Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles)) to make formal referrals to the Secretary of 
State where those proposals are not considered to be in the interest of local health 
services and/or it is deemed that insufficient consultation has taken place with the 
Scrutiny Board.   
 

2.11 It is expected that the new Secretary of State intervention powers will supersede the 
local authority’s existing referral power.  Nonetheless, on a practical level, it is 
anticipated that the new Secretary of State intervention powers will not be introduced 
until April 2023, with the existing power of referral remaining in place during this 
transitional period.   
 

2.12 Such arrangements may require transitional government guidance.  The Scrutiny 
Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) will continue to be kept up-to-date with 
further developments, including any associated guidance, as they progress.  Any 
such guidance will be considered alongside these terms of reference to guide the 
work and operation of the Health Service Developments Working Group.   

 
3.0 Frequency of meetings 
 

3.1 The working group will meet on an ad-hoc basis as the need arises 
 

3.2 It should be noted that the duty to engage with the Scrutiny Board (and the 
associated working group) remains the responsibility of:  
 

 NHS commissioners and service providers; and, 

 The local authority in its role as commissioner or provider of public health 
services and as provider of health services to the NHS. 

 
4.0 Membership 
 

4.1 The membership of the working group will be drawn from the membership of the 
Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles). 
 

4.2 The quorum of any working group meetings will be the Chair (or the Chair’s 
nominee) plus a minimum of two other members from the Scrutiny Board (Adults, 
Health and Active Lifestyles). 
 

4.3 There will be a minimum of two political groups represented at any working group 
meeting. 

 
5.0 Key stakeholders  
 

5.1 The following key stakeholders have been identified as indicative contributors to the 
working group: 

 

 NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group 

Page 79



 

Page | 4 

 Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust (LTHT) 

 Leeds and York Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (LYPFT) 

 Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust (LCH) 

 Director of Adult and Health (or nominee) 

 Director of Public Health (or nominee) 
 
6.0 Monitoring arrangements  
 

6.1 The Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) will be kept fully updated 
on the work and activity of the working group. 

 
 

 
June 2022  

 

Page 80



ANNEX A 
 

 

Definitions of reconfiguration proposals and stages of engagement/consultation 

Definition & examples 
of potential proposals 

Stages of involvement, engagement, consultation 

 
Informal Involvement Engagement Formal consultation 
 

Substantial (major) 
variation or 
development 
Substantial service 
reconfiguration – 
changing how/where and 
when large scale services 
are delivered.  Examples: 
urgent care, community 
health centre services, 
introduction of a new 
service. 

 

 

 

Category 4: 
Consult 
Formal 
consultation 
required (minimum 
twelve weeks) 
 
(RED) 

Significant variation or 
development  
Change in demand for 
specific services or 
modernisation of service.  
Examples: changing 
provider of existing 
services, pathway 
redesign when the 
service could be needed 
by wide range of people 

  Category 3: 
Engage 
Formal mechanisms 
established to 
ensure that 
patients/service 
users/ carers and 
the public are 
engaged in planning 
and decision making 
 
(ORANGE) 

 

Minor change  
Proposals made as a 
result of routine 
patient/service user 
feedback.  Examples: 
proposal to extend or 
reduce opening hours  
 

 Category 2: 
Advise 
More formalised 
structures in place 
to ensure that 
patients/ service 
users/ carers and 
patient groups 
views on the issue 
and potential 
solutions are 
sought 
 
(YELLOW) 

  

Ongoing operational 
developments  
Identified need for 
modernisation with no / 
minimal impact on how, 
where and when patients 
access services.  
Changes to support / 
administration services 
and other non-patient 
facing parts of a pathway. 

Category 1: Inform 
Informal discussions 
with individual 
patients/ service 
users/ carers and 
patient groups on 
potential need for 
changes to services 
and solutions 
 
(GREEN) 

   

 

Note: based on guidance within the Centre for Public Scrutiny Major variations and developments of health services, a guide 

O
S

C
 i
n

v
o

lv
e

d
 

O
S

C
 m

a
y
 b

e
 i
n
v
o
lv

e
d
 

Information 
& evidence 
base 

Information 
& evidence 
base 

Information 
& evidence 
base 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 

 

1 
 

 
 WEST YORKSHIRE JOINT HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE AND WORKING ARRANGEMENTS 

 
The Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 provide for local NHS bodies to consult with the 
appropriate health scrutiny committee where there are any proposed substantial 
developments or variations in the provisions of the health service in the area(s) of a 
local authority.  
 
Under the legislation health officers from NHS bodies are required to attend 
committee meetings; provide information about the planning, provisions and 
operation of health services; and must consult with the health scrutiny committee on 
any proposed substantial developments or variations in the provision of the health 
service. 
 
Where proposals to change health services cross local authority boundaries there is 
a requirement to establish a joint health committee. In Yorkshire and the Humber, a 
protocol has been established between the 15 upper tier local authorities for 
establishing a joint health scrutiny committee where proposed changes affect more 
than one local authority area. Joint health scrutiny committees may also be 
established to consider other issues of mutual interest.  
 
The chairs of the five West Yorkshire Councils health overview and scrutiny 
committees met on 21 November 2014 and agreed to pursue establishing a West 
Yorkshire Health Scrutiny Committee. The purpose of the West Yorkshire Health 
Scrutiny Committee is to; consider any proposals from the NHS for substantial 
variation in service that have West Yorkshire wide implications; to meet NHS 
England to discuss any matters with West Yorkshire wide implications; and to be the 
first place for dialogue between West Yorkshire Council’s Scrutiny Panels and West 
Yorkshire Commissioning Collaborative (known as 10CC). 
 
The West Yorkshire Health Scrutiny Committee has the following roles and functions: 
 

 To scrutinise any proposed service configuration with West Yorkshire-wide 
implications and its impact on patients and the public when constituent 
Councils have delegated these powers to the West Yorkshire Health Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 

 To meet regularly with NHS England to: 
 

- Receive updates on national developments and other matters from NHS 
England 

- To inform NHS England of common issues arising at the five West Yorkshire 
health scrutiny committees. 
 

 To receive information on service proposals and other matters from West Yorkshire 
Commissioning Collaborative (known as 10CC) 
 

Page 83



Appendix 3 

 

2 
 

 To share information on health issues from each of the local authority areas that 
may have an impact on the other local authority areas within West Yorkshire. 
 

 To undertake shared development activities from time to time. 
 
 
Working Arrangements 
 

- The West Yorkshire Health Scrutiny Committee will meet at least four times a 
year as a formal body meeting in public. 
 

- Each local authority will host one meeting a year and provide the administrative 
support to that meeting. 

 

- Each local authority will nominate two members to sit on the West Yorkshire 
Health Scrutiny Committee 

 
- The quorum for the West Yorkshire Health Scrutiny Committee will be five 

Members, with Members from at least three of the five local authorities present. 
 

- Agenda, minutes and committee papers will be published on the websites of all 
the five local authorities. 

 
 
  

Page 84



 
 

 

 

What is this report about? 
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

 

 This report provides information and guidance on potential sources of work and areas of 
priority within the Board’s terms of reference.   

 In consultation with the relevant Directors and Executive Board Members, the Scrutiny 
Board is requested to consider and discuss potential areas of Scrutiny work for the 
forthcoming municipal year.   

 

Recommendations 

Members are requested to reflect on the information and guidance provided within this report when 

considering potential areas of Scrutiny work for the forthcoming municipal year.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sources of work for the Scrutiny Board 

Date: 21 June 2022 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Steven Courtney 

Tel: 0113 3788666 

Page 85

Agenda Item 10



 
Why is the proposal being put forward?  
 

1. Scrutiny Boards are responsible for ensuring that items of scrutiny work come from a 
strategic approach as well as a need to challenge service performance and respond to 
issues of high public interest. Scrutiny is also a valuable sounding board for new policy 
initiatives and therefore such pre-decision work continues to be encouraged. 

 
2. To assist the Scrutiny Board in effectively managing its workload for the forthcoming 

municipal year, this report provides information and guidance on potential sources of work 
and areas of priority within the Board’s terms of reference.   

 
Key sources of information 
 
 Best City Ambition 

 
3. The Best City Ambition, which was adopted in February 2022, replaced the Best Council 

Plan. It sets out the long-term vision for the city with a strong emphasis on the importance 
of partnership working.  

 
4. The Best City Ambition focuses on tackling poverty and inequality, through activity that 

prioritises the three ‘pillars’ of health and wellbeing, inclusive growth and zero carbon. It 
also identifies four ‘breakthrough priorities,’ which will be the focus of cross-cutting, 
collaborative project teams.  

 

5. The Council’s approach to performance management is being reviewed following the 
adoption of the Best City Ambition in February and will therefore be a matter for 
consideration by the five Scrutiny Boards over the course of 2022/23 and beyond.   

 
6. The Best City Ambition is attached as Appendix 1 for information. 

 
 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

 

7. Health and Wellbeing is one of the three pillars within the Best City Ambition, with the 

Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy being a significant source of information in terms of 

highlighting the City’s key priorities in relation to Health and Wellbeing. 

 
8. The Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2016-2021) is therefore appended to this report 

for information (Appendix 2) 
 

9. It should be noted that plans to refresh the Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy are 
underway.  As such, the Scrutiny Board may wish to consider its involvement in this 
process too. 

 
 Performance Data 

 
10. Performance monitoring remains a key element of the Scrutiny Boards’ work and is also a 

valuable source of information to help identify potential areas that may warrant further 
scrutiny.  The most recent performance data is therefore included elsewhere on the 
agenda, providing the Board with a summary of performance against the strategic priorities 
that are relevant to the Board’s remit.  However, it should be noted that performance 
reports are subject to ongoing review following the adoption of the Best City Ambition in 
February 2022. 
 
 

Page 86



 Financial Information 
 

11. All Scrutiny Boards are consulted annually on the Council’s initial budget proposals in 
accordance with the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework.  This is undertaken in 
conjunction with a review of the in-year financial health of the authority. 

 
12. The 2022/23 budget proposals were agreed by Full Council in February 2022.  The 

Scrutiny Board may wish to consider progress against the delivery of these and therefore a 
summary of the budget proposals relevant to the remit of the Scrutiny Board (Adults, 
Health and Active Lifestyles) is provided in Appendix 3. 

 
13. Maintaining an overview of the Council’s financial health is also a key element of the 

Scrutiny Board’s work and therefore the Board may wish to receive further financial health 
updates during the municipal year.  

  
 Other sources of Scrutiny work 

 
14. Other common sources of work include requests for scrutiny, Call In requests and other 

corporate referrals. The Board is also required to be formally consulted during the 
development of key policies which form part of the council’s Budget and Policy Framework. 
 
 Planning and provision of health services  
 

15. As detailed in the Terms of Reference, the Board is allocated special responsibility to 
review, scrutinise and to make reports / recommendations on any matter relating to the 
planning, provision and operation of the health service in its area.   
 

16. Furthermore, there is also a statutory requirement for appropriate NHS bodies to formally 
consult the Scrutiny Board where substantial variation and/or development of local NHS 
services are proposed (as set out in more detail elsewhere on the agenda).    
 
Methods of working 

 
17. Each Scrutiny Board has planned to hold eight formal or ‘consultative’1 meetings 

throughout this municipal year. 
 
18. Whilst the decision to hold any additional meetings is left to the discretion of each Board, 

historically Scrutiny Boards have also adopted other methods of evidence gathering 
outside of the public meeting setting, such as site visits and working group meetings. 

 
19. Working groups comprise of a number of Members from a particular Scrutiny Board who 

may be appointed to carry out specific tasks on behalf of the Board.  Suitable tasks for a 
working group may involve Members meeting on their own (for example for the purposes 
of developing reports and recommendations in connection with an ongoing Inquiry or terms 
of reference for a future Inquiry).  Alternatively they may entail activities which cannot 
realistically be undertaken within the confines of a formally convened Scrutiny Board 
meeting. 

 
20. In all cases, the primary purpose of a working group is to obtain and/or develop information 

and to report back to a formally convened meeting of the Scrutiny Board.  A working group 
cannot discharge the primary purpose of a Scrutiny Board i.e. it cannot undertake Inquiries 
independently from its parent Scrutiny Board, conduct Inquiries, issue reports or 
recommendations (other than to its parent Scrutiny Board) or in any way  present itself to a 
third party as representing the views of the parent Scrutiny Board. 

                                                           
1 Consultative meetings are held remotely and webcasted live to enable public access.  However, they are not a public meeting 
held in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972. Page 87



 
21. As set out within the Vision for Scrutiny, the Board must also remain mindful of the 

resource implications associated with the use of site visits and working group meetings 
when determining its work programme. 

 
 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

22. The information and guidance presented within this report focuses on potential sources of 
work and areas of priority within the Scrutiny Board’s terms of reference.  This aims to 
assist Members when considering potential areas of scrutiny work for the forthcoming 
municipal year.   
 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  
 

23. In order to enable Scrutiny to focus on strategic areas of priority, it is recognised that each 
Scrutiny Board needs to establish an early dialogue with those Directors and Executive 
Board Members whose remits are aligned to that of the Scrutiny Board. The Vision for 
Scrutiny also states that Scrutiny Boards should seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the 
relevant Director and Executive Member about available resources prior to agreeing items 
of work. 

 
24. The Director of Adults and Health, the Director of Public Health and the Director of City 

Development and relevant Executive Board Members have therefore been invited to 
today’s meeting to share their views and contribute to the Board’s discussion. 

 

25. As the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) is allocated special 
responsibility to discharge the council’s statutory health scrutiny function, an invitation has 
also been extended to senior representatives of local NHS organisations.  This provides an 
opportunity for NHS partners to also share their views, contribute to the Board’s discussion 
and highlight any specific matters around the planning and provision of health services that 
should be brought to the attention of the Scrutiny Board.   

 
What are the resource implications? 
 

26. Experience has shown that the Scrutiny process is more effective and adds greater value if 
the Board seeks to minimise the number of substantial inquiries running at one time and 
focus its resources on one key issue at a time.    

 
27. The Vision for Scrutiny2, agreed by full Council, also recognises that like all other Council 

functions, resources to support the Scrutiny function are under considerable pressure and 
that requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always be met.  Consequently, when 
establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should: 

 

 Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member 
about available resources; 
 

                                                           
2 This forms part of Article 6 within the Council Constitution. 

Wards affected: All 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☐No 

 

Page 88



 Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already having 
oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue; 
 

 Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add value 
and can be delivered within an agreed time frame. 

 
What are the legal implications?  
 

28. This report has no specific legal implications. 
 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 
 

29. There are no risk management implications relevant to this report. 
  
 

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars? 
 

☒ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☒ Climate Emergency 

 
30. The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward looking 

Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council objectives. 
  

Appendices 
 

31. Appendix 1 – Leeds Best City Ambition. 
 
32. Appendix 2 – Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2016 – 2021)  
 
33. Appendix 3 – Approved 2022/23 budget proposals relevant to the remit of the Scrutiny 

Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles).  
 

Background papers 
 

34. None. 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Leeds  

Best City Ambition 

Tackling Poverty and Inequality 

Health and Wellbeing ● Inclusive Growth ● Zero Carbon

Appendix 1

Page 91



Introduction 

The Best City Ambition is our overall vision for the future of Leeds. 

At its heart is our mission to tackle poverty and inequality and improve quality 

of life for everyone who calls Leeds home. 

We will achieve our mission by focusing on improving outcomes across the Three Pillars 

of the Best City Ambition 

1. Health and Wellbeing

2. Inclusive Growth

3. Zero Carbon

The Three Pillars capture the things that will make the biggest difference to improving 

people’s lives in Leeds – and many of the big challenges we face and the best 

opportunities we have relate to all three. 

The Best City Ambition aims to help partner organisations and local communities in every 

part of Leeds to understand and support the valuable contribution everyone can offer – no 

matter how big or small – to making Leeds the Best City in the UK.  

Page 92



Our Team Leeds Approach 

Everyone in Leeds coming together to play their part is how we will achieve our ambitions. We want 

to build Team Leeds – made up of the people who live or work here, and those who champion

the city nationally and internationally.  

Team Leeds is about supporting one another to make Leeds the best it can be. It is about sharing 

ideas and learning, working in genuine partnership, being ambitious about our collective social and 

environmental impact, and organisations sharing their resources and assets as we work towards 

common goals. 

We will continue to adopt the following ways of working to drive a Team Leeds approach: 

 Make co-production and co-design central to how we work, listening to the voices of

citizens including children and young people, building community wealth and promoting

mutual respect to strengthen our democracy and civil society.

 Ensure we have vibrant and sustainable community-based social infrastructure,

shifting power to citizens and local communities, and committing to tackle deep-rooted

and systemic inequalities including the fight for racial justice.

 Be ambitious and optimistic about the future for Leeds, looking towards the long term as

we respond to changes in our population and the impact of globalisation in a digital world

 Promote Leeds as a place where businesses and public institutions recognise their

responsibility to adopt progressive employment and procurement practices, and where

private sector leadership and investment is harnessed to tackle big social challenges.

 Strengthen our asset-based approaches and invest in prevention, recognising what

people can do rather than what they cannot and build community capacity to further

empower citizens to find their own solutions.

 Be led by the evidence, being clear about how the actions we prioritise contribute to

our goals, always thinking about our impact over the long term; and strengthening a

partnership approach to data collection, sharing and analysis, using data to provide

valuable and practical insights in guiding interventions.

 Recognise the circumstances people face at the different stages of their lives need to

shape our interventions, and the factors which make the biggest difference to health lie

outside of healthcare; therefore putting these social and economic factors at the centre of

our responses is crucial – as highlighted by our intention to become a Marmot City.

 Be innovative, creative and foster a learning culture, working with communities,

businesses, partners and educators to try new approaches and ideas, and learn from the

best examples globally, in pursuit of our shared goals.

 Learning from the success of the Inclusive Anchors Network – which brings together the

largest organisations in Leeds to think about their collective impact – work with the third sector

to further develop the network of Community Anchors so vital in pursuing our ambition in

local communities and develop plans to attract increased investment into social

entrepreneurship to meet specific city challenges.

Page 93



The 3 Pillars of our Best City Ambition 

 

 

One: Health and Wellbeing 

 

In 2030 Leeds will be a healthy and caring city for everyone: where those who are most likely 

to experience poverty improve their mental and physical health the fastest, people are living 

healthy lives for longer, and are supported to thrive from early years to later life. 

 

To realise this ambition, Team Leeds will focus on: 

 

 Investing to ensure better and more equal access to essential services in health and learning, 

developed with and accessible for every community across Leeds. 

 

 Ensuring children in all areas of the city have the best start in life and enjoy a healthy, happy and 

friendly childhood. 

 

 Delivering a safe and welcoming city for people of all ages and from all communities in which 

residents feel more secure and have good friends. 

 

 Enabling every community in the city to have safe connected spaces, streets and paths to access 

a local park or green space, providing somewhere to be active and to play, helping to improve 

mental and physical health across all ages.  

 

 Working with housing providers, landlords, tenants and communities to improve poor quality 

housing, so everyone can have a home which supports good health, wellbeing and educational 

outcomes.  

 

 

Two: Inclusive Growth 
 

In 2030 Leeds will have an economy that works for everyone, where we work to tackle poverty 

and ensure that the benefits of economic growth are distributed fairly across the city, creating 

opportunities for all. 

 

To realise this ambition, Team Leeds will focus on: 

 

 Ensuring young people and those changing career in later life have the skills and job 

opportunities which enable them to realise their potential and thrive. 

 

 Our businesses and social enterprises being innovative, creative, ambitious and connected 

to the local community they are in, with access to the skills they need to boost productivity 

and succeed. 

 

 Understanding that place matters, and positive identity, culture, heritage and pride in our 

communities are vital assets in a sustainable future for the city and its local centres. 

 

 Growing cross-city research capacity and making Leeds a test bed for innovation and new 

technologies, including in healthcare and the delivery of a just transition to net zero.  

 

Page 94



 Leeds being an outward looking global city with our people and businesses operating on the

world stage, mindful of our impact on the planet and addressing the biggest societal

challenges of our time, and where we welcome inward investors that share our values.

Three: Zero Carbon 

In 2030 Leeds will have made rapid progress towards carbon neutrality, reducing our 

impact on the planet and doing so in a fair way which improves standards of living in all the 

city’s communities. 

To realise this ambition, Team Leeds will focus on: 

 Delivering a low-carbon and affordable transport network which encourages people to be
physically active and reduces reliance on the private car, helping people get around the city
easily and safely.

 Promoting a fair and sustainable food system in which more produce is grown locally, and
everyone can enjoy a healthy diet.

 Addressing the challenges of housing quality and affordability, tackling fuel poverty and
creating vibrant places where residents have close access to services and amenities.

 Joining with local communities, landowners and partners to protect nature and enhance
habitats for wildlife.

 Investing in our public spaces, green and blue infrastructure to enable faster transition to a
green economy while improving quality of life for residents.

Page 95



Team Leeds Breakthrough Priorities

In Leeds, we have successfully adopted a partnership-based approach to tackling some big 

challenges. These efforts have focused on issues that could not be addressed by any single 

organisation alone, often under the banner of ‘breakthrough’ projects or priorities. A good example 

of this approach is the creation of a single, co-ordinated approach to domestic violence cases in 

Leeds – where more than 15 agencies now work closely together on a daily basis to share 

information, plan and co-ordinate actions to protect victims and those at risk.  

The Best City Ambition provides an opportunity to reinvigorate this way of working to respond to 

some of the biggest challenges Leeds faces today.  This approach can help to strengthen partnership 

working and focus on measurable progress to improve outcomes, drawing on the collective skills, 

knowledge and innovation of people, organisations and communities from all parts of Leeds. 

To ensure we can invest the time and resources needed to make a meaningful difference, the 

number of Breakthrough Priorities will be limited and bring together teams drawn from across 

organisations and communities.  

The first set of priorities will focus on: 

 Green Jobs – working with business and educators, focusing on pathways through

education and training to employment in low carbon jobs.

 Learning Outcomes – working with early years providers, schools, colleges, universities

and employers to improve outcomes and close the attainment gap particularly for

disadvantaged children and young people, learning from what has worked in the city and

elsewhere.

 Mental Health – working with communities and health partners to help people in Leeds stay

in good mental health and prevent the need for support from acute NHS mental health

services – especially thinking about the longer-term effects of the Covid-19 pandemic.

 Healthy Housing – working with the NHS, third sector, developers, private-sector landlords,

housing associations and tenants to focus on the vital role housing plays in the health and

wellbeing of individuals, families and communities, and how our approach to housing in

Leeds can help to reduce pressure on social care.

Diverse groups of people drawn from all sectors and all parts of Leeds will come together to work on 

these priorities, with Community Committees and Local Care Partnerships, alongside community 

representatives, providing a connection to their places within the city. 

Page 96



The Big Challenges facing Leeds 
 

 

Like every large city in the UK, Leeds is always responding to a range of complex challenges and 

the Best City Ambition sets out how we will do that.  

 

Here we summarise what some of those big challenges are, informed by conversations with citizens 

and partners as well as from recent research and analysis through the Leeds Joint Strategic 

Assessment.  

 

The challenges are a key starting point for the development of the Best City Ambition. We have 

developed a Life-Course approach to the challenges, meaning we consider the biggest issues at 

each stage of a person’s life from early years to older age, whilst also ensuring we cover the Three 

Pillars of the ambition. 

 

Starting Well 
 

 Close educational attainment gaps between most and least advantaged young people, 

against the legacy of Covid-19 disruption and the population profile of children and young 

people becoming more diverse and focused in communities most likely to experience 

poverty. 

 

 Ensure coherent post-16 education and skills provision for the ‘bulge’ cohorts now 

beginning to go through secondary school. 

 

Living Well – Health and Wellbeing 
 

 Break the link between poverty and inequality, and poor health and wellbeing 

outcomes, exacerbated by the pandemic - from prevention and enabling of more healthy 

and active living, to tackling wider determinants such as employment, education, housing 

and the environment, and improving access to health and care. 

 

 Respond to the mental health crisis which deepened during the pandemic, particularly 

affecting young adults and women; shielding older adults; adults with pre-existing mental 

health conditions, and Black, Asian and ethnic minority adults. 

 

Living Well – Thriving Communities 
 

 Ensure the sustainability, self-reliance, and resilience of our communities through 

meaningful community engagement and embracing the critical importance of community 

assets and good personal connections in helping people and communities to build resilience 

and respond to the challenges they face. 

 

 Address challenges of housing quality and affordability against the trends of rising 

housing costs and the concentration of older poor quality housing in low income communities, 

combined with the significant expansion of the private rented sector in inner city areas. 

 

Living Well – Climate Change 
 

 Make significant progress towards our ambitious net zero carbon target focusing on: 

improving energy efficiency, promoting healthy and sustainable diets, and prioritising active 

travel with walking and cycling as an easy and first choice. 

Page 97

https://observatory.leeds.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/JSA-Summary-Report-Oct-21-FINAL-1-1.pdf
https://observatory.leeds.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/JSA-Summary-Report-Oct-21-FINAL-1-1.pdf


 

 Ensure a public transport system that is safe, active, accessible, clean and energy-

efficient to help people get around the city. 

 

Working Well – Inclusive Growth 
 

 Equip people and businesses with skills and life-long learning which enable them to 

realise their potential and renew their skills-needs as the world of work continues to change 

and our workforce ages. 

 

 Ensure economic growth and opportunity is widely distributed across all communities 

and areas of the city, against a backdrop of accelerated changes in working practices and 

potential changes to the economic geography of the city post-pandemic. 

 

Ageing Well 

 

 Designing accessible neighbourhoods with quality services nearby to enable our aging 

population to thrive while it is becoming more diverse, with a changing socio-economic 

profile, house-ownership less dominant, people working longer over a more varied career 

pattern, and with carers themselves become older.  

 

 Close the stark gaps in healthy life expectancy and premature mortality between different 

areas of the city against the backdrop of a more diverse ageing population, recognising the 

role a healthy and active lifestyle can play in keeping people well for longer. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 98



Achieving our Ambition: Strategies, Partners and Evidence 
 

 

The Best City Ambition aims to help partner organisations and local communities in every part of 

Leeds to understand the contribution they can make to achieving our shared goals – working 

together as Team Leeds.  

 

To support everyone’s efforts, keep and ensure that together we can deliver real progress for people 

in Leeds, we now need to: 

 

 Refresh key strategies and plans on an ongoing basis so they fully reflect and progress the 

Best City Ambition. 

 Draw on the reviews of Locality Working and Neighbourhoods and Communities, to work with 

Community Committees, Local Care Partnerships and other key stakeholders to ensure the 

Ambition is meaningful at a local level and rooted in Leeds communities, guiding prioritisation 

and interventions. 

 Continue to develop a broader, more consistent evidence-base to both inform interventions 
and monitor their impact. 

 

Leeds already benefits from strong networks and partnerships, some which have a city-wide remit 

while others are more focused on specific geographical communities or groups of people. These 

partnerships will have a key part to play, so together we will ensure their role in supporting the Best 

City Ambition is clear, and that different partnership groups are connecting as needed. 

 

The breadth and diversity of our city partnerships is a big strength – one that enables more 

people from a wider range of backgrounds to contribute. Continuing to find ways to work with citizens 

from different backgrounds in new and innovative ways is crucial to our ambition, especially ensuring 

the voices of people with lived experience of our big challenges are heard. 

 

We will review existing city strategies in response to the Best City Ambition guided by the Three 

Pillars and aim, over time, to reduce the overall number of strategies so we can better join up our 

actions and focus effort on what will make the biggest difference to people’s lives.  

 

An important part of this will involve updating how we measure the outcomes of the work Team 

Leeds does, as we strengthen our understanding of Leeds and the way our communities are 

changing. Our new tool, the Leeds Social Progress Index, will provide new capability to track the 

impact of our interventions and highlight the social and environmental wellbeing of our citizens and 

communities.  

 

The data and analysis underpinning these assessments of progress will be made public on the Leeds 

Observatory (https://observatory.leeds.gov.uk/) whenever possible so is available to anyone who 

can benefit from its use.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 99

https://observatory.leeds.gov.uk/


Propositions to Government 

 

This Best City Ambition sets out our overall vision for the future of Leeds and how we will need to 

come together as Team Leeds to achieve our ambitions. Clearly, we will need to work with 

partners beyond the city, including our neighbouring local authorities, private sector investors and 

the West Yorkshire Combined Authority.  It will also be vital to engage with Government in 

working towards these goals.  The Best City Ambition and the supporting Three Pillars of health 

and wellbeing, inclusive growth and zero carbon provide a framework with which existing and 

future discussions with Government can be framed, developed and refined, clearly articulating our 

vision and enabling us to make a strong case for the city and its potential.  

 

Within the overarching vision which the Ambition sets out there will be opportunities to pursue 

more specific aims, both responding reactively to opportunities to bring new resources or 

investment into Leeds and seeking to influence national policy to support our shared goals. To 

strengthen Leeds’ position further in doing this, the Ambition will provide a framework to now work 

with partners across all sectors to develop a series of Leeds-based propositions to 

Government. These should capture the biggest opportunities here and now, being clear about 

how what we propose supports national social and economic progress, as well as advancing our 

own ambitions for Leeds. 

  

Page 100



Leeds  

Best City Ambition 
 

Focus 2022/23 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 101



One: Health and Wellbeing 

 

In 2030 Leeds will be a healthy and caring city for everyone: where those who are most likely 

to experience poverty improve their mental and physical health the fastest, people are living 

healthy lives for longer, and are supported to thrive from early years to later life. 

 

To realise this ambition, Team Leeds will focus on: 

 

 Investing to ensure better and more equal access to essential services in health and learning, 

developed with and accessible for every community across Leeds. 

 

 Ensuring children in all areas of the city have the best start in life and enjoy a healthy, happy and 

friendly childhood. 

 

 Delivering a safe and welcoming city for people of all ages and from all communities in which 

residents feel more secure and have good friends. 

 

 Enabling every community in the city to have safe connected spaces, streets and paths to access 

a local park or green space, providing somewhere to be active and to play, helping to improve 

mental and physical health across all ages.  

 

 Working with housing providers, landlords, tenants and communities to improve poor quality 

housing, so everyone can have a home which supports good health, wellbeing and educational 

outcomes.  

 

Background to our Ambition 
 

Leeds has strong foundations to deliver excellent health and wellbeing, with a track record of health 

innovation, well-established system leadership, and assets like parks and green spaces which 

provide people with the opportunity to lead healthy lives. However, systemic social, economic and 

environmental inequalities mean that health outcomes vary significantly across Leeds, with people 

in the most disadvantaged parts of the city worst affected and inequalities being worsened further 

by the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. The pandemic highlighted more strongly than ever before 

the impact wider issues like housing, education and digital connectivity can have on health and 

wellbeing. Addressing these is key to improving the health of those most likely to experience poverty 

the fastest, and is why Leeds plans to become a Marmot City – that is, a city accelerating its work to 

tackle these social determinants of health, working to the principles established in the 2010 Marmot 

Review: Fair Society, Healthy Lives. 

 

The collective response to the pandemic in Leeds showcased the vibrant network of community-

based social infrastructure we have – the people, groups and organisations who kept people fed, 

connected and well throughout the pandemic. Relationships across this network have strengthened 

through considerable learning that took place during the pandemic, providing a great platform to 

build on. Continuing to strengthen our social infrastructure, ensuring that it is funded, supported and 

sustainable, will be essential to tackle the deep-rooted systemic inequalities that shape peoples’ 

ability to lead healthy lives.  

 

Current Focus 
 

 Strong partnership working continues to be well-established between health and care partners 

and we have established strong system leadership to drive the ambitions of our Health and 

Page 102

https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review


Wellbeing Strategy, with a shared understanding that health and wellbeing is inextricable from 

broader social, economic and environmental factors. 

 

 Working as a Team Leeds partnership to make the best use of the collective physical, social 

and digital infrastructure we have in Leeds across our public, private and third sectors.  

 

 We will continue to take a life-course approach to health and wellbeing, recognising both 

specific factors affecting people’s health and wellbeing at different times during their lives and 

the cumulative impacts of policy interventions of a whole lifetime, with well-established 

partnerships supporting a population that is growing at both ends of the age spectrum - Child 

Friendly, Age-Friendly and Dementia-Friendly Leeds.  

 

 We will continue to highlight the importance of safeguarding children and at-risk adults in 

everything we do. The experiences of the pandemic and lockdowns highlighted how not only 

those working in public services, but anyone who has an established relationship with potentially 

vulnerable people can play an important role in being vigilant about their health, wellbeing and 

safety. We know relevant professionals cannot be everywhere, all the time, seeing behind every 

closed door – so in Leeds we will maintain that safeguarding is everyone’s business and work 

to make sure people across the city are confident and knowledgeable enough to raise any 

concern they may have.  

 

 Continuing to shape and develop an integrated regional health and care system rooted in 

broad partnership which is responsive to ongoing change and reform in health and social care 

while innovating in how health and care services are commissioned and delivered. 

 

 We are putting elected members, communities and the third sector at the heart of health and 

care conversations, including citywide conversations through the Big Leeds Chat and People’s 

Voice Growth to amplify community voices. 

 

 Health and Wellbeing starts with people who can thrive within safe and strong communities. We 

are embedding an asset-based approach to build resilient communities which have access to 

the resources they need to make the changes they want to see to improve people’s health and 

wellbeing: 

 

o Establishing a network of local community infrastructure including Priority 

Neighbourhoods, Neighbourhood, Community Connector third sector organisations, 

Community Builder local champions, and 33 ward-based community hubs established 

during the pandemic to coordinate emergency support to residents. 

 

 We continue to drive a strengths-based approach to social care, focusing on giving people 

the opportunity to live in a way that gives them quality of life, drawing upon the support of their 

communities and the strengths and abilities of the individual, to live well and more independently. 

 

o We have placed tackling health inequalities at the centre of everything we do, including 

delivering a vaccine health inequalities plan for our most hesitant communities to ensure 

that nobody is left behind. 

 

 Prioritising a preventative approach wherever possible to allow people to lead fulfilling lives 

which are healthy, active and playful, learning from the experiences of people most at risk of 

experiencing poorer outcomes. As a result we:  

 

o Reversed a trend of rising obesity in reception-age children between 2009 and 2017, one of 

only a few European cities to do so, with the reduction greater in deprived areas – although 

Covid-19 has subsequently impacted. 

Page 103



o Through strong partnership working, we are able to prevent 90% of potential homelessness,

far above national averages.

Future Focus: 

 In responding to governance changes to the regional Integrated Care System, tackling health

inequalities will remain at the centre of our approach. We will strengthen our resolve to address

the entrenched societal challenges affecting wider health and wellbeing, including poor

quality housing and lower educational attainment for children and young people from low-income

families. A warm, safe, suitable home, space for study, and a strong start in life are crucial to

long term mental and physical wellbeing and reducing the necessity of acute healthcare

interventions later in life.

 To this end we will more closely align with the Marmot approach, already complementary to

how we work in Leeds, with a view to becoming a Marmot City, allowing us to draw on national

expertise from the Institute of Health Equity to strengthen our approach to tackling health

inequalities. Joining the network of Marmot Cities in the UK will present new research

opportunities, strengthen our ability to attract funding, and galvanise partners behind our mission

to reduce health inequalities. The Marmot approach is drawn from the principles in the 2010

Marmot Review: Fair Society, Healthy Lives, and the 2020 Build Back Fairer: Covid-19 Marmot

Review both led by Sir Michael Marmot.

 We will continue our work to promote Leeds as an Age Friendly City, including our focus on

improving outcomes for disability-free life expectancy, alongside wider efforts to close the gap

we see across Leeds on life expectancy and premature mortality across the city more generally.

 Putting the struggle for racial justice at the centre of our work, recognising the disproportionate

negative health outcomes faced by Black, Asian and minority ethnic people due to systemic

inequalities; and tackling racism and discrimination within healthcare.

 Restate our commitment to the equal rights of disabled people and to the social model of

disability – developed by disabled people themselves and which holds that people are disabled

by the way society is organised and by barriers which can be changed or eliminated – as a way

to eradicate systemic barriers facing disabled people in Leeds, and challenge outdated

attitudes which do not represent the contribution disabled people continue to make to the

economy, culture and community life of the city.

 Working as a team with all stakeholders playing their part, re-double our efforts to tackle crime,

community safety, gender-based violence and drug-related issues in those communities

worst affected – responding to calls from children and young people about the profoundly

negative impact these challenges can have on their lives.

 Drawing upon evidence established through the Leeds Joint Strategic Assessment to anticipate

and address the future health needs of the city, for example a significant growth of the

population of young people concentrated in low-income parts of the city, and an ageing

population.

 Working with partners regionally and nationally to raise the profile of social care to promote

parity of esteem with the health service. Recruiting and retaining a well-paid, well-supported

social care workforce who are recognised and valued for the enormous contribution they make.

 Responding to calls from children and young people in Leeds to treat mental health as their

top priority in recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic. Working together with Mind Mate to improve

Page 104



mental health and emotional health for our younger populations with evidence they have been 

some of the worst affected. 

 

Two: Inclusive Growth 
 

In 2030 Leeds will have an economy that works for everyone, where we work to tackle poverty 

and ensure that the benefits of economic growth are distributed fairly across the city, creating 

opportunities for all. 

 

To realise this ambition, Team Leeds will focus on: 

 

 Ensuring young people and those changing career in later life have the skills and job 

opportunities which enable them to realise their potential and thrive. 

 

 Our businesses and social enterprises being innovative, creative, ambitious and connected 

to the local community they are in, with access to the skills they need to boost productivity 

and succeed. 

 

 Understanding that place matters, and positive identity, culture, heritage and pride in our 

communities are vital assets in a sustainable future for the city and its local centres. 

 

 Growing cross-city research capacity and making Leeds a test bed for innovation and new 

technologies, including in healthcare and the delivery of a just transition to net zero.  

 

 Leeds being an outward looking global city with our people and businesses operating on the 

world stage, mindful of our impact on the planet and addressing the biggest societal 

challenges of our time, and where we welcome inward investors that share our values. 

 

Background to our Ambition 
 

Covid-19 has had obvious impacts on our economy, both exacerbating long-standing inequalities 

within our communities, and the immediate constraints on the ability of businesses to operate 

‘normally’. It has changed the way we think about place and how we use our spaces, as well as how 

we travel, work and shop. The repercussions were felt in the first instance by young people, low 

earners and women in the labour market, linked in part to longer-term concerns regarding low 

productivity and recent job growth being too often concentrated in low skilled, low-paid employment. 

 

However, Leeds has strong foundations from which to recover and will continue be the main driver 

of economic growth for the city-region. The city has a diverse, knowledge-based economy, linked to 

our universities and teaching hospitals, which are major centres of innovation. We have a dynamic 

business sector with strengths in digital and medical technologies, telecoms and creative industries, 

all sectors likely to be increasingly important in our future economy. 

 

 

Current Focus 
 

 Our current priority remains a sustainable and inclusive economic recovery, centred around 

the need to: 

 

o Respond. continuing to take immediate actions to support businesses and the 

economy as we have done working together as a city since lockdown in March 2020. 

Page 105



o Reset and Renew – focussing on the challenges and opportunities that we face in 

recovery and that we have a clear focus and direction on the projects and 

partnerships that will address them. 

o Build Resilience: underpinning our long-term Best City Ambition - tackling poverty 

and inequality, with the key drivers of Health and Wellbeing, Inclusive Growth and 

Zero Carbon. 

 

 We will continue our commitment to 100% Digital, reflecting the vital importance of access 

to our increasingly digital world. As one of the largest ambitious programmes in the UK, this 

work is vital in increasing the resilience of our third sector and ensuring digital inclusion for 

organisations and individuals across all parts of Leeds. Our vision for Leeds as a digital city 

encompasses our data infrastructure – including improving access to high speed internet; 

our partnership approach to data collection; sharing and analysis; and digital inclusion, 

supporting and empowering citizens through digital skills and connectivity.  

 

 We will continue to work as a cross-city partnership to support families to give children and 

young people the best start in life.  Looking to improve learning and inclusion by refreshing 

our work on the 3As of attendance, attainment and achievement, with insights from the 

pandemic and active engagement with the learning community crucial in helping children to 

make the best start at each stage of their learning. We will continue to invest in child literacy 

and to broaden awareness of the tools and facilities available to support this, including 

through Leeds Libraries. 

 

 Continue to strengthen the Inclusive Anchors Network – a group of the the largest public 

institutions and businesses in Leeds who have a long-term stake in the success of the city – 

encouraging increasing numbers of organisations to be good Corporate Citizens and 

recognise their responsibility to adopt progressive employment and procurement practices 

and play their part in responding to the climate emergency. We will also work with the third 

sector to further develop the network of community anchors so vital in pursuing our ambition 

in our local communities. 

 

 We will continue to work in partnership with businesses across Leeds and potential inward 

investors to attract and create more and better jobs, especially in sectors where the city is 

already a national and international leader, and in growing or emerging industries. 

Accelerating productivity growth will be important in helping to improve standards of living. 

 

 We will continue to work with West Yorkshire Combined Authority and transport operators to 

strengthen Leeds’ transport network, focusing on reducing carbon emissions and 

ensuring more equal access to safe and affordable services so people in all communities can 

get around easily. 

 

 We continue to work as a partnership to welcome, embed and widen the benefits of inward 

investment, with investors that share our ambition and enhance the city, including major 

public sector investments such as the UK Infrastructure Bank, the northern hubs of the 

Bank of England, the Department for Work and Pensions’ and the Department for Transport.  

We will also continue to work with existing and new SMEs and social enterprises to deepen 

their roots in the city and enhance their relationship with local communities. 

 

Future Focus 
 

 More and more, the idea of place matters as we try to more equally share the benefits of 
Leeds’ economic success and enable everyone to feel proud of the community they live in. 

Page 106



We will work in partnership to identify and deliver transformational projects across the 
whole of Leeds, drawing in external funding streams, including: 
 

o Invest in community infrastructure and good quality local services so everyone can 
be proud of where they live. 

o Recognising the important cultural and historical factors which affect how parts of 
Leeds have developed and how the people who live there feel. 

o Facilitating flexible co-working spaces in areas outside of the city centre. 
o Capitalising on the role of culture, including sport, arts, media and heritage, for the 

future of city and local centres through Leeds 2023. 
o Considering the future role and use of local high streets in a post-pandemic 

landscape. 
o Strengthening a mutually beneficial relationship between the city centre and local 

communities. 
 

 We will put skills and opportunity at the heart of our approach through a Future Talent 

Plan to help drive our economic recovery, address unemployment and underemployment, 

help people to be more resilient in work, and support people and businesses of all sizes to 

thrive – including by supporting young people to access the labour market and older 

workers to access the skills and retraining they might throughout their career. Led by West 

Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA), we will support employers to retain older workers 

in fulfilling roles for longer. 

 

 We will work in partnership with our Child Friendly Leeds ambassadors to help raise 

aspirations and work readiness of young people, provide supported internships for young 

people with additional needs and offer work experience or employment opportunities to 

young people who are care leavers or are not currently in education, employment or training. 

More broadly, we will keep the voices of children and young people at the heart of our work 

as a child-friendly city, valuing youth allyship and empowerment as part of overcoming inter-

generational inequalities.  

 

 We will put innovation and creativity at the heart of our approaches, co-designing with the 

private, public and community sectors, stimulating new conversations with partners on how 

to strengthen our innovation ecosystem, ensuring inclusivity and social impact, and 

increasingly demonstrating that Leeds is a place with a strong innovative spirit that plays a 

significant role internationally. 

 

 We will work to take advantage of the many opportunities in emerging green industries and 

make Leeds a focal point for new green jobs, looking at the support we can provide to 

businesses which will need to change due to the climate emergency. Our approach will 

understand that low-income families should not face additional disadvantage as a result of 

climate change, and we must deliver a just transition to an environmentally sustainable 

and inclusive economy. 

 

 

 

  

Page 107



Three: Zero Carbon 
 

In 2030 Leeds will have made rapid progress towards carbon neutrality, reducing our 

impact on the planet and doing so in a fair way which improves standards of living in all the 

city’s communities. 

To realise this ambition, Team Leeds will focus on: 

 Delivering a low-carbon and affordable transport network which encourages people to be 
physically active and reduces reliance on the private car, helping people get around the city 
easily and safely. 

 

 Promoting a fair and sustainable food system in which more produce is grown locally, and 
everyone can enjoy a healthy diet. 

 

 Addressing the challenges of housing quality and affordability, tackling fuel poverty and 
creating vibrant places where residents have close access to services and amenities.  

 

 Joining with local communities, landowners and partners to protect nature and enhance 
habitats for wildlife. 

 

 Investing in our public spaces, green and blue infrastructure to enable faster transition to a 
green economy while improving quality of life for residents.  

 

Background to our Ambition 
 

Leeds declared a climate emergency in March 2019 and agreed to work towards making the city 

carbon neutral by 2030. Understanding that we are part of the global effort, urgent transformative 

action is required for Leeds to make its contribution to preventing the worst impact of climate change. 

We need everyone to play their part, with local and national government, business, communities and 

individuals all able to make a difference through their actions. Without determination in Leeds and 

beyond to respond now, the future will bring catastrophic consequences for humans and the natural 

world, with increasing disruption to many aspects of life including the food system, spread of disease, 

and extreme weather events like floods and heatwaves. 

 

The drive towards a low carbon, sustainable and nature-friendly future offers huge possibilities for a 

city like Leeds, placing ourselves ahead of the curve for new market opportunities and acting as a 

test bed for innovation and new green technologies. We can make it easier and more affordable for 

people to connect with each other and move around the city, reclaiming public spaces for leisure 

and play. Better access to nature and green space, cleaner air, locally grown fresh produce and well-

paid jobs in emerging green industries can improve wellbeing and make environmentally conscious 

lifestyles easier to follow.  

 

Current Focus 
 

Much of the transformative change required to see a Zero Carbon Leeds will take time, but we want 

to halve the city’s (1990) emissions by 2025 and good progress is already being made. 

 

 We will continue our work to reduce emissions from buildings and vehicles, with anchor 

institutions leading the way, making commitments and supporting others to join us. We will 

work as an Anchor Network to explore opportunities to further strengthen or accelerate our 

collective commitments. The council is investing £100m and £25m in its housing stock and 

public buildings respectively, retrofitting insulation, heat pumps, solar panels and LED 

lighting. Leeds now has the largest local government electric vehicle fleet in the UK, Yorkshire 

Page 108



Ambulance Service has an ambitious plan to achieve a zero-carbon fleet by 2050, and West 

Yorkshire Combined Authority is working with bus providers to scale-up availability of all-

electric buses. £7m investment is also helping local businesses to switch to lower emission 

vehicles.  

 

 Opportunities to invest in infrastructure which reduces energy demand and costs will 

continue to be explored, with the 19km district heating network constructed since 2017 

already delivering low carbon heat to hundreds of properties in low-income communities and 

several key civic and cultural buildings, and further network expansions planned. Switching 

to LED street lighting across Leeds will halve its energy requirement. 

 

 Across Leeds we are working to protect and enhance the natural environment, with 

businesses and institutions ‘greening’ their campuses, investment in major flood alleviation 

schemes protecting over 3,500 residential and commercial properties, and a collective effort 

aiming to increase the city’s tree canopy cover from 17% to 33% - with potential to give Leeds 

more trees per person than any city in Europe. Planning policy is being reviewed to support 

these efforts and ensure the importance of green and blue infrastructure is recognised. 

 

 We will make it easier for people to live low-carbon lifestyles in Leeds, championing 

community-led green initiatives, supporting people to grow food locally and further investing 

in low carbon travel options – building on the city’s highly successful park and ride schemes 

and harnessing the power of the now over 172km of dedicated cycle network Leeds can 

benefit from. 

 

 Leeds has suffered several flooding events in the last decade and with the effects climate 

change likely to grow, effective flood risk management is increasingly important for 

communities to ensure they are resilient and adaptable to the current and future impacts of 

climate change. We will continue to work with partners, including Government, to invest in 

sustainable flood risk management through effective water management, climate change 

adaptation, land management, habitat protection and creation. Delivery of affordable and 

high quality flood alleviation measures will be pursued wherever possible.    

 

 We will continue to listen, learn from and act on the feedback from Leeds residents – 

including children and young people who have been at the forefront of the efforts to confront 

the climate emergency so far, and who will be the most affected by climate change in the 

future. We will promote ideas about how families can take action in their homes, schools and 

communities to reduce carbon and live more sustainable lifestyles.  

 

Future focus 
 

 We will go further to transform the way people move around Leeds, prioritising walking, 
cycling and other sustainable forms of travel – with a target to increase bus usage by 130%, 
cycling by 400% and walking by 33%. We will make Leeds a city where you do not need to 
use a car and deliver a 30% reduction in car usage as a result. These changes will enable 
public spaces to be less vehicle dominated and to reclaim streets for people. 
 

 Alongside community partners we will continue to invest in the energy efficiency of council 
and social housing stock, with the council alone accounting for 18% of the city’s homes 
overall. We will invest £120m to improve our multi-storey buildings and build upon successful 
work in Cross Green and Holbeck to improve the most challenging pre-1919 back-to-back 
homes. We will also work with partners, including Government, to explore ways to support 
low-income homeowners to improve energy efficiency in owner-occupied homes. 
 

Page 109



 The decarbonisation of heat is crucial to achieving zero carbon housing stock, so Leeds will
remain at the forefront of the drive towards hydrogen as a replacement for natural gas,
working alongside local government and academic partners. The emerging hydrogen
economy should be rooted in our region with opportunity for new high skilled jobs in Leeds
and game-changing advances in low carbon transport and industry.

 We will champion local farming and food production, including through exploring vertical
farming in urban settings, promoting growing at home or in communities, and working with
anchor partners to source more food served by organisations in the city from producers
based in Yorkshire and the surrounding counties. The council for its part will halve the carbon
footprint of meals served in schools, cafes and meal deliveries, will no longer accept food
contracts for air-freighted imports and will work with partners to support them to do the same.

 Habitat preservation and nature recovery will be at the heart of our approach to land
management, and we will bring landowners in the city together to promote biodiversity and
create new and connected spaces for wildlife in response to the nature emergency we see
alongside the climate emergency. This means we will plant more wildflower meadows, use
relaxed mowing wherever possible, increase tree planting, and support community-led green
initiatives as much as possible.

 We will continue to work with the Leeds Climate Commission and the Yorkshire and
Humber Climate Commission, who have developed a climate action plan to reach net zero
by 2038, with significant progress being achieved by 2030. The plan clearly sets out the
journey our region needs to go on, and we will work as Team Leeds with partners elsewhere
in Yorkshire to develop the actions we can take to meet the targets laid out.

Page 110



Leeds Health and  
Wellbeing Strategy  

2016-2021

‘Leeds will be a healthy  
and caring city for all ages,  
where people who are the 
poorest improve their  
health the fastest’.

Page 111



The Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board

In Leeds, as we grow up and as we grow 
old, the people around us, the places we 
live in, the work we do, the way we move 
and the type of support we receive, will all 
keep us healthier for longer. We will build 
resilience, live happier, healthier lives, do 
the best for one another and provide the 
best care possible to be the best city for 
health and wellbeing. 

Underpinning this statement we’ve identified five outcomes – 
the conditions of wellbeing we want to realise for everyone in 
Leeds. We have twelve priority areas that we will focus on to 
make change happen, and some indicators by which we can 
measure our progress. Collectively, these outcomes, priorities 
and indicators give us a framework to test whether the work we 
do is making a difference to the people of Leeds. Other strategies 
and action plans will provide further detail on how specific parts 
of the citywide vision can be achieved over the next five years. 

The launch of our new strategy comes at a particularly 
important and challenging moment for health and care 
services. As NHS England’s Five Year Forward View 
recognises, to achieve consistently high quality care for 
everyone, respond to demographic change and achieve 
long-term financial sustainability across the health and care 
system, we must do things differently. 

Leeds is well placed to respond. The network of national health 
leadership and research organisations in the city, along with our 
city’s relatively strong economy and exceptional universities, 
creates a unique health and care infrastructure. Leeds is a 
pioneer in the use of information and technology. We have a 
thriving third sector and inspiring community assets. There 
has never been a stronger commitment to partnership working 
across health and care services. The 
change required is significant, but it 
is possible  if we work towards a 
shared vision. 

This strategy provides that 
vision. It invites everyone to 
play an active part in making 
Leeds a healthy and caring 
city for all ages, where people 
who are the poorest improve 
their health the fastest.
 

 

In Leeds we believe that our greatest strength and our most 
important asset is our people. Wellbeing starts with people: 
our connections with family, friends and colleagues; the 
behaviour, care and compassion we show one another; the 
environment we create to live in together. 

Our Health and Wellbeing Strategy is about how we put in 
place the best conditions in Leeds for people to live fulfilling 
lives – a healthy city with high quality services. Everyone in 
Leeds has a stake in creating a city which does the very best 
for its people. This strategy is our blueprint for how we will 
achieve that. It is led by the partners on the Leeds Health and 
Wellbeing Board and it belongs to everyone. 

We’re ambitious: we want Leeds to be the best city for health 
and wellbeing. Our first Health and Wellbeing Strategy, 
which ran from 2013-15, laid positive foundations for that. 
Leeds has seen a reduction in infant mortality as a result of 
our more preventative approach; we’ve been recognised for 
improvements in services for children; we became the first 
major city to successfully roll out an integrated, electronic 
patient care record; and early deaths from avoidable causes 
have decreased at the fastest rate in our most deprived wards. 

These are achievements to be proud of, but they are only 
the start. We continue to face significant health inequalities 
between different groups. A relentless focus on reducing these 
inequalities will remain at the forefront of our efforts over the 
coming five years. That is why Leeds vision remains to be a 
healthy and caring city for all ages, where people who are 
the poorest will improve their health the fastest. 

This new strategy has a wide remit. So many factors 
contribute to our health and wellbeing, meaning our 
challenge is to reflect the breadth of the agenda, whilst being 
specific about the areas we need to focus on to make the 
biggest difference. A simple statement of intent captures the 
connectivity between the multiple factors that contribute to 
people living healthier lives.

Foreword 

by Councillor Lisa Mulherin  
Chair of the Leeds Health & Wellbeing Board

Leeds – The Best City for Health and Wellbeing

Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board2 3

P
age 112



Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board

In Leeds, as we grow up and as we grow old,                     the people around us, the places w
e live in, the w

ork w
e do, the w

ay w
e m

ove and the                   type of support we receive, will keep us healthier for longer. We will build resilie
nce, liv

e h
ap

pie
r, h

ea
lth

ie
r l

ive
s,

 d
o 

th
e 

be
st

 fo
r o

ne
 a

no
th

er
 a

nd
 p

ro
vi

de
 th

e 
be

st
 c

ar
e 

po
ss

ibl
e.

In Leeds, as we grow up.. and as we grow old…                   the people around us.. the places w
e live in.. the w

ork w
e do.. the w

ay w
e m

ove and the...                 ..type of support we receive ..will keep us healthier for longer. We will build resilie
nce.. li

ve

 ha
pp

ier
, h

ea
lth

ie
r l

ive
s.

. d
o 

th
e 

be
st

 fo
r o

ne
 a

no
th

er
 a

nd
.. 

pr
ov

id
e 

th
e 

be
st

 c
ar

e 
po

ss
ibl

e.

Promote mental 
and physical 
health equally

=

10

Leeds Health and Wellbeing  
Strategy 2016-2021

We have a bold ambition: 

‘Leeds will be the best city 
for health and wellbeing’.
And a clear vision:

‘Leeds will be a healthy and  
caring city for all ages,  
where people who are the  
poorest improve their  
health the fastest’.

IndicatorsA Child Friendly 
City and  
the best  
start 
in life

11

A valued, well 
trained and 
supported 
workforce

1

The best care,  
in the right place, 

at the right time
12

People’s quality of life will 
be improved by access to 
quality services

People will live 
longer and have 
healthier lives 

People will live 
full, active and 
independent lives

People will be actively 
involved in their health 
and their care

People will live in healthy, 
safe and sustainable 
communities

5      Outcomes

1.

2.

3.

4. 

5.

 

12 
Priority  
areas

Support self-care, 
with more people 

managing their 
own conditions

9

Strong, 
engaged and 

well-connected 
communities

 

3

A strong 
economy with 
quality, local jobs

5

Get more 
people, more 
physically 
active,  
more  
often

6

In our city…
wellbeing starts 
with people and 
everything is 
connected 

An Age Friendly 
City where 

people age well

A stronger focus 
on prevention

8

Maximise the 
benefits from 
information and 
technology

7

4

Housing  
and the  

environment  
enable all  

people of Leeds 
to be healthy

2

Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board

• Infant mortality

• Good educational  
attainment at 16

• People earning a Living Wage 

• Incidents of domestic violence

• Incidents of hate crime

• People affording to heat  
their home

• Young people in employment, 
education or training

• Adults in employment 

• Physically active adults

• Children above a  
healthy weight

• Avoidable years of life lost

• Adults who smoke

• People supported to manage 
their health condition

• Children’s positive view  
of their wellbeing

• Early death for people with  
a serious mental illness

• Employment of people with  
a mental illness

• Unnecessary time patients 
spend in hospital

• Time older people spend  
in care homes

• Preventable hospital 
admissions

• Repeat emergency visits  
to hospital

• Carers supported

4 5

P
age 113



Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Draft for approval by H&WB Board

6

Overall, health in Leeds remains worse than the England  
average. Thousands of people in deprived areas  
live shorter lives than they should. Costs of providing high  
quality care continue to rise. This strategy helps us plan  
how to address key challenges, so health and  
wellbeing in Leeds can be better, fairer and sustainable. 

Over the next 25 years the number of people who live in Leeds is  
predicted to grow by over 15 per cent. The number of people aged  
over 65 is estimated to rise by almost a third to over 150,000 by 2030.  
The city is going to provide more complex care for more people.

The Challenges

Improving  
health and care services

As more people develop multiple long term conditions, focus 
shifts from curing illnesses to managing health conditions. 
Health and care services need to adapt to these changes. 

Too often care is organised around single illnesses rather than all 
of an individual’s needs. Many people are treated in hospitals when 
care in their own homes and communities would be better for them. 
Services can sometimes be hard to access and difficult to navigate.

Leeds will focus on making care services more person-
centred, integrated and preventative. All organisations need to 
work together to achieve this.

Improving health services needs to happen alongside achieving 
financial sustainability. This is a major challenge. Rising cost 
pressures means a potentially significant financial gap by 2021 
across Leeds health and social care organisations. Making the 
best use of the collective resources across organisations will 
help us sustain and develop the city’s health and care system.Improving  

health and 
wellbeing

Becoming a healthier, happier city requires 
improvements in living conditions and lifestyle choices.

164,000 people in Leeds live in areas ranked amongst 
the most deprived 10 per cent nationally. One in five 
children in Leeds live in poverty. People living in deprived 
neighbourhoods are more likely to experience multiple 
disadvantage, die earlier, and have more years in long-term 
ill health. This is wrong and it needs to change.

Improving health requires having better social and  
economic conditions. For example, people living 
in good quality affordable houses, achieving in 
education and working in good jobs.

The majority of early deaths are related to unhealthy 
lifestyles; smoking, excessive alcohol use, poor diet, 
and low levels of physical activity. More often than not, 
people who develop long term health conditions have  
two or more of these risk factors. Poor lifestyle choices 
shorten lives and burden the health system. To be the best  
city for health and wellbeing everyone must work together 
to get mentally and physically healthier.

£700million 
estimated funding gap 
between resources  
and requirements
by 2021

12% 
of households 
in Leeds are in 
fuel poverty 10yrs 

difference in 
life expectancy 
between Hunslet 
and Harewood 

Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board

A relentless focus on:

Reducing health  
inequalities in Leeds

Creating a high quality  
health and care system

Having a financially  
sustainable health  

and care system

10%  
reduction in  

emergency hospital  
admissions could help  

us afford teams of  
2 GPs, 2 nurses and  

6 community care workers 
(in each of the 13 neighbourhood areas in Leeds)

6Page 114



A Child Friendly 
City and the best 
start in life

There is a huge opportunity to improve health and wellbeing 
outcomes by focusing on children and young people. The best 
start in life provides important foundations for good health and 
wellbeing throughout life. 

This means the best start for every 
Leeds baby from conception to age 
two, providing high quality, joined-up 
maternity and antenatal care guided 
by the mother’s needs for supported 
families, strong attachments and positive 
infant wellbeing. It means professionals 
adopting the Leeds ‘Think Family, Work 
Family’ protocol, ensuring solutions are 
coordinated around needs and assets in 
families and the wider community.

Leeds must focus on reducing child obesity 
and the differences which exist across the city. 
Prevalence among children in the most deprived 
areas of Leeds is double that of children in the 
least deprived areas. We must address this 
through long-term coordinated action. For 
example, we can change environmental design, 
available food choices and education.  

We must also continue to promote mental health and 
emotional wellbeing for all children and young people in 
Leeds.  A transformation plan reviewing the whole system 
of support for social, emotional and mental health and 
wellbeing will focus on enabling children and young people 
to access services quickly, easily and effectively.

Priorities

An Age Friendly 
City where 
people age well

1 in 5 people in Leeds are aged over 60. Our ageing population 
presents opportunities for the city and challenges for our health 
system. We want Leeds to be the best city in the UK to grow old in.

Being an Age Friendly City 
means promoting ageing 
positively and maximising 
opportunity for older people to 
contribute to the life of Leeds. 
We must build on the strengths 
of older people and recognise 
first and foremost their roles 
as employees, volunteers, 
investors and consumers. Our 
built environment, transport, 
housing must all promote independence and social inclusion.

Health and care services will focus on supporting independent 
living, reducing falls and reducing excess deaths during the 
winter. As a city we will talk with local communities about 
dying and bereavement to support people to plan for their last 
years of life.

Strong, engaged 
and well-
connected 
communities

The relationships and 
resources in communities are 
building blocks for good health. 
Leeds has brilliant and diverse 
communities, well-established 
neighbourhood networks and 
a thriving third sector; we must 
harness these strengths. 

There are vulnerable groups and areas of the city which 
experience health inequalities. These include people in poverty, 
migrants, refugees and asylum seekers, the homeless and 
people with disabilities. People’s health outcomes can also 
depend on specific characteristics, such as ethnicity, gender 
and sexuality, amongst others. For some groups, tailored work 
can help close the gap in health outcomes, sensitive to specific 
needs. This also applies for those with learning and/or physical 
disabilities who need specific support in order to thrive in the 
city. Fair access to person-centred services, which 
build on individual and community strengths, will help 
reduce health inequalities in Leeds.

34% 
of children  
aged 11 in  
Leeds have  
an unhealthy 
weight

37,000
Estimated number 
of older people 
who experience 
social isolation or 
loneliness

Social isolation and loneliness can have a bad effect on 
people’s health. This is particularly true for vulnerable groups and 
people with high levels of need. We want a city where no one is 
lonely, with diverse opportunities for people to live healthy, active 
and fulfilling lives. 

Carers are crucial to our communities. Our 70,000 plus unpaid 
carers help health and social care to function, supporting 
thousands of people. We must continue to recognise, value 
and support these carers. We will identify the needs 
and contribution of carers early on when decisions 
are being made about care and support. The physical, 
mental and economic wellbeing of carers also needs to be 
continually promoted.

Housing and 
the environment 
enable all people 
of Leeds to be 
healthy, social  
and active

To be a healthy city, our environment must promote positive 
wellbeing. This means Leeds houses are affordable, warm, 
secure, and support independent living. This includes 
developments as part of the 70,000 new homes proposed in 
Leeds between 2012 and 2028.

Green space, leisure provision and 
walking and cycling opportunities 
promote health and happiness. 
Considerations about future growth 
must ensure adequate provision 
of quality and accessible open 
spaces. Areas of Leeds with the 
lowest overall green space provision 
are predominantly inner city, high density housing areas.  
We need to address this to reduce health inequalities.

As Leeds grows and care settings change, facilities must 
enable the best care to be provided in the right place for 
the most efficient use of resources. Health and social care 
organisations need to ensure there are enough facilities 
and they are fit for purpose for those who use them and 
work in them. 

A strong  
economy with 
quality local jobs

A good job is really  
important for good health 
and wellbeing of working 
age people. To reduce social 
inequalities, Leeds needs a 

strong local economy driving sustainable economic 
growth for all people across the city. This includes creating 
more jobs and better jobs, tackling debt and addressing health 
related worklessness. 

One of our biggest economic strengths as a city is our 
health and medical sector, with a wealth of talent and 
huge concentration of innovative organisations. With 
collaboration across private, public, academic and community 
organisations, Leeds is perfectly placed to be a great 
location for health innovation.  

We must also recognise that health and care organisations 
employ a huge number of people in the city. We must do all we 
can to promote the health and wellbeing of the workforce and 
reduce social inequalities through how people are employed.

Get more 
people, more 
physically 
active, more 
often

If everybody at every age gets more physically active, 
more often, we will see a major improvement in health and 
happiness. We can reduce obesity, improve our wellbeing, 
become more socially connected and recover better from 
health problems.

One in five adults in Leeds is inactive. As 
a general rule, the more we move, the 
greater the benefit. The biggest benefit 
will be for those who are currently inactive. 
We should focus efforts here. 

We want Leeds to be the most active 
big city in England. This requires wide-
ranging action, including inspiring people 
to be active and targeting participation in 

sports and other activities to specific geographic areas and 
groups. It means including physical activity as part of 
treatment more. It also means making active travel the 
easiest and best option wherever possible, with lots more 
walking and cycling due to good infrastructure, creative 
planning and behaviour change.

Maximise the 
benefits from 
information and 
technology

New technology can give 
people more control of their 
health and care and enable 
more coordinated working 
between organisations. 

This includes continuing the development of the Leeds 
Care Record to ensure professionals directly involved in 
care have access to the most up-to-date information. People 
want to tell their story once and choose the channel they 
use to communicate. Joined-up information enables this. 

Physical  
inactivity is our
 4th largest 
cause of disease 
and disability

7

1

2

3

6

5

4

Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Leeds Health and Wellbeing BoardLeeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board7 8

P
age 115



We also want patients to have access to and control over 
their personal health records. Linked to this, for planning and 
decision making, we need to make better use of the data 
which is held by organisations in Leeds.

We want to make better use of technological innovations 
in patient care, particularly for long term conditions 
management. This will support people to more effectively 
manage their own conditions in ways which suit them.

A stronger focus 
on prevention

There are some specific 
areas where we can make 
a really big difference to 
prevent ill health. 

We need to maintain a 
continued focus on obesity, 
smoking and harmful 
drinking. A radical upgrade  
in prevention requires  
a whole-city approach. 
Obesity is a huge local and 
national challenge. It is 
preventable, but is currently 
rising due to poor diet, low 
levels of physical activity 
and environments which 
encourage unhealthy weight. 

About half of people born after 1960 will develop some form 
of cancer during their lifetime. Many of these can be linked 
to lifestyle choices. Cancer prevention, early diagnosis and 
successful therapy will reduce inequalities and save money. 
Leeds must pursue a sustained programme to increase  
public awareness of lifestyles which increase the risk  
of cancer and support lifestyle changes. 

Our services need to be more proactive and preventative in 
their approach. This will involve making more use of evidence-
based interventions at the early stages of 
disease. Local, timely and easy access 
to tests and treatment will be important to 
prevent conditions getting worse, together 
with a focus on earlier identification of 
those at higher risk of hospital admission. 
These approaches should help people 
remain healthy and independent for longer.

To protect the health of Leeds’ 
communities, infection prevention and 
control, and environmental 
hazards such as air quality and 
excess seasonal deaths will 
be improved by a coordinated 
local and regional partnership 
approach. The Leeds Health 
Protection Board lead on  
this key agenda.

Cancer deaths  
account for over 

 
 30%  

of the life  
expectancy gap 

between Leeds and  
the rest of England

8

Support self-care, 
with more people 
managing their 
own conditions
Long term conditions are the 
leading causes of death and 

disability in Leeds and account for 
most of our health and care spending. 

Cases of cancer, diabetes, respiratory disease, dementia 
and cardiovascular disease will increase as the population 
of Leeds grows and ages. There will be a rise in the number 
of people living with at least two health conditions and this 
is most common in deprived areas of the city.  We must see 
a shift in the way care is provided to enable people to better 
manage their own health conditions. 

We must focus on supporting people to maintain 
independence and wellbeing within local communities 
for as long as possible. People need to be more involved in 
decision making and their own care planning by setting goals, 
monitoring symptoms and solving problems. To do this, care 
must be person-centred, coordinated around all of 
an individual’s needs through networks of care rather than 
single organisations treating single conditions.

To have more active involvement in health and care we all 
need to make the most appropriate use of services. We need 
to make sure the best thing for people to do is the 
easiest thing for people to do. This means having better 
and more coordinated information to make it easier for people 
to understand what to access and when. 

Promote mental 
health and 
physical health 
equally

Our ambitions for mental health 
are crucial for reducing health 

inequalities. Good employment, 
opportunities to learn, decent 
housing, financial inclusion and debt 
are all key determinants of emotional 
wellbeing and good mental health. 
Improving mental health is 
everyone’s business. We want 
to see this led by employers, service 
providers and communities. 

=

People with severe 
mental illness die on 

average  

15-20 years 
earlier than the rest of 

the population

10

9

Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board9

The Leeds Mental Health Framework will 
be implemented to improve services across 
the city. By redesigning community mental health 
services with improved information and advice and 
more joined up working we can improve access 
and reduce repeat assessments. Care for people 
experiencing a mental health crisis will be improved, 
with crisis resolution available 24/7 and more 
provision within health and social care.

We need improved integration 
of mental and physical 
health services around all 
the needs of individuals. This 
means addressing the physical 
health needs of those living 
with mental illness, and always 
considering the mental and 
emotional wellbeing of those 
with physical illness.

Three quarters of lifetime mental illness (except dementia) 
begins by the age of 25, so mental health and wellbeing support 
for children and families is a priority. This includes early support 
for women during pregnancy and the first few months post-birth, 
improved links with schools and better experiences for service 
users as they move between children and adult services.

A valued,  
well-trained 
and supported 
workforce 

We have a highly motivated, 
creative and caring workforce 
in our city, working hard to 
deliver high quality care for 

people in Leeds. This workforce, many of whom live as well as 
work in the city, are a huge asset for making change happen.

We should work as one workforce for Leeds. Shared 
values and collaborative working will support joined-up 
services. New population-based models of care will require 
the development of multi-disciplinary working across 
organisational boundaries. Better workforce planning can 
ensure the workforce is the right size and has the knowledge 
and skills needed to meet future demographic challenges. 

Working fully in partnership with the third sector and 
those in caring and volunteer roles in the community will be 
crucial to make the most of our city wide assets.  

Leeds is one of the 
best places in the 
UK to work in health 
and social care. We 
need to build on 
this through world-
class education 
and training, 

attracting people who reflect the full diversity of our population. 
This will ensure we continue to build the very best, modern 
and fit for purpose workforce for Leeds now and in the future.

The best care, in 
the right place,  
at the right time

For more effective, efficient 
health and care we need  
to move more services 
from hospitals to 
community settings.  

This needs population–based, integrated models of 
care, sensitive to the needs of local communities. This 
must be supported by better integration between physical 
and mental health care with care provided in and out of hospital. 

Services closer to home will be provided by integrated 
multidisciplinary teams working proactively to reduce 
unplanned care and avoidable hospital admissions. They will 
improve coordination for getting people back home after a 
hospital stay. These teams will be rooted in neighbourhoods and 
communities, with coordination between primary, community, 
mental health and social care. They will need to ensure care is 
high quality, accessible, timely and person-centred. 

Providing care in the most appropriate setting will ensure our 
health and social care system can cope with surges in demand 
with effective urgent and emergency care provision.

Our health and social care commissioner and provider 
organisations will lead the coordination of these changes 
over the coming years, starting with the city’s five year 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan. How services 
are configured and where they are placed will change over the 
coming years, so engagement with local populations is 
really important.

 57,000  people work in  
health and care 

 in Leeds

 105,000  people in the city 
suffer from anxiety  

and depression

12

11

Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board10

P
age 116



Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Draft for approval by H&WB Board

11

The Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 Leeds Health and Wellbeing Board

One city... everyone plays a part
Provide leadership and 

direction to help and 
influence everyone to 

achieve the 5 outcomes

Provide a public forum 
for decision making and 

engagement across  
health and wellbeing

Continually ask what we 
are all doing to reduce 

health inequalities, create 
a sustainable system and 

improve wellbeing

Provide and commission services 
which support the priorities of the 

Leeds Health and Wellbeing Strategy

Make plans with people, 
understanding their needs and 

designing joined-up services around 
the needs of local populations

Provide the best quality services 
possible, making most effective  

use of ‘the Leeds Pound’ - our  
collective resource in the city

Support the priorities  
of the Leeds Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy

Create plans and strategies 
which help achieve specific 
priorities and outcomes of  

the Leeds Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy

Promote partnerships 
wherever possible, working as 

one organisation for Leeds

Support vulnerable members of 
the community to be healthy and 

have strong social connections

Take ownership and responsibility 
for promoting community  

health and wellbeing

Make best use of community 
assets and leadership to  

create local solutions

Take ownership and 
responsibility for promoting 

personal health and wellbeing

Be proactive in accessing 
services which are available

Get involved in influencing and 
making change in Leeds

Individuals

Local 
Communities

Other 
Boards and 
Groups

Leeds 
Health and 
Wellbeing 
Board

Health 
and Care 
Organisations 
in Leeds

One health and care system... 
consistently asking

Can I get the right 
care quickly at 
times of crisis or 
emergency?

Can I get effective 
testing and treatment 

as efficiently as 
possible?

Can I live well in my 
community because the 
people and places close 
by enable me to?

11Page 117



C
S

15
25

0L
D

P
M

Page 118



LEEDS CITY COUNCIL 
2022/23 BUDGET REPORT 

Directorate: Adults & Health 
1. Introduction

1.1 This report has been produced in order to inform members of the main variations and
factors influencing the Directorate’s budget for the 2022/23 financial year.

1.2 The 2022/23 Revenue Budget provides £2,570k within the Council’s Strategic Budget for
the ongoing impact of COVID-19 pandemic. As such no Directorate COVID impacts are
detailed below.

2 Service Context

2.1 The current context for Adult Social Care and Public Health is still heavily influenced by the
Covid pandemic. It has necessarily changed significantly how, and which, services are
commissioned and delivered. The near future is therefore somewhat uncertain; in Public
Health sizeable efforts will still need to be directed to managing the pandemic and its after-
effects throughout next year and a possible reprioritisation of services funded by the Public
Health grant. Adult Social Care will work within an uncertain environment of changes to its
service offer mix and whether those changes are permanent or temporary, and a care
market significantly affected by the pandemic. With specificity to each service the following
aims to add further context.

2.2 Adult Social Care: the national context for Adult Social Care continues to be one of 
demographic increases, increased life expectancy, increasing complexity of need and 
service user expectations, greater support for people to remain living independently in their 
own homes for as long as possible, a national drive to improve the quality of social care 
services and an increasing focus on the integration of health and social care services. 
These national trends, which are leading to increased cost pressures, have been evident for 
many years, but the economic climate is putting increasing pressure on public finances and 
the reductions in public spending have added to the financial challenges faced by Adult 
Social Care. 

2.3 In an attempt to mitigate this financial pressure, the Government, in its 2021 Spending 
Review, announced an increase in the Social Care Grant and that local authorities will be 
permitted to levy a 1% adult social care precept increase. 

2.4 There is a concern that given the scale of demand and cost pressures on adult social care 
this additional funding will not fully address the financial challenges faced, particularly within 
the context of continuing funding pressures for the Council as a whole. In September 2021 
the Government presented to Parliament proposals for future funding reforms for Health and 
Social Care, “Building Back Better: Our Plan for Health and Social Care”. Specifically, for 
the Care sector, the Government published its Policy Paper, “People at the Heart of Care: 
adult social care reform”, on the 1st December 2021 setting out its 10 year vision for how it 
will transform support and care in England. The Policy Paper has 3 objectives:  

i) People have choice, control, and support to live independent lives
ii) People can access outstanding quality and tailored care and support
iii) People find adult social care fair and accessible

Appendix 3

Page 119



2.5 The pandemic has had an impact on the mix of care provided, particularly a move from 
residential to community-based care, over the last year and the long-term effects of this may 
impact on the types and volumes of future provision. Also impacting on the mix will be the 
promotion of the, ‘Independence First’ agenda and putting resources into supporting people 
to live independently for longer. 

2.6 Adult Social Care will continue to develop and implement its approach to design care and 
support arrangements around the strengths of individual service users and carers (strengths 
based social care), and the assets available within their communities empowering them to 
live the ‘Better Life’ that they want for themselves. In addition, it will continue to work with 
health partners to develop plans for meeting the needs of the NHS England-led 
Transforming Care programme and Health and Social Care reforms. The year will also see 
preparations begin for the Social Care Funding Reforms announced recently by the 
Government which will take effect in 2023. 

2.7 Public Health: Public Health commissions a wide range of providers to deliver Public 
Health services. These include 3rd sector providers, GPs, Pharmacists and Leeds 
Community Healthcare. Though the government has announced that Public Health grant 
will be maintained in real terms until 2024/25, this does not reverse the 24% real terms cut 
to the grant since 2015/16. After several years of cuts and new burdens the service is still 
operating on a smaller grant than in previous years. 

3  Budget Proposals 

3.1 This 2022/23 budget has been set at £197,643k representing a net increase of £2,361k 
(1.2%) when compared to the adjusted budget for 2021/22. This net increase comprises a 
number of changes in resources totalling £11,958k and pressures totalling £21,313k offset 
by savings of £6,995k which are explained below. 

3.2 Budget Adjustments and Transfers 

3.2.1 There have been several organisational changes, service transfers and other budget 
adjustments which are reflected in the 2022/23 budget which have an overall net impact of 
increasing the budget by £71k. 

3.2.2 These include £113k pay inflation costs for Passenger Transport employees in Resources & 
Housing; Leeds Community Equipment Service and removal of £15k income recharge for 
staffing costs supporting Children & Families Directorate; the transfer to Resources & 
Housing for funding for the public sector decarbonisation scheme, £16k; transfer of staffing 
budgets to Resources and Housing - Business Support Centre, £7k; Communities Housing 
and Environment – Welfare Rights, £34k. 

3.3 Changes in Specific Grant Funding – increase of £ 2.235k 

3.3.1 As part of the reforms of the social care system, the Government announced a new grant 
funded scheme, Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care Fund, of which Leeds is due to 
receive £2,235k. 

Page 120



3.4 Changes in Use of Reserves and Balances – increase of £2,683k 

3.4.1 Social Care reserves totalling £5,417k will be applied in 2022/23 an increase of £2,683k on 
those utilised in 2021/22; this is represented by a £2,652k corporate repayment for reserves 
utilised in 2021/22; £3,035k to support specific Adults & Health innovation programmes; 
£2,300k utilised to partially mitigate cost pressures associated with service provision in 
2022/23. 

3.5  Changes in Other Resources - increase of £7,040k 

3.5.1 The budget reflects £5,000k contribution from Leeds Health partners to support Leeds City 
Council expenditure that directly supports their services. This contribution will support both 
Adults & Health and Children & Families services, and discussions are taking place with 
Health partners to agree how the contribution will be split across the directorates. Until the 
details are confirmed, the £5,000k has been initially included in the Adults & Health budget. 
If required, budgets can be adjusted to reflect the contribution in respect of Children & 
Families once this has been agreed. 

3.5.2 In accordance with the Government’s guidance on the flexible use of capital receipts which 
allows for expenditure on projects designed to generate ongoing revenue savings or 
expenditure associated with transforming service delivery to be funded with capital receipts, 
the Adults and Health budget provides for £2,040k to be funded in this way. Details of the 
identified expenditure is contained in Appendix 9. 

3.6 Changes in prices – pressure of £3,981k 

3.6.1 Spending Review 2020 indicated a public sector pay freeze in 2021/22. However, it is now 
assumed a pay award will be required and negotiations are ongoing. As such the budget 
provides £2,211k for two elements of pay: the Employers final offer for 2021/22 not provided 
for in the 2021/22 base budget and an assumed 2022/23 pay award incorporating the 
recently announced Real Living Wage of £9.90 as scale points 1 and 2 and a 2% pay award 
for all other staff. The provision reflects the Council’s continuing commitment to be a Real 
Living Wage employer. Consequently, the minimum hourly rate paid to current Leeds City 
Council employees will rise to £9.90 per hour which is 40 pence above the National Living 
Wage rate. Apprentices and new starters on the A1 spinal point will be also be paid £9.90 
per hour. 

3.6.2 No provision has been made for inflation on running cost budgets other than demand-based 
budgets and where there are specific contractual commitments. The main provision for price 
inflation is £2,150k for care packages and other commissioned demand led services.  A 5% 
increase has been provided for inflation on utilities budgets, providing £20k. The current 
assessment of projected energy prices indicates there may be an additional pressure in 
2022/23, in response to which a reserve has been created within the Council’s Strategic 
Budget and will be applied as required. 

3.6.3 Inflationary increases in the level of fees, charges and income from other organisations are 
estimated to generate additional income of £400k. Many adult social care fees and charges 
are related to Department for Works and Pensions benefits rates and will be uplifted 
accordingly from April 2022. Those changes not linked to benefits rates have been 
budgeted to increase by 3%. An increase in the charges for services does not necessarily 
generate a proportionate increase in income as the amount people pay for most services is 
determined by individual financial circumstances. 

Page 121



    
 

3.7 Actuarial Review 
 

3.7.1 The 2022/23 budget does not provide for an increased contribution to the West Yorkshire 
Pension fund. Whilst this reflects the most recent Actuarial Review, which showed the West 
Yorkshire Pension Fund to be in a surplus position, the Council will continue to monitor this 
position. 
 

3.8 Capitalised Pension Costs – saving of £177k  
 

3.8.1 The Council continues to provide an Early Leavers Initiative (ELI) to reduce the wage bill as 
a mechanism to contribute towards the budget gap. The fall out of capitalised pension costs 
associated with staff who have left the Council under ELI to date will save an estimated 
£177k. 
 

3.9 Cost of Care/Ethical Care Charter Commissioned Services – pressure of £8,061k  
 

3.9.1 In respect of services commissioned from external providers by the Directorate, provision of 
£8,061k has been included in the proposed Budget for 2022/23. This reflects the finalised 
outcomes of the two Cost of Care exercises undertaken in 2021-22 financial year for Home 
Care and Residential Settings and provision to enable a continuation of meeting the aims of 
Ethical Care Charter. The Government announced an increase to the National Living Wage 
from £8.91 to £9.50 and for the Real Living Wage from £9.50 to £9.90.  For Home Care the 
strategy funds the Real Living Wage allowance of £9.90 per hour. For Residential settings 
the strategy funds a minimum of £9.50 per hour.  
 

3.10 Demand and Demography – pressure of £7,179k 
 

3.10.1 Additional provision of £6,186k has been made to reflect the demand and demographic 
pressures forecast for the 2022/23 for care packages. In recognition of the financial 
challenges facing the council the Directorate intends to put measures in place to carefully 
manage this demand and ensure the costs of care packages represent value for money. 
Whilst the additional provision has been allocated across placements, domiciliary care, 
direct payments and the learning disability pooled budget, the type of service will reflect 
client needs and choices so each element of the community care packages budget cannot 
be predicted with absolute accuracy. 

 
3.10.2 An additional provision of £993k has been built into the budget recognising the national 

Transforming Care agenda which will result in more people with learning disability and/or 
autism being discharged from long-stay hospitals to their home location and supported in 
more independent settings such as supported living and with enhanced community support 
in place. 
 

3.11 Other budget pressures – £2,269k 
 

3.11.1 Offsetting expenditure relating to the new grant funding in 3.3 above, Market Sustainability 
and Fair Cost of Care, £2,235k. 

 
3.11.2 A number of corporately managed areas have had a small impact on the Adults and Health 

2022/23 budget: increased insurance provision, £28k; increased Apprentice Levy provision, 
£11k; offset by savings on NNDR of £5k. The increased insurance costs reflect changes in 
the number and value of insurance claims. 
 
 

Page 122



3.12 Savings 

3.13 Business As Usual – £4,434k 

3.13.1 Additional CCG income of £575k. This is a combination of inflationary uplift in the Better 
Care Fund including additional £75k relating to 2021/22 financial year which is now in the 
base budget for future years and new funding agreements with the CCG around current 
Adult & Health budgeted programmes supporting the NHS. 

3.13.2 A review of primarily Working Age Adults care packages to ensure value for money is being 
achieved and that packages are appropriate when aligned to Strengths-Based approach 
adopted by the Directorate. This exercise will also take in a review of s117 eligibility. The 
total target of these initiatives is to deliver a saving of £500k. 

3.13.3 Within the commissioned services for Working Age Adults and Older People a continuing 
review of eligibility for Continuing Health Care is calculated to save £250k per annum. 

3.13.4 The Directorate continues to improve its processes for the billing and collection of assessed 
client contributions, a further net £2,300k is projected to be recoverable in 2022/23. 

3.13.5 An adjustment re the 2021/22 one-year freeze on home care uplift has added £700k to the 
Directorate’s budget. 

3.13.6 A detailed review of commissioned services within the Learning Disability service will save 
£250k through efficiencies in provision and best use of resources. 

3.13.7 A programme for refurbishing the 3 remaining residential homes is scheduled to commence 
2021/22. This will result in increased occupancy in the LCC run homes delivering savings of 
£190k on externally commissioned placements. 

3.13.8 A review of general expenditure across the Directorate will deliver savings of £380k. 

3.13.9 Develop a direct payment plan that is easy to administer for social workers to become the 
default option; will improve client contributions and reduce instances of incorrect billing, 
budgeted to deliver £50k savings. 

3.13.10 Additional trading income for Workforce Development via increased training of £20k. 

3.13.11 A corporate review of the PFI schemes has delivered insurance savings of £100k for the 
Independent Living Places programme. 

3.13.12 Budgetary provision for Public Health grant funding to support Adults & Health, including 
Neighbourhood Networks, has been included at £520k. 

3.14 Service Review £2,561k 

3.14.1 Further savings from the closure of the two care homes in 2021/22, Richmond House and 
Home Lea House, £1,111k. This takes the full year saving around the closure of the homes 
to £1,600k. 

3.14.2 A review of Adult Social Work provision, with areas for consideration being (a) changes in 
Social Care at ‘the front door’, to maximise capacity to meet growing demand for 
information, advice, and a social care assessment of needs, embedding an ‘independence 

Page 123



    
 

first’ approach that uses Occupational Therapy staff; (b) Changes to Social Work reviewing 
functions to maximise capacity to meet statutory social care duties by piloting a new 
Community Reviewing Team. This will include Occupational Therapy and Social Work staff 
to enhance the capacity of the current Adult Reviewing Team in order to deliver an 
increased reviewing schedule, will generate a saving of £1,365k. 
 

3.14.3 Align in-house mental health provision with strategic commissioning work & reviews, leading 
to increased health contributions, greater alignment to care pathway (i.e., provision 
supporting more individuals who would have otherwise needed another MH care package 
elsewhere), reduction in void costs, better use of internal resources and increased move on, 
saving £50k. 

 
3.14.4 The Directorate is consulting to reduce contracts and grants with the third sector across 

organisations supporting older people and other client groups saving £35k. 
 
4 Risk Assessment 

 
4.1 In determining the 2022/23 budget, consideration has been given to all the risks which are 

managed within the Directorate’s overall risk management framework. Within this 
framework, a register of those items considered carrying the highest risk and therefore 
requiring careful and regular monitoring has been prepared. The key risks in the 2022/23 
budget for the Adults & Health Directorate are: 

 
4.2 For Adult Social Care, a significant ongoing risk relates to the demand led nature of the 

services provided, together with the statutory responsibility to ensure that all assessed 
eligible needs are met, which means that the expenditure requirements to be met from the 
Adult Social Care budget cannot be predicted with absolute certainty. 
 

4.3 The impact of the pandemic and the change on the current mix of care provided only 
enhances this risk. The budget is based on realistic demographic information using trends 
experienced in Leeds and national and local indicators that are available to the Council. 
However, the nature of demand for these services can be somewhat volatile and subject to 
demand factors that Adults & Health cannot directly control. The numbers of service users 
and the complexity of their needs may exceed the provision made within the budget. With 
approximately 3,500 placements in total a relatively modest percentage variance in 
numbers can give rise to a substantial cash variance. These variations could affect 
community care packages for adults, including those commissioned within the pooled 
budget for people with learning disabilities. In this context, delivering a number of the 
savings included within the 2022/23 budget carries some risk. 
 

4.4 For Public Health, outside of the uncertainties that the Covid pandemic continues to provide, 
there is a continued risk of harm to health and an increase in health inequalities due to the 
impact of the Public Health cuts on commissioned services and programme budgets over 
the last few years. Though the grant was increased in 21/22 it is still lower than several 
years ago. 
 

4.5  A risk of newly endorsed NICE (National Institute for Clinical Excellence) treatments 
becoming a cost pressure due to the Council’s Public Health responsibilities. The Office of 
the Director of Public Health is responsible for a number of contracts which are activity 
based. There is a financial risk, based on the possibility of fluctuation of demand, some of 
which is determined by NHS tariff. 

Page 124



4.6 There is an overarching risk covering public health and social care relating to changes in 
national policy, including Health and Social Care, “Building Back Better: Our Plan for Health 
and Social Care” and practice and legislation e.g., Agenda for Change. 

Briefing note prepared by:  Alun Ellis (Head of Finance) 
Telephone:  0113-3783557 

Page 125



Directorate -  Adults & Health

2022/23 FTEs

£m

Net managed budget 2021/22 195.21

Adjustments

Transfers of function

Other adjustments 0.071
Adjusted net managed budget 195.28

Grant Fallout

Grant Increases
Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care Fund (2.23)

Changes in the use of Reserves & Balances

NHS Contribution (5.00)

Repayment of 2021-22 Reserves 2.65

Use of 2022-23 reserves (2.30)
Use of Reserves to pump prime future years savings plans (3.035)
Capital Receipt Flexibilities (2.040)

Total Change in Resources (11.96) 0.00

Budget Pressures:

Inflation

Pay 2.21

Price 2.15

Income (0.40)

Employers Pension

Capitalised Pensions (0.18)

National Living Wage - commissioned services

National Living Wage/Ethical Care Charter 8.06

Demographic and demand pressures

Demand and Demography 7.18

Other

Insurance 0.03

NNDR (0.01)

Electricity & Gas (Utilities) 0.02

Apprentice Levy 0.01

Offsetting expenditure for Market Sustinability and fair Cost of Care Fund 2.23

Total Pressures 21.31 0.00

Savings Proposals:

Business As Usual
Fallout of 2021-22 freeze on home care wage uplift 0.70

Review of general expenditure (0.38)

Maximising funding contributions from NHS & Better Care fund inflationary uplift. (0.58)

Continued Value for Money work on high cost packages (Working Age Adults) (0.50)

Workforce Development - additional training income (0.02)

Improved processes and administration of Direct Payments (0.05)

Continued review of CHC eligibility (older people & mental health) (0.25)

Learning Disability commissioned services - efficiencies in provision and best use 

of resources

(0.25)

Increased occupancy of in-house provision reducing external commissioned (0.19)

Improved collection of financially assessed client income (2.30)

Public Health -review contracts to be awarded for efficiencies (0.52)

Independent Living Project PFI scheme insurance premium reduction (0.10)

Service Review
Decommission 2 Care Homes (full year effect) (1.11)

Reduction in commissioned services - older people and other client groups (0.04)

In-House strategic mental health review (0.05)

Review of Adult Social Work provision promoting Independence First agenda (1.37) 31.00

Total Savings (6.99) 31.00

Net Managed Budget 2022/23 197.64 31.00

Page 126



Adults and Health 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks 
Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2022/23 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Review of Social Work 

provision 
Embedding an 
independence 
first approach for 
clients that uses 
Occupational 
Staff for support 
and increase 
capacity in the 
Adult Social Care 
Reviewing Team. 

There is a risk 

that client 

independence 

will be 

diminished 

and wrong 

pathways for 

care 

signposted  

Consultation in 
progress 

To be 
undertaken at 
the same time 
as the decision 

March 2022 £18,346k Director of 
Adults and 
Health 

Reduction in Services – 
Older People 

Reducing grants, 
contracts 

There is a risk 
that services 
provided will 
be reduced 

Consultation in 
progress 

To be 
undertaken at 
the same time 
as the decision 

March 2022 £2,046k. Director of 
Adults and 
Health 

Review of In-House 
Mental Health Service 
provision and capacity 

Reducing 
commissioned 
Mental Health 
packages 

There is a risk 
that services 
continue to be 
commissioned 
when 
availability In-
House 

Consultation in 
progress 

To be 
undertaken at 
the same time 
as the decision 

March 2022 £4,523k Director of 
Adults and 
Health 

P
age 127



LEEDS CITY COUNCIL 
2022/23 BUDGET REPORT 

Directorate: City Development 
1. Introduction

1.1 This report has been produced in order to inform members of the main variations and
factors influencing the Directorate’s budget for the 2022/23 financial year.

1.2 The 2022/23 Revenue Budget provides £2,570k within the Council’s Strategic Budget for
the ongoing impact of COVID-19 pandemic. As such and with the exception of specific
provision within Planning and Sustainable Development and City Centre Management, no
directorate COVID impacts are detailed below.

2 Service Context

2.1 City development provides a wide and diverse range of services which make a significant
contribution to the life, growth and vitality of the city. The Directorate is responsible for the
Council’s physical, economic, cultural and sport services and includes the following
services:

• Asset management and Regeneration - develops and implements major projects which
improve the physical infrastructure of the city and transformation of deprived
neighbourhoods including securing external resources.

• Culture and Economy - programmes and supports arts, cultural activity and events
across the city and manages all our museums and venues. Leads the work to grow the
Leeds economy – including coordinating work aimed at creating new jobs, supporting
businesses, growing economic sectors promoting enterprise and developing economic
policy.

• Highways and Transportation - provides a highway maintenance service, including street
lighting and road sign installation, and delivers a winter service, a highway traffic
management system and manages the road space. Responsible for designing and
delivering major and minor highways schemes, transportation projects and other major
council sponsored prestige projects. Undertakes statutory responsibilities of the council
as the city’s lead local flood authority.

• Planning and Sustainable Development - deals with planning and building regulations
applications including enforcement. Deals with dangerous structures, safety at sports
grounds, minerals and waste and provides specialist advice on contaminated land,
urban design, landscape, conservation, trees and ecology. Responsible for statutory
development plans and policies, community infrastructure levy and facilitating
neighbourhood plans.

• Operations and Active Leeds – Manages and oversees retail markets and street trading,
manages Leeds city centre including co-ordination with Leeds BiD. Supports City
Development’s change activity, working with colleagues in Resources to ensure effective
support to the Directorate. Active Leeds provides opportunities for people living in Leeds
to enjoy the benefits of an active lifestyle.

Page 128



3  Budget Proposals 

3.1 This 2022/23 budget has been set at £33,367k representing a net increase of £2,201k 
(7.1%) when compared to the adjusted budget for 2021/22. This net increase comprises a 
number of changes in resources totalling (£888k) and pressures totalling £6,264k offset by 
savings of £3,175k which are explained below. 

3.2 Budget Adjustments and Transfers 

3.2.1 There have been a number of organisational changes, service transfers and other budget 
adjustments which are reflected in the 2022/23 budget. These include: 

• The transfer of Business Administrative staffing from the Resources Directorate to
Highways and Transportation (+£371k) and Employment and Skills (+£128k).

• The net impact of the Council wide review of property management functions including
savings identified centrally as part of the 2021/22 budget but not allocated to
directorates (£254k).

• The transfer of £252k running cost budgets from the Resources Directorate to City
Development as a result of the sub-letting of the St George House building, which will
contribute to the existing Estate Rationalisation savings target.

• Other budget adjustments totalling £21k mainly reflecting adjustments to budgets to
remove the need for recharges between directorates.

3.2.2 The overall net impact of these adjustments is to increase the Directorate’s restated 
2021/22 budget by £518k, giving an adjusted 2021/22 budget of £31,166k. 

3.3 Changes in Use of Reserves and Balances – increase of £1,955k 

3.3.1 Additional short-term funding from the Council’s COVID reserve has been secured during 
2021/22 to address backlogs within the Planning service and the full year effect of this 
usage (£375k) has been provided for in the 2022/23 budget.   

3.3.2 The 2022/23 budget includes the one-off utilisation of £2m of commuted sum balances 
which are received from developers to meet the future maintenance cost of adopted 
Highways. An annual budget of £250k has been provided for to meet the estimated cost of 
these ongoing maintenance requirements.  

3.3.3 The 2022/23 budget reflects the reversal of the one-off use of £520k balances in the 
2021/22 budget within Highways & Transportation, partially offset by the utilisation of a 
further one-off £100k balance identified for 2022/23. 

3.4 Changes in Other Resources – reduction of £1,067k 

3.4.1 The 2021/22 budget included the receipt of £1,700k of Gain Share funding from WYCA in 
respect of the West Yorkshire Devolution Deal. As this funding was for one year only, the 
2022/23 budget reflects the fallout of this funding.  

3.4.2 However, based on initial discussions with WYCA, an assumption has been made that 
funding of £633k will be received over the next three years in supporting the delivery of 

Page 129



outcomes aligned to the West Yorkshire Mayor’s priorities (see 3.9.1 below), although this is 
still subject to agreement from WYCA at this stage.  

3.5 Changes in prices – pressure of £4,184k 

3.5.1 Spending Review 2020 indicated a public sector pay freeze in 2021/22. However, it is now 
assumed a pay award will be required and negotiations are ongoing. As such the budget 
provides £2,676k for two elements of pay: the Employers final offer for 2021/22 not provided 
for in the 2021/22 base budget and an assumed 2022/23 pay award incorporating the 
recently announced Real Living Wage of £9.90 (as scale points 1 and 2) and a 2% pay 
award for all other staff. The provision reflects the Council’s continuing commitment to be a 
Real Living Wage employer. Consequently, the minimum hourly rate paid to current Leeds 
City Council employees will rise to £9.90 per hour which is 40 pence above the National 
Living Wage rate. Apprentices and new starters on the A1 spinal point will be also be paid 
£9.90 per hour. 

3.5.2 This increase will be partially mitigated by reflecting the cost of the additional pay award in 
charge out rates, mainly to capital schemes within Highways and Transportation, reducing 
the impact on revenue by £640k. 

3.5.3 No provision has been made for inflation on running cost budgets other than demand based 
budgets and where there are specific contractual commitments. £1,596k has been provided 
for such contractual commitments including the PFI contracts for Street Lighting and three 
Leisure Centres and essential supplies & services across all services. A 5% increase for 
2022/23 has been provided for inflation on utilities budgets, totalling £681k. The current 
assessment of projected energy prices indicates there may be an additional pressure in 
2022/23, in response to which a reserve has been created within the Council’s Strategic 
Budget and will be applied as required.   

3.5.4 Other net variations (-£129k) include a reduction in insurance costs which reflects changes 
in the number and value of insurance claims.    

3.6 Actuarial Review 

3.6.1 The 2022/23 budget does not provide for an increased contribution to the West Yorkshire 
Pension fund. Whilst this reflects the most recent Actuarial Review, which showed the West 
Yorkshire Pension Fund to be in a surplus position, the Council will continue to monitor this 
position. 

3.7 Capitalised Pension Costs – saving of £61k 

3.7.1 The Council continues to provide an Early Leavers Initiative (ELI) to reduce the wage bill as 
a mechanism to contribute towards the budget gap. The fall out of capitalised pension costs 
associated with staff who have left the Council under ELI to date will save an estimated 
£61k. 

3.8 COVID Pressures - £475k 

3.8.1 Within the Planning and Sustainable Development service, the COVID pandemic has had a 
significant impact on the service in terms of increased volumes of applications and 
enforcement work, outstripping the capacity of existing resources. Additional short-term 
resources have been implemented during 2021/22 to address the backlogs and to facilitate 

Page 130



the timely delivery of planning outcomes, and the full year effect of this (£375k) has been 
provided for in the 2022/23 budget to be funded from the COVID reserve. 

3.8.2 The 2022/23 budget also makes provision for £100k loss of income within City Centre 
Management due to the extension of temporary pavement licence legislation to September 
2022 which places a cap on the level of fees chargeable for the licences.  

3.9 Other budget pressures – £1,666k 

3.9.1 A number of other pressures have been recognised in the 2022/23 budget. A further £901k 
has been provided to increase the council’s contribution to the Leeds 2023 Trust, reflecting 
the agreed payment schedule. However, this will be partially offset by assumed funding 
from WYCA as described in paragraph 3.4.2, although this is still subject to agreement.     

3.9.2 An adjustment of £320k has been made to the capital receipt fee income budget to reflect 
the estimated capital receipts schedule and £250k has been included to provide for the 
ongoing maintenance requirements associated with adopted highways 

3.9.3 Provision of £195k has been made within Resources & Strategy, primarily to provide 
additional capacity to support the Directorate with key national, regional and local policy 
areas and to contribute to the successful delivery of major transformational projects and 
programmes.  

3.10 Savings 

3.11 Business As Usual – £3,015k 

3.11.1 The Arts, Events and Venues team has identified net savings of £80k through investment in 
a new ticketing system solution called Tessitura. The system presents an opportunity to 
generate savings and increase income across the council.  

3.11.2 It is proposed to utilise redistributed balances of £678k from the 2018/19 Business Rates 
Pool, subject to agreement by the other Local Authorities, to substitute for the Council’s 
core budget contribution to Leeds 2023 in 2022/23. It is proposed to increase this by a 
further £189k by utilising uncommitted balances from the 2020/21 Business Rates Pool, 
giving a total substitution of £867k in 2022/23.    

3.11.3 Within Active Leeds, net savings of £50k have been included for a Health and Well Being 
offer to businesses based within or nearby to Leeds. In addition, a further £150k is 
anticipated through increased swimming tuition income based upon a remodelling of 
existing activities.  

3.11.4 Within Highways & Transportation, a major schemes procurement framework is being 
established for the delivery of the ongoing programme of infrastructure work. This will give 
Leeds direct access to the contracting market, providing savings to Leeds and also the 
potential to generate income by making it available and charging fees to other Local 
Authorities. A saving of £200k is anticipated.  

3.11.5 The service has also identified the potential to deliver the Section 38 Agreement process on 
behalf of other Highway Authorities in West Yorkshire which could generate annual income. 
At this stage, income of £40k has been included in the budget proposals which assumes 
one Local Authority will take up this service. 

Page 131



3.11.6 An additional £50k has been included which reflects the establishment of a project team to 
improve efficiency and capacity of the three Highways & Transportation Depots. 

3.11.7 Further net savings of £233k have been estimated in respect of the continuing rollout of the 
Street Lighting LED conversion scheme which continues to deliver significant energy 
consumption savings.   

3.11.8 An additional £299k saving has been identified by reviewing fees in respect of Highway 
maintenance schemes to more accurately reflect the requirements of design and co-
ordination and the increasingly complex nature of these types of schemes.  

3.11.9 Within Asset Management & Regeneration, the management of cost reduction aligning to 
Future Ways of Working and Service Delivery is continuing and estimated savings of £275k 
have been identified regarding an opportunity to sub-let surplus space and manage as an 
additional investment property.  

3.11.10 An additional £50k has been identified relating to the charging of professional property and 
delivery expertise on externally funded capital schemes, reflecting a modest increase on 
current fee charges and a review of costs. 

3.11.11 A review of Elland Road Car Park cash collection to include consideration of automated 
payment methods, introduction of cashless payments and increased flexibility in the 
charging regime is anticipated to generate an additional £20k in 2022/23. 

3.11.12 Implementation of tighter vacancy management controls across the directorate and a review 
of current levels of vacancy factor are anticipated to save an additional £476k in 2022/23.  

3.11.13 Public Health funding of £100k will be received in 2022/23 in support of existing physical 
activity programmes within Active Leeds. 

3.11.14 A corporate review of the PFI schemes has identified insurance savings of £125k for 
2022/23 in respect of the Active Leeds PFI contracts which will have a nil impact upon the 
service’s budget.  

3.12 Service Review £160k 

3.12.1 The Leeds Museum and Galleries service proposes changes to Kirkstall Abbey admissions 
for non-Leeds residents which is anticipated to generate additional income of £160k in 
2022/23. An invest to save business case will also be developed around the relocation of 
the café at Abbey House Museum to the visitor centre at Kirkstall Abbey, to deliver further 
net savings, although these are not anticipated until 2023/24.   

4 Risk Assessment 

4.1 In determining the 2022/23 budget, consideration has been given to all the risks which are 
managed within the Directorate’s overall risk management framework. Within this 
framework, a register of those items considered carrying the highest risk and therefore 
requiring careful and regular monitoring has been prepared.   

4.2 The key risks in the 2022/23 budget for the City Development Directorate are: 

• The majority of income streams within the Directorate are predicated on a buoyant and
active economy. Income from Planning and Building Control fees, Advertising, Markets,

Page 132



    
 

Active Leeds and Arts and Heritage as well as Strategic Investments and Major Capital 
Programmes are all affected by local, regional and national economic conditions and 
therefore any downturn impacts directly in these service areas. This presents a 
significant risk as the uncertainty created by the COVID Pandemic continues. The 
potential financial impact of reduced income resulting from a sustained period of COVID 
in 2022/23 has not been factored into the Directorate’s budget. 

 
• In addition, a number of the 2022/23 budget proposals relate to income growth and 

successful delivery of this budgeted growth represents a challenge for the Directorate. 
The Directorate will therefore need to ensure that income levels and the actions required 
to deliver them are closely monitored. 
 

• There is a risk that the existing savings targets around Strategic Investments are not 
achieved which reflects the Council’s intention to not simply chase financial returns but 
to only invest in suitable and sustainable investments that support the overarching 
ambitions of the Council.  

 
• Given the increase in vacancy factor in the 2022/23 budget, there is a risk that staff 

turnover and the number of vacant posts across the Directorate are less than assumed 
in the budget, potentially impacting on the Directorate’s staffing budget, although existing 
control mechanisms are in place across the directorate to mitigate this risk. 

 
 

 
Briefing note prepared by: 

  
 
Michael Everitt (Head of Finance) 

Telephone:  0113 378 7817 
 

Page 133



Directorate - City Development

2022/23 FTEs

£m

Net managed budget 2021/22 30.65

Adjustments

Transfers of function/other adjustments 0.52

Adjusted net managed budget 31.17

Changes in the use of Reserves & Balances

Use of Covid reserve - Planning backlogs (0.38)

Highways Commuted Sums (2.00)

Reversal of use of Highways balances in 21/22 0.52

Use of Highways balances 22/23 (0.10)

Changes in Other Resources 

Fallout of WYCA Gain Share 21/22 1.70

WYCA Mayoral Priorities (0.63)

Total Change in Resources (0.89)

Budget Pressures:

Inflation

Pay 2.68

Price 2.15

Income (0.64)

Employers Pension 0.00

Capitalised Pensions (0.06)

Other

Planning staffing to address backlogs 0.38 9.38

Street Licence income 0.10

Leeds 2023 payment schedule 0.90

Capital receipt fee income 0.32

Highway maintenance - adopted highways 0.25

Service Improvement Team 0.20 5.00

Total Pressures 6.26 14.38

Savings Proposals:

Business As Usual
Arts, Events, & Venues - Ticketing solution (0.08) 2.23
Utilisation of Business Rates Pool balances to substitute for Leeds 2023 spend (0.87)
Active Leeds Health & Wellbeing offer (0.05)
Active Leeds - increase swimming tuition income (0.15)
Highways & Transportation - establishment of procurement framework (0.20)
Highways & Transportation - manage s38 process on behalf of other LAs (0.04)
Highways & Transportation - efficiency savings across 3 depots (0.05)
Highways & Transportation - street lighting LED conversion energy consumption (0.23)
Highways & Transportation - review of fees re Highway maintenance schemes (0.30)
Asset Management & Regeneration - sub-let surplus office space (0.28)
Asset Management & Regeneration - review of professional property and delivery fees (0.05)
Asset Management & Regeneration - review of Elland Road cash collection arrangements (0.02)
Implementation of tighter vacancy control and vacancy factors across the directorate (0.48)

Public Health funding - Active Leeds (0.10)
Procurement savings (0.13)

Service Review
Leeds Museums and Galleries - charges to non-Leeds residents at Kirkstall Abbey (0.16)

Total Savings (3.18) 2.23

Net Managed Budget 2022/23 33.37 16.61

Page 134



City Development 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks 
Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2022/23 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Leeds Arts, Events & 

Venues - Ticketing 

Solution 

Purchase of new 
corporate 
ticketing software 
has provided 
opportunity to 
increase income 

Additional 

income target 

not achieved 

Internal staffing 
consulted 

No significant 
implications 

Already taken 
as a BAU 
decision 

£80k Chief Officer – 
Culture and 
Economy 

Leeds Museums & 
Galleries – Kirkstall 
Abbey charging to non-
Leeds residents 

Ensures the 

Abbey is more 

financially 

sustainable, whilst 

protecting Leeds 

residents.  

Demand 
assumptions 
not achieved 

Internal staffing  
and ward 
members already 
consulted, further 
public 
consultation to be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision process  

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process  

March 2022 £160k Chief Officer – 
Culture and 
Economy 

Utilisation of Business 
Rates Pool Balances as 
substitution for Leeds 
2023 expenditure 

Reduces net cost 
of Leeds 2023 to 
the Council in 
2022/23 

Confirmation 
required of 
balances 
available for 
use 

Other 
participating Pool 
Authorities – 
awaiting 
confirmation  

None March 2022 £867k Chief Officer – 
Culture and 
Economy 

Active Leeds – Health 
& Wellbeing Offer 

Meeting demand 
from private 
sector, creates 
income stream to 
Council 

Demand not 
as high as 
anticipated 

Internal staffing 
consulted 

No significant 
implications 

Already taken 
as a BAU 
decision 

£50k Chief Officer – 
Operations and 
Active Leeds 

P
age 135



City Development 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks 
Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2022/23 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Active Leeds – 
swimming tuition 
income 

Improves service 
offer and 
generates 
additional income 

Additional 
income target 
not achieved 

Customers No Significant 
Implications 

Already taken 
as a BAU 
decision 

£150k Chief Officer – 
Operations and 
Active Leeds 

Highways & 

Transportation – 

establishment of 

procurement framework 

for major schemes 

Reduces costs of 

procurement to 

LCC and 

generates income 

Other 

Authorities 

don’t utilise 

the framework 

as envisaged 

To be undertaken 

as a part of the 

decision process  

To be 

undertaken as a 

part of the 

decision 

process  

March 2022 £200k Chief Officer – 

Highways & 

Transportation 

Highways & 

Transportation – 

manage S38 approval 

process for other WY 

LAs 

Utilises existing 

expertise and 

generates income 

Demand not 

there from the 

other WY 

Authorities  

To be undertaken 

as a part of the 

decision process 

To be 

undertaken as a 

part of the 

decision 

process 

March 2022 £40k Chief Officer – 

Highways & 

Transportation 

Asset Management & 

Regeneration – sub-let 

surplus office space 

Aligns to Future 

Ways of Working 

programme and 

generates income 

Ability to 

complete in 

timescales 

N/A To be 

undertaken as a 

part of the 

decision 

process 

March 2022 £275k Chief Officer – 

Asset 

Management & 

Regeneration 

Asset Management & 

Regeneration – Elland 

Road car park cash 

collection 

More efficient 

method of cash 

collection 

provides 

opportunity to 

None 

identified 

To be undertaken 

as a part of the 

decision process 

To be 

undertaken as a 

part of the 

decision 

process 

March 2022 £20k Chief Officer – 

Asset 

Management & 

Regeneration 

P
age 136



City Development 

Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks 
Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2022/23 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

generate 

additional income 

P
age 137



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
  

 

 

What is this report about? 
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

 This report provides an overview of outcomes and service performance related to the 

Council and city priorities within the remit of the Adults and Health and Active Lifestyles 

Scrutiny Board.  Reflecting delivery of Best Council Plan priorities and the Council’s 

performance management framework relevant to this Scrutiny Board.    

 

 This report focuses on the most recently available data locally and nationally as at the end of 

2021-22 financial year. The report is for information, providing assurance that current 

performance is visible, understood and responded to.  It also serves as information to the 

Board when considering areas to undertake further scrutiny work. 

Recommendations 

a) It is recommended that the Board consider and comment on the performance information 

contained in the report and appendices, noting the assurance provided and considering if 

any additional information or further scrutiny work would be of benefit.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Performance Update - Adult Social Care, Public Health 
and Active Lifestyles  

Date: 21st June 2022 

Report of: Directors of Adults and Health, Public Health, City Development 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐Yes  ☒No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐Yes  ☒No 

Report author: Peter Storrie, Rob Wood, 

Suresh Perisetta, Emma Kamillo-Price 

Tel: 07891 277053 

Page 139

Agenda Item 11



Why is the proposal being put forward?  
1 This report provides an overview of outcomes and service performance related to the 

Council priorities and services within the remit of the Adults and Health and Active 

Lifestyles Scrutiny Board.  It is intended as a succinct overview ensuring visibility, providing 

assurance and informing ongoing scrutiny work. 

 

2 This report provides an update on progress in delivering the Council and city priorities in 

line with the Council’s performance management framework and the Best Council Plan.  It 

also relates to city and Council strategies including the Health and Well Being Strategy, the 

Leeds Health and Care Plan and the Better Lives Strategy.  

 

3 Updates against city and Council priorities are brought to the Board to inform the start of 

the scrutiny year and the annual budget setting cycle. The report is presented in three 

distinct sections reflective of Council accountabilities.  These are Public Health, Adult Social 

Care and Active Lifestyles - with the majority of the updates in the respective appendices.  

While there are commonalities in how these relate to the citizens of Leeds, the appendices 

are in effect distinct reports, with the covering report offering an introduction. However it is 

clear that Covid 19 has had a particularly adverse impact on health and care services. 

 

4 Appendix 1a is a public health performance report providing an update on population health 

outcome indicators and the use of services commissioned by Leeds City Council Public 

Health team.  Appendix 1b includes a dashboard, and time series charts of these outcomes 

to provide further detail. These documents support the monitoring of changes of health and 

health inequalities in Leeds and public health service delivery. 

 

The emerging impact of COVID on health outcomes can be seen. Life expectancy for Leeds 

is below the England average and the trend of improving life expectancy remains 

stalled.  There are small decreases in life expectancy across all groups, which is not yet 

showing as a significant change in life expectancy compared to the previous period.  If this 

trend continues, we will see a significant decrease, so we will continue to track these changes 

carefully. 

 

In this report across 37 indicators, 15 indicators were available for update with the latest data. 

Nine were population health outcomes; of these there were no statistically significant 

changes for most, although the gap between Leeds and Deprived Leeds remains a major 

challenge across all.  From this latest data, the main area of change is widening inequality in 

the proportion of reception age group children who are obese.  This has seen a significant 

increase for Leeds overall (14.9% compared to 10.1%), but for the most deprived areas of 

Leeds there has been a larger proportionate increase from 12.5% to 19.5%. 

 

Six were operational indicators.  This reflects national trends as we emerge from the pandemic 

and requires both a local and national response.  In relation to operational indicators, key 

headlines include an increase in the number of NHS health checks carried out and improved 

uptake rates for those invited for NHS Health Checks.  Leeds continues to perform well in 

relation to drug and alcohol treatment, with completion rates higher in Leeds compared to 

Yorkshire and Humber, England, and the other Core Cities. 

 

 Overall public health services are performing well, but we need to respond to the emerging 

needs of our population; particularly around the persistent gaps in health inequality and the 

new emerging challenges including addressing children’s healthy weight to support families 

Page 140



now and prevent further implications for the public’s health and sustainable services in the 

future.  

 

5 Appendices 2a provides a detailed update on Adult Social Care using the provisional Adult 
Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF) measures for 2021/22 with comparator 
information and the most recent position as at the end of 2021/22 in terms of demand and 
activity. Appendix 2b the provides the data used to inform this update. The main highlights 
are: 
 
ASCOF - Following the completion of the Short & Long Term services (SALT) return, 

Personal Social Services (PSS) Survey and Carers Survey, the draft results for the ASCOF 

measures for 2021/22 are now available. Comparator data will not be available until 

October 2022.  Overall, compared to the last available result, six measures have improved 

whilst sixteen have declined compared to the previous result. The measures can be broken 

down into three distinct groups: 

 Ten ASCOF measures are obtained from the SALT return. Of these five have improved 

whilst five have declined compared to 2020/21, however some of these results were 

impacted upon by COVID. When compared to 2019/20 a similar picture is seen with five 

having improved and five declined.  

 The PSS survey provides the basis for eight measures within the ASCOF. The provisional 

results show that performance has dropped for six out of the seven available measures 

compared to the last survey in 2019/20.  

 The Carers survey provides the basis for five measures within the ASCOF. The provisional 

results show that performance has dropped for all five measures compared to the last survey 

in 2018/19.  

Demand - Adult Social Care continues to face high level of demand for its services though 

following highs over the summer month they now appear to have reduced to more in line 

with levels seen over the past two year. However, this has yet to fully work its way through 

the process.  This high demand coupled with capacity issues such as recruitment continue 

to put pressure on the service. The social work and occupational therapy service has yet to 

clear all of the backlog of cases that have accrued because of Covid 19. 

Activity – The Short and Long Term service users (SALT) national data return is completed 

at the end of each financial year. The first submission of the 2021/22 return was completed 

in May. This showed that as at 31st March 2022 Adult Social Care provided long term 

support to 8,518 people (3,843 aged 18-64, 4,675 aged 65 or over). This is broadly in line 

with the numbers at the end of 2020/21 financial year.  

6 Appendices 3 is an update on More Adults are Active.  This is based on the national Active 
Lives Survey (ALS), carried out by Sport England.  This provides the data for the “percentage 
of people who are inactive” Best Council Plan 2020-2025 performance indicator.  The Survey 
samples around 2,000 Leeds’ residents on a rolling basis; with “inactive” defined as 
undertaking less than 30 minutes of moderate activity per week.   
 
Activity levels are starting to recover following large drops caused by coronavirus (Covid-
19) pandemic restrictions. Our latest Active Lives Adult Survey report shows that Leeds 
inactivity rate has significantly fallen since this sharp rise due to previous lockdown periods. 
The Inactive rate has fallen from last year (25.6%) to 23.3% for the period Nov 2020 to Nov 
2021 which equates to 150,000 people. This highlights that an extra 14,000 people have 
moved from being inactive to active this year. Leeds now has one of the lowest inactive 
rates in North Yorkshire with only Craven and Harrogate recording lower rates of inactivity. 
Leeds is only 2nd compared to all Core Cities, only behind Bristol which records an 

Page 141



inactivity rating of 20.7% and is substantially lower than the National (27.2%), regional 
(28.4%) and core cities (26.6%) averages  
 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

7 This is an update paper on city outcomes and service performance there are no specific 

proposals.   
 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

8 This is an information report and as such does not need to be consulted on with the public. 

However performance information is published on the council’s website and is available to 

the public, locally and often through national publications and websites.  

 

 

What are the resource implications? 

9 There are no direct resource decisions involved in this report.  How resources are best 

used to achieve priorities is relevant especially given our asset based and strengths based 

approach.  The current need to prioritise resources in response to Covid-19 are relevant in 

considering performance.  

 

What are the legal implications?  

10 All performance information is publicly available.  This report is an information update 

providing Scrutiny with a summary of performance for the strategic priorities within its remit 

and as such is not subject to call in. 

 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 

11 In presenting performance against key priorities key risks and challenges are highlighted.  

This report forms part of a comprehensive risk and performance management process in 

the council to monitor and manage key risks. The council’s most significant risks are 

available and can be accessed via the council’s website.  

Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars? 

☒Inclusive Growth  ☒Health and Wellbeing  ☒Climate Emergency 

12 Equality issues are implicit in the priorities presented in this report.   As a broad headline 

report the detail is not necessarily provided, accepting that some of the outcomes and 

services included directly relate to user groups that match protected characteristics. The 

adult social care and many of the health outcomes relate to vulnerable adults and reflect 

how well their needs are being met and their vulnerabilities addressed.  The purpose of the 

strategic and operational activity in this report is to ensure that the needs of people at risk 

of poor outcomes are identified and responded to at both individual and community levels.  

Protected equalities characteristics such as race and sexuality are considered in the design 

and operation of services. 

 

13 There are no specific climate change implications from this report.  However in broad terms 

the promotion of healthy lifestyles and the maintenance of good health and independence 

Wards Affected: All 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐Yes    ☒No 

 

Page 142



is supportive of addressing the impact on the climate emergency, an example being 

walking and cycling as means of travel. 

  

Options, timescales and measuring success  

a) What other options were considered? 

14 Not applicable  

 

b) How will success be measured? 

15 Not applicable 

 

c) What is the timetable for implementation? 

16 Not applicable 

  

 

 

Appendices 

17 Appendix 1a: Public Health update paper (summary of key issues) 

18 Appendix 1b: Public Health Performance Report Q2 2021/22  

19 Appendix 2a: Adults Social Care update paper (summary of key issues) 

20 Appendix 2b: Adult Social Care Datasets 

21 Appendix 3   More Adults are Active  

 

Background papers 

22 None. 

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1a: Public Health Performance Report Q4 2021-22 

 

Summary/Purpose: 
 
This report provides an update on population health outcomes and the use of services 
commissioned by the Leeds City Council Public Health team. It includes indicators that 
have been updated since the last Public Health Performance Report was published 
(November 2021). 
 
Where there has been a recent update to an indicator, these are marked with an asterisk 
(*) in the report and the associated dashboard, indicator sheet and charts (Appendix 1b.  
 
Population indicators 

 Infant mortality rate (per 1,000 live births) 

 Reception: Prevalence of obesity (including severe obesity) 

 Year 6: Prevalence of Obesity (including severe obesity) 

 Smoking Prevalence in adults (18+) - current smokers (APS) (2020 definition) 

 Odds of current smoking (self-reported) among adults aged 18-64 with a routine 
and manual occupation (APS) (2020 definition) 

 Excess weight in adults % of Adults who have a BMI of over 30 

 Percentage of physically inactive adults (aged 19+, <30 moderate intensity minutes 
per week). 

 Prevalence of severe mental health 18+ (per 100,000) 

 Excess under 75 mortality rates in adults with severe mental illness (SMI) (Excess 
risk %) 
 

Operational indicators 

 Recorded diabetes type 1 and 2 (per 100,000) 

 Completed NHS Health Checks from PHE eligible invites 

 Conversion of PHE invites into complete Health Checks 

 Successful completion of drug treatment - opiate users (%) 

 Successful completion of alcohol treatment (%) 

 New HIV diagnosis rate / 100,000 aged 15+ 
 
This report has been prepared between 1st and 6th April 2022 and therefore incorporates 
data that were available at the time of writing.  
 
Time series comparisons between Leeds, deprived Leeds and least deprived are provided 
where possible.  Deprived Leeds refers to neighbourhoods in the 10% most deprived Lower 
Super Output Areas (LSOAs) in England. This equates to around 24% of the Leeds 
population (n=194,307 people) based on ONS 2020 mid-year estimates1. Least deprived 
refers to neighbourhoods in the 10% least deprived LSOA’s in England, this equates to 
around 6% (n=51,242 people) of the Leeds population2. LSOA level data is required to 
calculate inequalities (deprived Leeds vs least deprived), and this level of data is not 
available for some indicators. Indicators without deprivation data are marked with a hashtag 
(#) in the Dashboard (Appendix 1b). 
 
*Infant mortality rate per 1000 births 

                                                           
1 24% of Leeds LSOAs (114 out of 482 LSOAs) 
2 7% of Leeds LSOAs (33 out of 482 LSOAs) 

Page 145



Infant mortality is an indicator of the general health of an entire population. It reflects the 
relationship between causes of infant mortality and upstream determinants of population 
health such as economic, social and environmental conditions.  
 
The infant mortality rate for Leeds between 2019-21 was 5.0 per 1,000 live births, this 
increase is not statistically significant from the previous period (4.6 per 1,000 in 2018-20). 
The overall trend shows the inequality gap has narrowed; however again, this change is 
not a statistically significant improvement.  
 
*Reception: Prevalence of obesity (including severe obesity) 
There is a national concern about the rise of childhood obesity. The health consequences 
of childhood obesity include: increased blood lipids, glucose intolerance, Type 2 diabetes, 
hypertension, increases in liver enzymes associated with fatty liver, exacerbation of 
conditions such as asthma and psychological problems such as social isolation, low self-
esteem, teasing and bullying.  
 
The annual National Child Measurement Programme data show obesity rates among 
Reception children for Leeds in 2020/21 is 14.9%, a statistically significant increase 
compared to 2019/20 when the rate was 10.1%. The rate for the most deprived areas in 
2020/21 is 19.5%, which is also a statistically significant increase from the previous period 
(12.5% in 2019/20). The rate for least deprived areas is 7.6%, this is an increase (but not 
statistically significant) from the previous period. The inequality gap between those living 
in the most deprived areas and least deprived areas increased from 6% to 11.9%. This 
trend is being seen nationally. 
 
*Year 6: Prevalence of Obesity (including severe obesity) 
Obesity rates for Year 6 children are not available at Leeds level due to the very low sample 
size (due to school closures during COVID-19).  
 
National and regional figures show there has been a significant increase of approximately 
4.5 percentage points in obesity for both Reception and Year 6 children.  These national 
data show obesity rates are more than double for children living in deprived areas compared 
to those in the least deprived areas. It is thought that the increase in obesity levels has been 
caused in part by the COVID-19 lockdown, which reduced children’s access to healthy 
affordable food, physical activity and impacted negatively on child and family emotional 
wellbeing which are all evidence based risk factors for obesity. 
 
*Smoking prevalence in adults (18+) – current smokers (APS) (Proportion %) (2020 
definition) 
Smoking is the most important cause of preventable ill health and premature mortality in 
the UK. Smoking is a major risk factor for many diseases, such as lung cancer, chronic 
obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and heart disease. It is also associated with 
cancers in other organs, including lip, mouth, throat, bladder, kidney, stomach, liver and 
cervix. 
 
The proportion of smokers in Leeds is 13.3% in 2020. It is not possible to compare to the 
previous period due to the change in methodology of the Annual Population Survey (APS). 
APS was formerly conducted via face-to-face interview but has now changed to telephone 
only. This means the current indicator has a different methodology and should not be 
compared to the previously published indicator (Fingertips ID: 92443). The latest rate for 
Leeds is similar3 to Yorkshire and the Humber (12.9%) and England (12.1%).  
 

                                                           
3 The term ‘similar’ is used when the rate is not statistically significantly different to its comparator.  

Page 146



*Smoking prevalence in adults (18-64) - socio-economic gap in current smokers 
(APS) (Ratio) (new methodology in 2020)4  
Socio-economic gap in current smokers presented as an odd ratio, representing the 
likelihood of those working in routine and manual occupations being current smokers 
compared with those working in professional or intermediate occupations in any given 
geographical area.  
 
The ratio for Leeds in 2020 is 2.9. This means those working in routine and manual 
occupations are 2.9 times as likely to smoke than their counterparts. The value for Leeds 
remains higher/worse than Yorkshire and the Humber which is 2.2 and England, which is 
2.1. It is not possible to compare to the previous period due to the change in methodology 
of the Annual Population Survey (APS). APS was formerly conducted via face-to-face 
interview but has now changed to telephone only. This means the current indicator has a 
different methodology and should not be compared to the previously published indicator 
(Fingertips ID: 93382). 
 
*Excess weight (obesity) in adults % of Adults who have a BMI of over 30 
Excess weight in adults is a major metabolic risk factor of premature mortality and 
avoidable ill health. The rates for Leeds are stable, the average in Q4 2021/22 is 24.0%, 
for people living in the most deprived areas the rate is 28.7% and least deprived 19.4%. 
There are no statistically significant changes from the previous quarter. The overall trend 
shows the inequality gap is narrowing between those living in the most deprived areas 
and least deprived areas, however this is not a statistically significant improvement.  
 
*Percentage of physically inactive adults (aged 19+, <30 moderate intensity 
minutes per week) 
Physical inactivity is defined as engaging in less than 30 minutes of physical activity per 
week. Physical inactivity is the 4th leading risk factor for global mortality accounting for 6% 
of deaths globally. People who have a physically active lifestyle have a 20-35% lower risk 
of cardiovascular disease, coronary heart disease and stroke compared to those who have 
a sedentary lifestyle. 
 
The rate for Leeds in Q4 2021/22 is 35.6%, for people living in the most deprived areas the 
rate is 41.3% and least deprived is 29.0%. The rates are stable, with no statistically 
significant changes from the previous quarter. The overall trend shows the inequality gap 
is narrowing between those living in the most deprived areas against least deprived areas; 
however this is not a statistically significant improvement. 
 
*Prevalence of severe mental illness 18+ (per 100,000) 
The rate for Leeds average in Q4 2021/22 is 1,305.4 per 100,000, for people living in the 
most deprived areas it is 2,019.9 per 100,000 (this is worse than Leeds average) and least 
deprived is 685.1 per 100,000 (better than Leeds average). The rates are stable with no 
statistically significant changes from the previous quarter and no improvements in reducing 
inequality gap. 
 
 
 
*Excess under 75 mortality rates in adults with severe mental illness (SMI) (Excess 
risk %) 
A Severe Mental Illness (SMI) includes schizophrenia, bipolar affective disorder and other 
psychoses. Compared with the general patient population, patients with SMI are at 
substantially higher risk of obesity, asthma, diabetes, chronic obstructive pulmonary 

                                                           
4 This is a renamed version of the previously published ‘Smoking prevalence in adults – socioeconomic gap in current 
smokers’. The underlying odds ratio calculation remains the same. 

Page 147



disease (COPD) and cardiovascular disease. In 2018 the All-Party Parliamentary Group on 
Mental Health highlighted that to deliver on the Five Year Forward View for 
Mental Health (FYFV-MH) commitment to prevent poor physical health outcomes for 
people with SMI, a national measure for reducing premature mortality with targets to hold 
services to account is required. 
 
The rate for Leeds during the latest period, 2018-20 was 413.9% higher risk of premature 
mortality than adults without SMI. There is no significant change from the previous period. 
The rate for Leeds is worse than Yorkshire and the Humber (402.6%) but better than 
England (451%), these comparisons are statistically significant.  
 
Operational indicators  
 
*Recorded diabetes type 1 and 2 (per 100,000) 
Diabetes mellitus is one of the common endocrine diseases affecting all age groups with 
over three million people in the UK having the condition. Effective control and monitoring 
can reduce mortality and morbidity. This indicator is a measure of recorded prevalence 
and not actual prevalence and therefore under-reports groups who are less likely to be 
registered with a GP. An increase in rates therefore indicates detection is better.  
 
The rate of recorded diabetes type 1 and 2 in Leeds for Q4 2021/22 is 6,583.9 per 
100,000, the rate for people living in the most deprived areas is 9,400 per 100,000 and 
least deprived 4,115.9 per 100,000. There are no statistically significant changes from 
the previous quarter.   
 
*Completed NHS Health Checks from PHE eligible invites 
The NHS Health Check programme aims to help prevent heart disease, stroke, diabetes 
and kidney disease. Everyone between the ages of 40 and 74, who has not already been 
diagnosed with one of these conditions, will be invited (once every five years) to have a 
check to assess their risk of heart disease, stroke, kidney disease and diabetes and will 
be given support and advice to help them reduce or manage that risk. A high take up of 
NHS Health Check is important to identify early signs of poor health leading to 
opportunities for early interventions. 
 
In Q4 2021/22, 2,366 people from PHE eligible invites received an NHS Health Check, 
this is an increase from 1,219 in Q3 2021/22. The increase in the number of NHS Health 
Checks completed follows a recent NHS England directive asking Primary Care to restore 
routine services. 
 
*Conversion of PHE invites into complete Health Checks 
In Q4 2021/22 conversion of PHE invites into complete Health Checks was 20.3%, this 
was an increase from 10.4% in Q3 2021/22. The increase in the number of NHS Health 
Checks completed follows a recent NHS England directive asking Primary Care to restore 
routine services. 
 
*Successful completion of drug treatment - opiate users (%) 
Individuals achieving this outcome demonstrate a significant improvement in health and 
well-being in terms of increased longevity, reduced blood-borne virus transmission, 
improved parenting skills and improved physical and psychological health. The rate for 
Leeds in 2020 was 7.8%, there is no significant change from the previous period. The rate 
is statistically significantly, higher/better than Yorkshire and the Humber (4.2%) and 
England (4.7%).  
 
*Successful completion of alcohol treatment (%) 

Page 148

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf


Individuals achieving this outcome demonstrate a significant improvement in health and 
well-being in terms of increased longevity, reduced alcohol related illnesses and hospital 
admissions, improved parenting skills and improved psychological health. It will also 
reduce the harm to others caused by dependent drinking.  
 
The rate for Leeds in 2020 was 45.9%, there is no significant change from the previous 
period. The rate is statistically significantly, higher/better than Yorkshire and the Humber 
(35.0%) and England (35.3%). 
 
*New HIV diagnosis rate / 100,000 aged 15+ 
New HIV diagnosis is not synonymous with incidence; however, it provides a timely insight 
into the onward HIV transmission in a country/city and consequently allows targeting 
efforts to reduce transmission.  
 
The rate for Leeds in 2020 was 8.1 per 100,000, there is no significant change from the 
previous period. The rate is statistically significantly higher/worse than Yorkshire and the 
Humber (4.1 per 100,000) and England (5.7 per 100,000), the overall trend for Leeds 
however is improving.  
 

 
 
 

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



Population Indicators Updated April 2022

Leeds
Most 

Deprived

Least 

Deprived

Life Expectancy at Birth - Males  78.1  73.4  82.9

Life Expectancy at Birth - Females  81.9  77.7  87.4

1. Improving the health and wellbeing of children and young people:

* Infant mortality rate per 1000 births  5.0  6.1  5.5

* Reception: Prevalence of obesity (including severe obesity)  14.9%  19.5%  7.6%

* Year 6: Prevalence of obesity (including severe obesity)  20.8%  27.0%  11.8%

Under 18 conception rate/1,000  22.8  #  #

2. Improving the health and wellbeing of adults and preventing early death:

*
Smoking Prevalence in adults (18+) - current smokers (APS) (2020 

definition)
 13.3%  #  #

*
Odds of current smoking (self-reported) among adults aged 18-64 with a 

routine and manual occupation (APS) (2020 definition)
 2.9  #  #

* Excess weight in adults % of Adults who have a BMI of over 30  24.0%  28.7%  19.4%

*
Percentage of physically inactive adults (aged 19+, <30 moderate intensity 

minutes per week)
 35.6%  41.3%  29.0%

* Prevalence of severe mental illness 18+  1,305.4  2,019.9  685.1

ESA claimants for mental and behavioural disorders: rate per 1,000 

working age population
 33.4  #  #

Gap in the employment rate for those in contact with secondary mental 

health services and the overall employment rate (Persons)
 63.7  #  #

Gap in the employment rate between those with a learning disability and 

the overall employment rate (gap - percentage points)
 67.6  #  #

Circulatory disease mortality, all ages, DSR per 100,000  245.1  321.9  183.7

Circulatory disease mortality, under 75, DSR per 100,000   82.7  134.0  46.1

Respiratory mortality, all ages, DSR per 100,000  89.7  152.5  35.6

Respiratory mortality, under 75, DSR per 100,000  34.0  70.0  8.6

Cancer mortality, all ages, DSR per 100,000  285.5  401.4  205.5

Cancer mortality, under 75, DSR per 100,000  150.8  227.3  103.0

Alcoholic liver disease mortality, under 75, DSR per 100,000  13.0  22.1  6.5

* Excess under 75 mortality rate in adults with severe mental illness (SMI)  413.9  #  #

Under 75 mortality rate from causes considered preventable (2019 

definition)
 200.9  328.4  109.9

3. Protecting health and wellbeing (*protect the health of the local population):

Suicide Rate (persons)  13.4  18.0  6.6

4.
Public Health advice to NHS Commissioners 

Public Health Performance Report Q4 2021/22 

Support NHS to provide effective and equitable health care service:              

Overarching Indicator

5. Developing 
community health 
capacity and the 
wider public               
health workforce:

- Training and 
development 
programmes

- Local community 
health 
development

- City wide health 
determinants

6. Improving the 
use of Public 
Health Intelligence 
in decision making 
by organisations 
and the public:

- Health profiling
- Needs assessment
- Social marketing 
and insight

Page 151



Operational Indicators
Leeds

Deprived 

Leeds

1 Improving the health and wellbeing of children and young people:

Leeds
Most 

Deprived

Least 

Deprived

Breastfeeding maintenance at 6-8 weeks (%)  39.2%  33.7%  #

Best start - number of under 2s taken into care  94.0  55.0  0.0

2 Improving the health and wellbeing of adults and preventing early death:

* Recorded diabetes type 1 and 2 (per 100,000)  6,583.9  9,400.0  4,115.9

* Completed NHS Health Checks from PHE eligible invites            2,366  #  #

* Conversion of PHE invites into complete Health Checks  20.3%  #  #

* Successful completion of drug treatment - opiate users (%)  7.8%  #  #

* Successful completion of alcohol treatment (%)  45.9%  #  #

Admission episodes for alcohol-specific conditions - All Ages (Persons, DSR 

per 100,000)
 639.0  1,200.1  202.4

Admission episodes for alcohol-specific conditions - Under 18s (Persons)  18.9  22.9  6.2

Emergency Admissions from Intentional Self-Harm (DSR per 100,000)  164.8  250.3  79.2

Emergency admissions due to falls for aged 65 and over  1,697.9  2,290.9  1,215.6

3 Protecting health and wellbeing (*protect the health of the local population):

* New HIV diagnosis rate / 100,000 aged 15+  8.1  #  #

New STI diagnosis (exc chlamydia aged <25) / 100,000  576.5  #  #

4.

Public Health advice to NHS Commissioners 

Notes

* Indicators marked with an asterisk have been updated Significance of change since previous period:

Statistically significant, direction is postive  

Statistically significant, direction is negative  

Not statistically significant, direction is postive  

Not statistically significant, direction is negative  

Unable to test, direction is positive  

Unable to test, direction is negative  

For the majority of these indicators a reduction represents an improvement. Notable exceptions are Life Expectancy at Birth, service / health intervention uptake and successful 

completion / continuation

Support NHS to provide effective and equitable health care service:              

# Deprived Leeds data unavailable due to no access to latest 

data / data quality issue 

Updated April 2022

5. Developing 
community health 
capacity and the 
wider public               
health workforce:

- Training and 
development 
programmes

- Local community 
health 
development

- City wide health 
determinants

6. Improving the 
use of Public 
Health Intelligence 
in decision making 
by organisations 
and the public:

- Health profiling
- Needs assessment
- Social marketing 
and insight

Page 152



Population Indicators Leeds
Deprived 

Leeds

Least 

Deprived
Latest period

Previous 

period

Leeds

Previous 

period

Deprived

Previous 

period

Least Deprived

Previous 

period

An improving 

direction is an 

Overarching Indicator

Life Expectancy at Birth - Males  78.1  73.4  82.9 2018-2020 78.3 73.7 83.5 2017-2019 increase

Life Expectancy at Birth - Females  81.9  77.7  87.4 2018-2020 82.1 78.0 87.6 2017-2019 increase

1 Improving the health and wellbeing of children and young people:

* Infant mortality rate per 1000 births  5.0  6.1  5.5 2019-2021 4.6 6.3 4.0 2018-2020 decrease

* Reception: Prevalence of Obesity (including severe obesity)  14.9%  19.5%  7.6% 2020/21 10.1% 12.5% 6.0% 2019/20 decrease

* Year 6: Prevalence of Obesity (including severe obesity)  20.8%  27.0%  11.8% 2019/20 21.0% 26.2% 11.1% 2018/19 decrease

Under 18 conception rate/1,000  22.8  #  # 2019 23.8 # # 2018 decrease

2 Improving the health and wellbeing of adults and preventing early death:

* Smoking Prevalence in adults (18+) - current smokers (APS) (2020 definition)  13.3%  #  # 2020 15.3% # # 2019 decrease

*
Odds of current smoking (self-reported) among adults aged 18-64 with a routine and 

manual occupation (APS) (2020 definition)
 2.9  #  # 2020 3.8 # # 2019 decrease

* Excess weight in adults % of Adults who have a BMI of over 30  24.0%  28.7%  19.4% Q4 2021/22 24.1% 29.0% 19.0% Q3 2021/22 decrease

*
Percentage of physically inactive adults (aged 19+, <30 moderate intensity minutes per 

week)
 35.6%  41.3%  29.0% Q4 2021/22 35.7% 41.6% 28.7% Q3 2021/22 decrease

* Prevalence of severe mental illness 18+  1,305.4  2,019.9  685.1 Q4 2021/22 1,304.5 2,023.8 673.3 Q3 2021/22 decrease

ESA claimants for mental and behavioural disorders: rate per 1,000 working age 

population
 33.4  #  # 2018 32.8 # # 2016 decrease

Gap in the employment rate for those in contact with secondary mental health services 

and the overall employment rate (Persons)
 63.7  #  # 2019/20 63.5 # # 2018/19 decrease

Gap in the employment rate between those with a learning disability and the overall 

employment rate (gap - percentage points)
 67.6  #  # 2019/20 67.8 # # 2018/19 decrease

Circulatory disease mortality, all ages, DSR per 100,000  245.1  321.9  183.7 2018 - 2020 264.8 349.5 190.3 2017 - 2019 decrease

Circulatory disease mortality, under 75, DSR per 100,000   82.7  134.0  46.1 2018-2020 82.2 133.0 43.7 2017-2019 decrease

Respiratory mortality, all ages, DSR per 100,000  89.7  152.5  35.6 2018-2020 91.5 154.9 34.7 2017-2019 decrease

Respiratory mortality, under 75, DSR per 100,000  34.0  70.0  8.6 2018-2020 31.5 70.5 7.5 2017-2019 decrease

Cancer mortality, all ages, DSR per 100,000  285.5  401.4  205.5 2018-2020 289.3 401.6 216.4 2017-2019 decrease

Cancer mortality, under 75, DSR per 100,000  150.8  227.3  103.0 2018-2020 146.4 219.1 106.1 2017-2019 decrease

Alcoholic liver disease mortality, under 75, DSR per 100,000  13.0  22.1  6.5 2018-2020 11.3 20.0 6.0 2017-2019 decrease

* Excess under 75 mortality rate in adults with severe mental illness (SMI)  413.9  #  # 2018-20 401.2 # # 2017-19 decrease

Under 75 mortality rate from causes considered preventable (2019 definition)  200.9  328.4  109.9 2018-2020 195.3 315.5 111.8 2017-2019 decrease

3 Protecting health and wellbeing (*protect the health of the local population):

Suicide Rate (persons)  13.4  18.0  6.6 2018-20 12.6 18.3 4.3 2017-19 decrease

P
age 153



Operational Indicators Leeds
Most 

Deprived

Least 

Deprived
Latest period

Previous 

period

Leeds

Previous 

period

Deprived

Previous 

period

Least Deprived

Previous 

period

An improving 

direction is an 

1 Improving the health and wellbeing of children and young people:

Breastfeeding maintenance at 6-8 weeks (%)  39.2%  33.7%  # 2020/21 49.1% 33.7% # 2019/20 increase

Best start - number of under 2s taken into care  94.0  55.0  0.0 2020/21 123.0 60.0 1.0 2019/20 decrease

2 Improving the health and wellbeing of adults and preventing early death:

* Recorded diabetes type 1 and 2 (per 100,000)  6,583.9  9,400.0  4,115.9 Q4 2021/22 6,558.8 9,362.7 4,099.7 Q3 2021/22 increase

* Completed NHS Health Checks from PHE eligible invites      2,366.0  #  # Q4 2021/22 1,219.0 # # Q3 2021/22 increase

* Conversion of PHE invites into complete Health Checks  20.3%  #  # Q4 2021/22 10.4% # # Q3 2021/22 increase

* Successful completion of drug treatment - opiate users (%)  7.8%  #  # 2020 7.3% # # 2019 increase

* Successful completion of alcohol treatment (%)  45.9%  #  # 2020 43.5% # # 2019 increase

Admission episodes for alcohol-specific conditions - All Ages (Persons, DSR per 100,000)  639.0  1,200.1  202.4 2020-2021 710.0 1296.2 383.4 2019-2020 decrease

Admission episodes for alcohol-specific conditions - Under 18s (Persons)  18.9  22.9  6.2 2018/19-20/21 21.6 18.4 15.7 2017/18-19/20 decrease

Emergency Admissions from Intentional Self-Harm (DSR per 100,000)  164.8  250.3  79.2 2020/21 194.6 285.4 148.5 2019/20 decrease

Emergency admissions due to falls for aged 65 and over  1,697.9  2,290.9  1,215.6 2020/21 2,019.3 2598.7 1,371.6 2019/20 decrease

3 Protecting health and wellbeing (*protect the health of the local population):

* New HIV diagnosis rate / 100,000 aged 15+  8.1  #  # 2020 11.4 # # 2019 decrease

New STI diagnosis (exc chlamydia aged <25) / 100,000  576.5  #  # 2020 908.8 # # 2019 decrease

Notes

* Indicators marked with an asterisk have been updated April 2022.

# Data at LSOA level is unavailable, Deprived data cannot be calculated.  

"Most Deprived" is the population of Leeds living in an area ranking in the 10% most deprived nationally, "Least Deprived" is the 10% least deprived nationally. There is an exception for child obesity 

 indicators which use 20% most deprived and 20% least deprived to align with the ntaional Child Measurement Programme.

Population' and 'Operational' indicators are defined as follows. Population level indicators are health outcomes (i.e. Increased life expectancy, Reduced premature mortality, People living healthier lifestyles). Operational indicators are 

measures of service delivery or health intervention, and the outcome of that service delivery or health intervention (i.e. breast feeding initiation, and continuation at 6-8 wks, health checks and numbers on diabetes register, completion of 

alcohol dependency treatment and admission to hospital for alcohol harm). Please note that providing a Leeds Deprived split is not possible for all indicators.

P
age 154



0

2

4

6

8

10

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

Life Expectancy at Birth - Females

*Infant mortality rate (per 1000 live births) ǂ

Population Indicators

*Reception: Prevalence of Obesity (including severe obesity)

70

72

74

76

78

80

82

84

86

88

90

Y
e

ar
s

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

70

72

74

76

78

80

82

84

86

88

90

Y
e

ar
s

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

Public Health Performance Report (April 2022)

1

*Indicators marked with an asterisk and highlighted green have been updated April 2022

ǂ Confidence intervals for least deprived unavailable

Life Expectancy at Birth - Males

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

P
age 155



Year 6: Prevalence of Obesity (including severe obesity) Under 18 conception rate (per 1,000)ǂ

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

2

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Leeds England Y&H
ǂWhere Leeds inequalities data not available, regional and national comparators presented.

*Smoking Prevalence in adults (18+) - current smokers (APS) 
(Proportion%) (---new methodology in 2020)

*Odds of current smoking (self-reported) among adults aged 18-64 with a 
routine and manual occupation (APS) (---new methodology in 2020)

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Leeds Y&H England

 -

 1.0

 2.0

 3.0

 4.0

 5.0

 6.0

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Leeds Y&H England

P
age 156



17%

19%

21%

23%

25%

27%

29%

31%

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

*Excess weight (obesity) in adults % of Adults who have a BMI of over 30
*Percentage of physically inactive adults (aged 19+, <30 moderate 

intensity minutes per week)

3

*Prevalence of Severe Mental Illness 18+ (DSR per 100,000)

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Leeds Y&H England

ESA claimants for mental and behavioural disorders 
(rate per 1,000 working age population)ǂ

ǂOHID confirmed data for 2017 is not available

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

P
age 157



Circulatory disease mortality, all ages (DSR per 100,000)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

4

Gap in the employment rate for those in contact with secondary mental 
health services and the overall employment rate (gap - percentage points)

50

55

60

65

70

75

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Leeds Y&H England

40

45

50

55

60

65

70

75

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Leeds Y&H England

Gap in the employment rate between those with a learning disability and 
the overall employment rate (gap - percentage points)

Circulatory disease mortality, under 75 (DSR per 100,000) 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

P
age 158



Respiratory mortality, all ages (DSR per 100,000) Respiratory mortality, under 75 (DSR per 100,000)

Cancer mortality, all ages (DSR per 100,000)

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

5

Cancer mortality, under 75 (DSR per 100,000)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

P
age 159



Alcoholic liver disease mortality, under 75 (DSR per 100,000)
*Excess under 75 mortality rate in adults with severe mental illness (SMI) 

(Excess risk %)

Under 75 mortality rate (DSR per 100,000) from causes considered 
preventable 

(2019 definition)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

2012-2014 2013-2015 2014-2016 2015-2017 2016-2018 2017-2019 2018-2020

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

6

Suicide, 3 year average rate (DSR per 100,000) 

0

5

10

15

20

25

2012-14 2013-15 2014-16 2015-17 2016-18 2017-19 2018-20

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

2015-17 2016-18 2017-19 2018-20

Leeds Y&H EnglandP
age 160



0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

Q2 2021/22 Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22

Leeds

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

10,000

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

Operational Indicators

Breast feeding maintenance at 6-8 weeks (%) Best start - number of under 2s taken into careǂ

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Leeds Deprived

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

ǂCare starts in the least deprived has remained under 5

7

*Recorded diabetes type 1 and 2 (per 100,000) *Completed number of NHS Health Checks from PHE eligible invites 

P
age 161



0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

Q2 2021/22 Q3 2021/22 Q4 2021/22

Leeds

*Conversion of PHE invites into complete Health Checks *Successful completion of drug treatment - opiate users (%)

8

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

10%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Leeds England Y&H

*Successful completion of alcohol treatment (%)

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45
50

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

Admission episodes for alcohol-specific conditions - Under 18s (Persons)

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Leeds England Y&H

P
age 162



9

Admission episodes for alcohol-specific conditions - All Ages 
(Persons, DSR per 100,000)

0

300

600

900

1,200

1,500

1,800

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

0.0

100.0

200.0

300.0

400.0

500.0

600.0

700.0

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

Emergency Admissions from Intentional Self-Harm (DSR per 100,000)

Emergency admissions due to falls for aged 65 and over (per 100,000) *New HIV diagnosis rate (per 100,000) aged 15+

40

540

1,040

1,540

2,040

2,540

3,040

3,540

4,040

Leeds Deprived Least Deprived

 -

 5.0

 10.0

 15.0

 20.0

 25.0

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Leeds England Y&H

P
age 163



New STI diagnosis (exc chlamydia aged <25) (per 100,000)

10

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Leeds Y&H EnglandP
age 164



Appendix 2a: Adults Social Care Update  
 
Background 
 
1. Social Care in Leeds provides a range of care and support services to help meet 

the needs of older people, people with a learning disability, those with mental 
health issues and people with a physical or sensory impairment.   

 
2. These services range from those available on a direct access basis for preventative 

support through to residential and nursing care when this is the right option.  
Services can be provided directly and through commissioning and funding 
arrangements.   

 
3. During 2021/22, Adult Social Care in Leeds provided long term support to 10,595 

people, 6,461 of whom where aged 65 and over.  Looking at people who had been 
in receipt of long term support for over 12 months, and who had an open case at 
the end of March 2021, there were 6,615 people, 3,284 of whom were aged 65 or 
over. These figures are broadly in line with those from 2020/21. 

 
4. The Leeds approach to Adult Social Care is informed by the Better Lives Strategy 

and its themes of better conversations, better living and better connections.  This 
strategy is currently being renewed.   

 
5. The Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF) provides an outcomes 

based national framework for measuring performance of all local authorities. 
Metrics are organised under four key aims or domains. 

 Domain 1: Enhance quality of life for people with care and support needs.    

 Domain 2: Delay and reduce the need for care and support. 

 Domain 3: Ensure that people have a positive experience of care and support. 

 Domain 4: Safeguarding adults whose circumstances amen them vulnerable 

and protecting them from harm.   

 

6. The metrics within the ASCOF are informed by the results of mandatory national 
data collections and surveys. This report presents 2021/22 provisional results 
alongside the most recent comparative data and includes local metrics where 
relevant to the Better Lives Strategy. 

 
ASCOF framework  
 
7. Following the completion of the Short and Long Term Care (SALT) return, Personal 

Social Services (PSS) Survey and Carers Survey the draft results for the ASCOF 
measures for 2021/22 are now available. Appendix 1 presents these alongside 
comparison to historic results. Comparator data to other authorities for this year is 
not yet available. Overall, six measures have improved whilst sixteen have 
declined compared to the previous result.  

 Ten measures are obtained from the SALT return. Of these five have 
improved whilst five have declined compared to 2020/21 

Page 165



 Eight measures are obtained from the PSS Survey. Of these performance has 
dropped for six out of the seven available results compared to the last survey 
in 2019/20. One result is not yet available. 

 Five measures are obtained from the Carers Survey. Performance has dropped 
for all five measures compared to the last survey in 2018/19.  

 
8. Domain 1: Enhance quality of life for people with care and support needs       
 

 The domain contains five measures based upon the PSS and Carers surveys 
which were last carried out in 2019/20 and 2018/19 respectively. These look 
service users and carers views on quality of life, control and social contact. All 
five measures recorded worse results than the last survey. 

 The proportion of people who use services who receive self-directed support 
has increased compared to both 2020/21 and 2019/20. However, the 
proportion of service users receiving a direct payment has fallen slightly. This 
is largely due to an increase in service users who do not have a direct 
payment included in the cohort. 

 The proportion of carers who receive both self-directed support and in 
particular a direct payment have increased to back in line with 2019/20 figures 
due to the increased numbers of one-off direct payments which reduced 
during COVID. 

 Results for adults in contact with secondary mental health services in paid 
employment /settled accommodation are not yet available. 

 The percentage of 18–64 year-olds with a learning disability in settled 
accommodation / paid employment have both fallen compared to last year. - 
This is due to a number of factors including the status being captured for 
fewer service users due to less reviews taking place, data clean up removing 
people from the cohort and genuine changes in status.  

 
9. Domain 2: Delay and reduce the need for care and support  
 

 The rate of care home admissions for people aged 18-64 has fallen compared 
to both 2020/21 and 2019/20. The actual number of admissions is 55 
compared to 67 last year.  

 The rate of care home admissions for people aged 65+ has increased 
compared to last year but remains below the result for 2019/20. Last year’s 
result was low due to COVID.  

 Percentage of older people at home 91 days after discharge into reablement 
has continued to decline whist the percentage of people being independent 
following reablement has fallen slightly compared to last year, however, 
2020/21 saw the highest result recorded and so the 2021/22 remains high 
compared to historic performance. The overall number of people receiving 
reablement services is broadly in line with last year but remains below 2019/20 
levels. The ability of the service to operate has been greatly impacted on by 
COVID-19, although progressively services are resuming. 

 Delayed Transfers of Care statistics have not been collated since February 
2020 and will be replaced following the pandemic.  

 
10. Domain 3: Ensure that people have a positive experience of care and support  

Page 166



 

 The ASCOF metrics within this domain are based upon the PSS and Carers 
surveys which were last carried out in 2019/20 and 2018/19 respectively. The 
measures look at service users and carers views with regards to satisfaction 
with services and the ease of finding information. All five measures recorded 
worse results than the last survey. 

 Leeds indicators.  A Best Council Plan metric relevant to Adult Social Care is 
the results of Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspections of local provision.  
The March 2022 result of 78.4% was a reduction compared to last year. The 
fall is due to not being able to attend regular inspections apart from when 
providers require immediate support with significant challenges. A small 
number of inspections have been reported during the period for homes that 
were subsequently rated as requiring improvement or inadequate, thus 
impacting upon the overall score. 

 
11. Domain 4: Safeguarding adults whose circumstances amen them vulnerable 

and protecting them from harm   
 

 The ASCOF metrics within this domain are all based upon the PSS survey, 
comparisons are therefore made with the last survey in 2019/20.  Whilst the 
proportion of people who feel safe has increased the proportion of people who 
say that the services they use make them feel safe has fallen. 

 Leeds indicators.  A key local metric relates to meeting the outcomes for people 
who have been supported with safeguarding. The result for 2021/22 has 
increase compared to last year but remains below the 2019/20 figure. 2021/22 
saw a 10% increase in safeguarding concerns raised compared to 2020/21, 
however, safeguarding enquiries fell slightly by 3%.  

 
2021/22 activity 
 
12. The Covid period has resulted in increased safeguarding concerns, mental health 

issues and the impact of social isolation on older people’s confidence and 
mobility and is evidenced through increased demand across the first six months 
of the year. The second half of the year has seen demand reduce compared to 
the peaks of the summer months of June-August whilst remaining high compared 
to 2020/21 averages.  

 
13. This is impacting on such indicators as allocation waiting time, assessment 

timeliness and in capacity for annual reviews. It can be seen specifically in 
hospital discharge delays but also in broader delays for people accessing care 
services.  

 
14. The pandemic has also had an impact on the social care workforce with providers 

experiencing increasing difficulties in recruiting and retaining staff. This has had 
an impact on the timeliness of provision of services such as home care and care 
home placements. 

 
SALT return. 

Page 167



15. An initial draft version of the annual SALT data collection return for 2021/22 has 
been completed. Broadly, the return reflects a return towards levels of activity seen 
in 2019/20 following the COVID impacted figures from 2020/21:  

 Whist there was an overall reduction in requests for support compared to last 
year by 7% for 18-64 year olds and 1% for over 65’s, in both cases linked to 
reduced numbers from hospital discharge this is not reflected in the numbers 
who go on to receive services. There was an increase of 18-64 year olds going 
on to receive long term care in the community. For older people whilst numbers 
resulting in nursing placements continue to fall the numbers leading to 
residential care or community care increased compared to both 2020/21 (which 
was impacted upon by COVID) and 2019/20.  

 The number of new service users entering reablement was broadly in line with 
last year but continues to be below 2019/20 levels which is reflective of the 
lower numbers entering from the community. This is because the reablement 
service suspended taking referrals from the community in order to focus all its 
capacity on supporting hospital discharge. The breakdown of sequels to 
reablement were broadly in line with last year. 

 18-64 year-old long term service users – The overall numbers supported remain 
relatively static with a continued move to more care in the community versus 
that in a permanent placement.  

 65+ year-old long term service users - Overall there can be seen to be 
increases in numbers supported compared to 2020/21 across 
nursing/residential and community care which were impacted by COVID but 
that they have not yet recovered to pre-pandemic 2019/20 levels.  

 Reviews – There have been falls in the number of reviews taking place, in 
particular planned reviews and the number of unique people reviewed. The 
percentage of long-term service users reviewed has fallen to 50.7% compared 
to 57.8% last year.  

 The overall number of carers provided with support have increased compared 
to last year and were slightly above 2019/20 levels. due to an increased number 
of 'time for carers' grants being issued which did not take place in 2020/21 due 
to the pandemic. The number of carers supported by Carers Leeds is broadly 
in line with last year but still significantly below pre-pandemic levels seen in 
2019/20. The number of carers assessed has remained relatively steady across 
2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22 
 

 

Page 168



2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22
1yr

trend

Yorkshire & 

Humber 
Comparator* England 

Domain 1: Enhancing quality of life for people with care and support needs

1A Social care-related quality of life score 19.7 19.6 19.7 NA 18.8  NA NA NA

1B The proportion of people who use services who have control over their daily life 79.3 75.1 80.2 NA 74.8  NA NA NA

1C(1A) The proportion of people who use services who receive self-directed support 98.1 98.0 92.7 90.5 93.1  89.5 86.0 92.2

1C(1B) The proportion of carers who receive self-directed support 94.6 94.0 93.4 88.3 93.0  77.7 84.0 87.1

1C(2A)

BL7
The proportion of people who use services who receive direct payments 20.1 17.8 16.2 15.4 15.0  26.1 26.1 26.6

1C(2B)

BL2
The proportion of carers who receive direct payments 88.4 87.4 83.7 65.6 79.4  70.0 74.8 75.3

1D** Carer-reported quality of life NA 7.5 NA NA 7.4  NA NA NA

1E The proportion of adults with a learning disability in paid employment 6.7 7.7 8.1 8.6 5.8  6.0 5.5 5.1

1F*** The proportion of adults in contact with secondary mental health services in paid employment 8.1 11.7 12.0 9.0 NA NA 11.0 7.7 9.0

1G
The proportion of adults with a learning disability who live in their own home or with 

their family
71.9 73.0 74.8 80.9 76.3  81.6 80.6 78.3

1H***
The proportion of adults in contact with secondary mental health services living independently,

 with or without support
59.0 71.7 74.0 15.0 NA NA 65.0 59.7 58.0

1I(1)
The proportion of people who use services who reported that they had as much social contact 

as they would like
50.8 51.6 49.4 NA 40.5  NA NA NA

1I(2)** The proportion of carers who reported that they had as much social contact as they would like NA 32.4 NA NA 30.8  NA NA NA

1J Adjusted Social care-related quality of life – impact of Adult Social Care services 0.4 0.4 0.4 NA NA NA NA NA NA

2A(1)

BL 8

Long-term support needs of younger adults (aged 18-64) met by admission to     

residential and nursing  care homes, per 100,000 population
11.7 13.5 16.2 13.3 10.9  14.1 17.1 13.3

2A(2)

BL 9

Long-term support needs of older adults (aged 65 and over) met by admission to 

residential and nursing care homes, per 100,000 population
594.6 526.2 561.1 458.1 497.6  549.8 689.2 498.2

2B(1)
The proportion of older people (aged 65 and over) who were still at home 91 days after dischar

ge from hospital into reablement/rehabilitation services
85.8 82.2 83.1 81.4 79.5  76.4 80.6 79.1

2B(2)
The proportion of older people (aged 65 and over) who received reablement/rehabilitation ser

vices after discharge from hospital
3.3 NA 2.0 1.1 NA NA 2.5 4.3 3.1

2C(1) Delayed transfers of care from hospital, per 100,000 population 16.9 16.4 12.6 NA NA NA NA NA NA

2C(2)

BL 5

Delayed transfers of care from hospital that are attributable to adult social care, per 100,000 p

opulation
4.2 1.3 0.7 NA NA NA NA NA NA

2C(3)
 Delayed transfers of care from hospital that are attributable to NHS and adult social care, per 

100,000 population
1.0 2.8 2.0 NA NA NA NA NA NA

2D The outcome of short-term services: sequel to service 59.5 60.0 65.7 71.9 71.4  68.3 60.0 74.9

3A Overall satisfaction of people who use services with their care and support 62.4 63.3 66.7 NA 64.4  NA NA NA

3B** Overall satisfaction of carers with social services NA 38.0 NA NA 32.5  NA NA NA

3C**
The proportion of carers who report that they have been included or consulted in discussion ab

out the person they care for
NA 73.1 NA NA 58.4  NA NA NA

3D(1) The proportion of people who use services who find it easy to find information about support 74.1 69.8 71.5 NA 57.8  NA NA NA

3D(2)** The proportion of carers who find it easy to find information about services NA 65.4 NA NA 57.1  NA NA NA

4A The proportion of people who use services who feel safe 72.7 73.0 69.4 NA 71.9  69.7 70.2

4B
The proportion of people who use services who say that those services have 

made them feel safe and secure
86.9 91.1 87.6 NA 83.0  86.7 86.8

BL 1
Percentage of referrals for social care resolved at initial point of contact or through accessing 

universal services
24.1 25.5 33.5 30.3 28.4  Local Measure

BL 3
Ratio of people who receive community-based support vs people who are supported in care 

homes
2.0 2.1 2.2 2.4 2.4 Local Measure

BL 4
People completing a re-ablement service (Data is not comparable given service redesign in 

2017-18, the figure for that year is for 8 months)
1868.0

257 qter 

avg
231  qter avg 113  qter avg 135  qter avg  Local Measure

BL 6
Proportion of Care Quality Commission registered care services in Leeds rated overall as good 

or outstanding
75.9 82.0 87.8 83,5 78.4 

BL 10
The percentage of people with a concluded safeguarding enquiry for whom their outcomes 

were fully or partially met (overall number)

94.8

(2466)
96.5 97.2 93.5 94.6 

BL= Better Lives Strategy Measure
Notes  *Comparator Authorities - Nationally agreed group of LA's for comparing outcomes     **Carers survey occurs ever two years  ***National caution of the reliability of these measure meant they weren't released in 2017 

Domain 2: Delaying and reducing the need for care and support

Domain 3: Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care and support

Domain 4:  Safeguarding adults whose circumstances make them vulnerable and protecting them from 

Additional Leeds Better Lives Strategy Measures 

Local Measure 

ASCOF Measure

2020-21 Comparison

P
age 169



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3: More Adults are Active  

 
Activity levels are starting to recover following large drops caused by coronavirus 
(Covid-19) pandemic restrictions, our latest Active Lives Adult Survey report shows 
that Leeds inactivity rate has significantly fallen since this sharp rise due to previous 
lockdown periods. The Inactive rate has fallen from last year (25.6%) to 23.3% 
for the period Nov 2020 to Nov 2021 which equates to 150,000 people. This 
highlights that an extra 14,000 people have moved from being inactive to active this 
year. Leeds now has one of the lowest inactive rates in North Yorkshire with only 
Craven and Harrogate recording lower rates of inactivity. Leeds is only 2nd compared 
to all Core Cities, only behind Bristol which records an inactivity rating of 20.7% and 
is substantially lower than the National (27.2%), regional (28.4%)and core cities 
(26.6%) averages  
 
The recovery started in mid-March 2021 when there was a rise of 3% to 61.2% of the 
population getting active (between mid-March – mid-May), compared to just 58.2% 
12 months earlier.   
 
While numbers are still down compared to pre-pandemic, with 600k (1.9%) fewer 
active adults and 1.3m (2.6%) more inactive adults (National rates), the recovery is a 
testament to the work and investment that went into helping people stay active 
during a period of unprecedented restrictions.  
 
However, while this initial recovery is good news, the data shows that this is not 
universal, with many people struggling, a trend that emerged before the pandemic 
and which is why we have such a strong focus on tackling inequalities and barriers.   
 
When restrictions were lifted in July 2021, the number of people saying they felt they 
had the opportunity to be active increased close to levels we saw pre the emergence 
of coronavirus.  
 
Team sports participation numbers bounced back close to pre-pandemic levels, 
following large drops during restrictions. Football (+2% across mid-July - mid-
September 2021), cricket (+0.3% mid-July – mid-September 2021) and basketball 
(+0.3% mid-September – mid-November 2021) in particular have seen large 
numbers of returners which is driving the overall recovery in team sports.   
 
However, because pre-pandemic, the numbers taking part in team sports were 
declining, we are continuing to support this part to recover and to reinvent how it 
provides opportunities to play sport and get active.  
 
There is positive news for older people with recovery to pre-pandemic levels seen in 
activity levels for those aged 55-74 and 75+.  
 
Overall population numbers hide stark inequalities with women, those from ethnically 
diverse communities, those living in more deprived areas, disabled people and 
people with long-term health conditions still less likely to be active than others, and 
the pandemic has exacerbated the inequalities for the least affluent, Asian people, 
disabled people and people with long-term health conditions in particular.   

Page 171



 
The gap in activity levels between the haves and have nots has also widened during 
the pandemic, with those that live in deprived areas seeing bigger drops in activity 
levels than those in more well-off areas. For example, activity fell 4.4% for those 
living in the most deprived areas (IMD 1-3) compared to pre-pandemic compared to 
a 1.2% for those in the least deprived areas (IMD 8-10).   
 
Active Leeds are expanding our targeted place-based working and partnerships 
through initiatives such as the Get Set Leeds programme to help start to tackle 
inactivity in the cities priority neighbourhoods.  
 
While initial drops have stabilised for most groups, activity levels for the younger 
adults (16-34) have continued to fall at a worrying rate, continuing a downward trend 
that started before the pandemic. As the sport and physical activity sector recovers 
from coronavirus, it's vital that activity offerings appeal to this younger generation so 
they can benefit from the profound health, social and personal benefits that being 
active brings.  The Leisure Centre membership figures show that the younger age 
groups from 12-15 are seeing record numbers attending the gym and swimming 
pools which is bucking the trend nationally.  
 
We'll also continue to work with Active Travel initiatives to improve cycling and 
walking infrastructure to make environments more suitable for the active travel with 
51% of people saying they intend to do more walking, running or cycling for everyday 
journeys, which is likely to be linked to the cost of living crisis and rising fuel prices 
potentially making driving less accessible. Active travel numbers have seen a partial 
recovery from mid-March 2021 onwards whilst swimming numbers have started to 
recover since mid-May 2021.   
 
Fitness activity numbers remain notably below pre-pandemic levels across the whole 
year (down 1.3m), however membership levels across Leeds Leisure Centre have 
recover to pre pandemic levels following record numbers of new people joining the 
service in the first quarter of this year so we expect this to further aid recovery of 
activity rates this year.  
 
Over the last 12 months we have been undertaking various pieces of work to support 
those living with long term health conditions who have been disproportionally 
impacted by covid-19. The impact that covid has had upon not only physical health 
but mental health has been widely seen across the city, therefore we have been 
working to embed physical activity pathways into the health care system in order to 
tackle this. We have worked closely with organisations such as Live Well Leeds and 
Leeds and Yorkshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (LYPFT) to improve the 
connection between physical activity and mental health and to build better 
relationships with these organisations to receive referrals into our support based 
programmes. We have also be working with communities who have developed long 
covid to get them in to physical activity to support their ongoing symptoms developed 
from catching COVID. 
 
Active Leeds have added to and improved our communication channels to reach as 
wide an audience as possible, for example by purchasing a new marketing 
automation module which allows us to send targeted push notification messages to 

Page 172



65,000 people. Through social media and email platforms we have a reach of well 
over 100,000 residents of Leeds. Social media channels have focused on mental 
health and wellbeing as well as promoting Active Leeds services, focusing on the 
mental health benefits of activity, tips for getting started with exercise and advice on 
how to get back into activity after having Covid-19. The “LoveYourself” campaign 
focused on the mental health benefits of activity and how Active Leeds is an 
inclusive service with something for everyone regardless of age, ability, and previous 
exercise experience. Images used are more reflective of the people who use or and 
people we are looking to attract to use our services. The main aim of the campaign is 
to get the people of Leeds moving more, whether that’s starting to walk to the shops 
instead of driving, or using our services or that of partners across the city. 
 
Understanding that the impact of lockdowns has had a really adverse effect on 
children and young people’s swimming opportunities, and particularly those with a 
disability, new swimming sessions were introduced at Fearnville Leisure Centre such 
as the SENsory Family Swim for children with additional needs & female only family 
swims for females and boys up to the age of 7. 
Additional swimming lessons were run during mainstream lesson time for children 
with additional needs, in addition to the disability hub lessons (which also increased 
in number). Healthy Holiday lessons were set up- with free swimming lessons for 
children entitled to free school meals.  
 
The team are working with the Black Swimming Association (BSA) to understand the 
barriers for BAME communities to access swimming activities and working with 
Leeds Becketts who undertaking this research. 
 
Active Leeds organised the delivery of the sport and physical activity as part of the 
Council’s Healthy Holiday (HH) programme across Leeds over the summer and 
Christmas holidays. This programme was funded by the Department for Education 
(DfE) to provide families living in the 10% most deprived communities and on Free 
School Meals (FSM) with the opportunity to access FREE HH provision within their 
local communities 
 
For International Women’s Day 2022 Active Leeds delivered a carousel of activities 
aimed at women and girls in the city to welcome a new audience to the Leeds Dock. 
Sessions included an outdoor climbing wall, Roller Skating, RAF reaction board, 
Cancer Awareness, History led walk, 5k Fun Run, Bumps & Babes Buggy walk, 
Female only Yoga & mother and baby yoga, free of charge. We also provided a 
platform for female street artists to paint live murals and celebrate the IWD themes 
#breakthebias. Over 200 people predominantly women and girls of all ages and 
diversities attended the 3 hour event.  
 
Black History Month 2021 Active Leeds coordinated videos to show support for Black 
History Month, giving clues to describe who their personal black sports hero was/is 
and revealing this at the end. There were also discount activities put on at the leisure 
centres for BAME communities to access during this month. 
 
Over 23,500 access the leisure centre programmes using our discount card for 
people on low incomes and/or receiving benefits, who are accessing our swimming 

Page 173



lessons, aquatics training schemes, tennis lessons, gymnastic lessons, fitness 
classes, gym and swimming sessions. 
 
A large focus of this years work on the Physical Activity Ambition has been to define 
the priorities for this work and to seek approval for these priorities via the scrutiny 
board and Health and Wellbeing Board. The agreed priorities moving forward are:  

 Active Environments and Reconditioning, both priorities are underpinned by a 
focus on improving health inequalities and BAME groups. The project areas 
being scoped further include: 

 Active Environments- Department for Transport bid which combines social 
prescribing, community development and infrastructure re: walking and 
cycling. This project is at feasibility stage and is focused on the community of 
Richmond Hill. Get Set Leeds Local – This project focuses on increasing 
physical activity levels in 4 of the cities most deprived communities via a 
systems-based approach and co-production / ABCD approach. The project is 
demonstrating success in engaging residents from these communities into the 
project.  

 Reconditioning- Currently work is being undertaken to scope out around 
Ageing Well and Children and Young People. A specific focus for these two 
areas of work is yet to be confirmed, but discussions have included: Looked 
After Children; Healthy Holidays; Mental health of C& YP and their carers; 
C&YP transitions; prevention work with the Clinically Extremely Vulnerable 
adults and Over 70’s. 

Page 174



 
 

 

 

What is this report about? 
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

 

 All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the 
municipal year.  In doing so, the work schedule should not be considered a fixed and rigid 
schedule, it should be recognised as a document that can be adapted and changed to 
reflect any new and emerging issues throughout the year; and also reflect any timetable 
issues that might occur from time to time. 
 

 The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules also state that, where appropriate, all terms of 
reference for work undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will include ‘ to review how and to what 
effect consideration has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all equality areas, 
as set out in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’. 
 

 Reflecting on the information in this report and also information presented as part of other 
agenda items at today’s meeting, Members are requested to consider and discuss the 
Board’s work schedule for this municipal year.   

 

Recommendations 

Members are requested to consider the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for the 2022/23 municipal 

year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Work Schedule 

Date: 21 June 2022 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Steven Courtney 

Tel: 0113 3788666 

Page 175

Agenda Item 12



 

Why is the proposal being put forward?  
 

1. A draft work schedule for the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board is 
presented at Appendix 1 for consideration and discussion.  Reflected in the work schedule 
are known items of scrutiny activity, such as performance and budget monitoring, as well 
as other areas of work recommended by the former Scrutiny Board to be pursued in the 
2022/23 municipal year.  This also reflects any scheduling adjustments that have been 
identified since the last meeting of the previous Scrutiny Board.   
 

2. The latest Executive Board minutes from the meeting held on 20th April 2022 are also 
attached as Appendix 2.  The Scrutiny Board is asked to consider and note the Executive 
Board minutes, insofar as they relate to the remit of the Scrutiny Board; and consider any 
matter where specific scrutiny activity may also be warranted. 
 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

3. All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the 
municipal year. 
 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  
 

4. In order to enable Scrutiny to focus on strategic areas of priority, it is recognised that each 
Scrutiny Board needs to establish an early dialogue with those Directors and Executive 
Board Members whose remits are aligned to that of the Scrutiny Board. The Vision for 
Scrutiny also states that Scrutiny Boards should seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the 
relevant Director and Executive Members about available resources prior to agreeing 
items of work. 
 

5. The Director of Adults and Health; Director of Public Health; Director of City Development 
and relevant Executive Board Members have therefore been invited to today’s meeting to 
share their views and contribute to the Board’s discussion. 
 

6. As the remit of the Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles) includes the 
council’s statutory health scrutiny function, an invitation to today’s meeting has also been 
extended to senior representatives of local NHS organisations to provide an opportunity for 
them to also share their views and contribute to the Board’s discussion.  

 
What are the resource implications? 
 

7. Experience has shown that the Scrutiny process is more effective and adds greater value if 
the Board seeks to minimise the number of substantial inquiries running at one time and 
focus its resources on one key issue at a time.    
 

8. The Vision for Scrutiny, agreed by full Council also recognises that like all other Council 
functions, resources to support the Scrutiny function are under considerable pressure and 
that requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always be met.   
 

9. Consequently, when establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should: 
 

Wards affected: All 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☐No 

 

Page 176



 Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member 
about available resources; 
 

 Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already having 
oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue; 
 

 Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add value and 
can be delivered within an agreed time frame. 

 
What are the legal implications?  
 

10. This report has no specific legal implications. 
 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 
 

11. There are no risk management implications relevant to this report. 
  

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars? 
 

☒ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☒ Climate Emergency 

 
12. The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward looking 

Scrutiny function that focuses on the Best City Ambition. 
  

Appendices 
 

13. Appendix 1 – Draft work schedule of the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny 
Board for the 2022/23 municipal year. 
 

14. Appendix 2 – Draft minutes of the Executive Board meeting held on 20th April 2022. 
 

 

Background papers 
 

15. None. 

Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)  

Work Schedule for 2022/2023 Municipal Year 
 

Scrutiny Work Items Key: 

PSR Policy/Service Review RT Recommendation Tracking DB Development Briefings 

PDS Pre-decision Scrutiny PM Performance Monitoring C Consultation Response 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 

June 2022 July 2022 August 2022 

Meeting Agenda for 21/06/22 at 1.30 pm. Meeting Agenda for 19/07/22 at 1.30 pm. No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled 

 
Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference and 
Sources of Work (DB) 
 

Performance Update (PM) 
 
 

 
Provision of non-invasive post-mortems (PSR) 
 
Maternal health provision in Leeds (PSR) 
 
Review of visiting policies and patient advocacy 
within local healthcare settings and care homes 
(PSR) 

 

Working Group Meetings 

  
 
 
 

Site Visits / Other  

   

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 179



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)  

Work Schedule for 2022/2023 Municipal Year 
 

Scrutiny Work Items Key: 

PSR Policy/Service Review RT Recommendation Tracking DB Development Briefings 

PDS Pre-decision Scrutiny PM Performance Monitoring C Consultation Response 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 
 

September 2022 October 2022 November 2022 

Meeting Agenda for 20/09/22 at 1.30 pm. Meeting Agenda for 18/10/22 at 1.30 pm. Meeting Agenda for 22/11/22 at 1.30 pm. 

 
Arrangements surrounding the 
implementation of Liberty Protection 
Safeguards (PDS) 
 
Access to local NHS dental services – 
update (PSR) 
 
Update on the local Integrated Care System 
(PSR) 
  

 
Draft system strategy for Leeds Stroke Services 
(PDS) 
 
Community neurological rehabilitation service – 
update (PSR) 

 
Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board 
Progress Report (PSR) 
 
 
 

 

Working Group Meetings 

 
Intermediate Care Transformation (PSR) – timing 
to be confirmed 

 

Site Visits / Other  

   

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 180



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)  

Work Schedule for 2022/2023 Municipal Year 
 

Scrutiny Work Items Key: 

PSR Policy/Service Review RT Recommendation Tracking DB Development Briefings 

PDS Pre-decision Scrutiny PM Performance Monitoring C Consultation Response 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 

December 2022 January 2023 February 2023 

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled Meeting Agenda for 17/01/023 at 1.30 pm. Meeting Agenda for 21/02/23 at 1.30 pm. 

 
 

 
Performance report (PM) 
 
Financial Health Monitoring (PSR) 
 
2023/24 Initial Budget Proposals (PDS) 
 
Best City Ambition – Update (PDS) 
 
 

 
Update on the local Integrated Care 
System (PSR) 
 
 
 
 

Working Group Meetings 

  
 
 
 
 

Site Visits / Other  

   

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 181



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)  

Work Schedule for 2022/2023 Municipal Year 
 

Scrutiny Work Items Key: 

PSR Policy/Service Review RT Recommendation Tracking DB Development Briefings 

PDS Pre-decision Scrutiny PM Performance Monitoring C Consultation Response 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 
 
 

March 2023 April 2023 May 2023 

Meeting Agenda for 21/03/23 at 1.30 pm. No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Working Group Meetings 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Site Visits/Other 

 
 

 
 

 

 

P
age 182



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 22nd June, 2022 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY, 20TH APRIL, 2022 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J Lewis in the Chair 

 Councillors S Arif, A Carter, D Coupar,  
M Harland, H Hayden, S Golton, J Pryor, 
M Rafique and F Venner 

 
 

134 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public  
There was no information contained within the agenda which was designated 
as being exempt from publication. 
 

135 Late Items  
There were no late items of business submitted to the Board for 
consideration. 
 

136 Declaration of Interests  
There were no interests declared at the meeting. 
 

137 Minutes  
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 16th March 
2022 be approved as a correct record. 
 
INFRASTRUCTURE AND CLIMATE 
 

138 Levelling Up Fund (LUF) in Leeds  
Further to Minute No. 4, 8th June 2021, the Director of City Development 
submitted a report providing an update on the Levelling Up Fund (LUF) 
including the current position regarding the Council’s bids to Government 
under Round 1 in 2021 and the anticipated approach towards Round 2 in 
2022, which was in advance of the formal decision making for any future bid 
submissions. 
 
By way of introduction, the Executive Member provided an overview of the 
current position regarding both Round 1 and Round 2 bids, extended her 
thanks to officers for the work which had been undertaken to date in relation 
to the formation of bids and also thanked MPs for their continued engagement 
in the process. In addition, it was noted that the intention was to bring a 
further report to the 22nd June 2022 Executive Board meeting regarding the 
proposals for the Round 2 LUF bids ahead of the Government’s submission 
deadline of 6th July 2022. 
 
Members discussed the progress which was being made in relation to Round 
2 bids, with it being suggested that in addition to the planned consideration at 
the June Executive Board meeting, further Executive Member input be 
facilitated either via an additional Board meeting, or more informally. In 
response, it was undertaken that if it was felt that further Executive Member 

Page 183



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 22nd June, 2022 

 

input was required to help maximise the opportunities presented by the fund, 
either via an additional Board meeting or by other means, then this would be 
scheduled at the appropriate time.   
 
Responding to Members’ enquiries regarding the restoration of Methley Train 
Station and whether this could potentially be considered as a Round 2 LUF 
bid, it was noted that this project was currently the subject of a live funding bid 
and that there was a lot of local momentum behind looking towards reopening 
the station.  
 
The Board discussed several of the bids being proposed. Further to this, a 
Member highlighted that the work being undertaken to get all Leeds bids to 
the application stage was an investment, and whilst it was hoped that all 
submitted bids would be successful through the LUF programme, should any 
be unsuccessful, then that work undertaken could potentially be used to 
pursue alternative funding streams, where appropriate. 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the outcomes of the Round 1 LUF bids, be noted; and that the 
investment which has been secured for the Pudsey constituency 
‘Connecting West Leeds’ project, be welcomed;  
 

(b) That further development of, and public consultation for the ‘Leeds 
West: Green, Healthy and Connected’ project, to enable its 
consideration as a Round 2 bid for that constituency, be supported;  
 

(c) That further development and refinement of the ‘Leeds East: Fearnville 
Wellbeing Centre’ project and its potential to be submitted as a Round 
2 bid for that constituency, be supported; 
 

(d) That the need for further work in partnership with constituency MPs 
and Ward Members in order to define projects, undertake consultations 
and enable consideration of potential Round 2 bids in the Leeds 
Central, and Elmet & Rothwell constituencies, be noted;  
 

(e) That the opportunity to develop an additional city bid, or bids alongside 
MPs’ prioritised constituency schemes, be noted; and that agreement 
be given for the Director of City Development, in consultation with the 
Executive Member for Infrastructure and Climate to explore further 
potential schemes for submission to the LUF, which can be considered 
at the June 2022 Executive Board for potential submission as 
necessary; 
 

(f) That a report be presented to the 22nd June 2022 Executive Board in 
order to agree which schemes are submitted as Round 2 LUF bids 
before the 6th July 2022 deadline; and that the comments made during 
the meeting be noted together with the undertaking that if it was felt 
that further Executive Member input was required to help maximise the 
opportunities presented by the fund, either via an additional Board 

Page 184



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 22nd June, 2022 

 

meeting or by other means, then this would be scheduled at the 
appropriate time. 

 
RESOURCES 
 

139 Financial Health Monitoring 2021/22 - Provisional Outturn (Month 11)  
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report presenting details of 
the financial health of the Council in respect of both the General Fund 
revenue budget and the Housing Revenue Account and in relation to the 
Provisional Outturn, as at Month 11 of the 2021/22 financial year. 
 
By way of introduction, the Executive Member provided an overview of the 
key points within the report, with it being noted that an underspend of £0.4m 
was being forecast for the Authority as at the Provisional Outturn position for 
2021/22. 
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiries, the Board received further information 
regarding the actions which were being taken to monitor and mitigate against 
the current financial risks arising from energy cost pressures and the 
fluctuating situation surrounding such matters. Further to this it was noted that 
the Council continued to liaise with other Local Authorities, the Local 
Government Association and the Government on the issue of energy cost 
pressures. 
 
A Member made enquiries regarding the current level of void properties within 
the Council housing stock and the timeframe by which such properties were 
being made habitable again, with a suggestion that a report be submitted to a 
future Executive Board regarding such matters. Responding to the Member’s 
enquiries, officers undertook to provide further information should this be 
required, and the Board received further detail regarding the issues which 
continued to be experienced in this area as a result of the pandemic. 
Members also received an update on the range of actions which were in place 
to address such matters and improve the current position regarding void 
properties.  
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the projected financial position of the Local Authority at the 
Provisional Outturn (Month 11 of the 2021/22 financial year), together 
with the projected impact of COVID-19 on that position, as presented in 
the submitted report, be noted;  
 

(b) That it be noted that for 2021/22 the Authority is forecasting a £0.4m 
underspend position at the Provisional Outturn. 

 
ADULT AND CHILDREN'S SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH PARTNERSHIPS 
 

140 Better Lives Strategy 2022 to 2027  
The Director of Adults and Health submitted a report which sought approval of 
the proposed new Better Lives Strategy for the period 2022-2027, as 
presented at Appendix 1. The report provided a summary of the consultation 

Page 185



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 22nd June, 2022 

 

and engagement which had been undertaken to inform the development of 
the proposed new strategy and it was noted that, subject to approval, the new 
strategy was scheduled to be launched in the summer of 2022. 
 
The Executive Member introduced the report, highlighting the key consultation 
which had been undertaken as part of its development process, emphasised 
that it was a ‘whole Council’ strategy noting the linkages between this and the 
Council’s other strategies and services, and how its delivery would be 
overseen by the Better Lives Board.  
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received further information on 
the range of metrics against each of the strategy’s key themes that could 
potentially be monitored in order to measure delivery outcomes, with it being 
noted that the specific metrics deemed most appropriate would be agreed 
with the Better Lives Board. It was also noted that in relation to the reporting 
of the Council’s delivery against such metrics, this would be reported to the 
Better Lives Board on a quarterly basis, with relevant information also being 
included within the Director’s ‘Local Account’ annual report. 
 
Responding to a Member’s comment, the importance of clear public 
communications on matters such as this was emphasised, and the Board 
noted the role played by the Better Lives Board in ensuring that the Council 
continued to review its approach on how such wider public communications 
were best achieved in Leeds.  
 
Members welcomed the development of the strategy as a document by which 
the standard of services delivered across the Council to people with care and 
support needs could be measured.  
  
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the new Better Lives Strategy for 2022-2027, as presented at 
Appendix 1 to the submitted report, be approved;  
 

(b) That it be noted that the lead officer responsible for the implementation 
of such matters is the Director of Adults and Health. 

 
141 Update on Thriving: The Child Poverty Strategy for Leeds  

Further to Minute No. 64, 20th October 2021, the Director of Children and 
Families submitted a report which provided an update on the ‘Thriving: The 
Child Poverty Strategy for Leeds’, presenting information on the work which 
sat underneath the strategy, including work that had occurred throughout the 
pandemic. Specifically, the report provided an update on each of the 
workstreams within the strategy in terms of recent activities, outcomes and 
proposed next steps. 
 
By way of introduction, the Executive Member provided an overview of the 
key points within the report, highlighting the current position regarding child 
poverty levels both locally and nationally, the cross-directorate working which 
continued to be developed in this area and the partnership work that 
continued to be undertaken with the third sector. 

Page 186



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 22nd June, 2022 

 

 
Members considered a number of issues arising from the report which 
included the importance of children’s access to green space, the continued 
development of a cross directorate approach towards addressing issues such 
as child poverty and the measurement of the outcomes being delivered as a 
result of the actions taken.  
 
In discussing the range of actions being taken by the Council in this area, the 
Board also acknowledged the scale of the challenge that continued to be 
faced, considered the trends regarding child poverty levels both locally and 
nationally and the impact of national policy upon such levels. Linked to this, 
Members also discussed the impact of the pandemic and the associated lock 
downs upon children and young people, and whilst it was acknowledged that 
there was still much to learn on the impact of the pandemic upon children, it 
was noted that the effects of the pandemic had been exacerbated in those 
children who were experiencing poverty during this time.   
 
A Member made enquiries regarding the role of Children’s Centres as part of 
the actions being taken in this area, with a suggestion that a report be 
submitted to a future Executive Board regarding such matters. Responding to 
the Member’s enquiries, officers undertook to provide further information 
should this be required, whilst the Board received further detail on the 
continued work of Children’s Centres across Leeds. 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the strategic framework in place to mitigate the impact of child 
poverty, together with the work being undertaken by the Council and 
other partners in the key areas of activity, as outlined within the 
submitted report, be endorsed;  
 

(b) That the need to promote the work of the ‘Thriving’ strategy across the 
city and in particular in each respective Member’s portfolio, in order to 
highlight the impact of poverty on children and their families, be 
endorsed; 
 

(c) That it be noted that the responsible officer for such matters is the 
Deputy Director Children and Families. 

 
COMMUNITIES 
 

142 Leeds Response to the Ukrainian Crisis  
The Director of Communities, Housing and Environment submitted a report 
which presented an overview and update on the current situation regarding 
the Ukrainian crisis, outlined the impact with regard to the city of Leeds and 
the Council and which provided details of the actions being taken to date 
across the city in response to the crisis. 
 
In introducing the report, the Executive Member highlighted the key points 
within it, with details of the key actions being taken to welcome and support 
those Ukrainians who were arriving in the city being provided. The Board also 

Page 187



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 22nd June, 2022 

 

received information on the two separate settlement schemes in operation, 
and noted the details provided around the co-ordinated approach which 
continued to be taken both across the Council and with partner organisations 
across the city and the region, including the Leeds Branch of the Association 
of Ukrainians in Great Britain. 
 
Further to this, the Board received a comprehensive update covering several 
areas, including: 

- the latest numbers who had already arrived, or were scheduled to 
arrive in the city;  

- details of the co-ordinated approach to ensure that appropriate 
safeguarding checks were being undertaken as part of the settlement 
schemes’ matching process with sponsors, with checks on sponsors’ 
accommodation also being undertaken;  

- the range of support and information being provided to those entering 
the city and their sponsors, initially via the welcome point at Leeds 
Bradford Airport, but with the Reginald Centre being used as a base for 
such services;  

- an update in respect of the number of visas which had been issued by 
the Home Office to date; 

- the work of the cross-Council strategic partnership working group, and 
the role of the Council across the city, regionally and in liaison with 
Government; 

- the progress being made by the Leeds Together for Ukraine Appeal. 
 
The Board considered the national position with regard to entry requirements 
for Ukrainians into the UK, and in response to a Member’s enquiry, the Board 
received further information regarding the arrangements in place to provide 
free transport for Ukrainians entering the UK to their point of destination.   
 
Members welcomed the update provided, acknowledged the fluidity of the 
situation, emphasised the ‘Team Leeds’ approach that these actions 
embodied and thanked officers and partner organisations for the collaborative 
approach being taken to support those Ukrainians coming into Leeds and the 
region. 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the contents of the submitted update report, be noted; and that 
the approach being adopted within the Council’s strategic, co-ordinated 
and inclusive approach towards migration for Leeds, be endorsed;  
 

(b) That it be noted that the Director of Communities, Housing and 
Environment is responsible for leading a collaborative, strategic 
citywide response;  
 

(c) That it be noted that the Chief Officer for Safer, Stronger Communities 
is responsible for leading the cross-Council approach towards 
providing strategic and operational direction for the city; 
 

Page 188



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 22nd June, 2022 

 

(d) That the continued and evolving partnership response to the Ukrainian 
crisis, which will respond to further guidance and policy development, 
as it is received from Government, be supported. 

 
ECONOMY, CULTURE AND EDUCATION 
 

143 UK Shared Prosperity Fund  
The Director of City Development submitted a report which provided an 
update on the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) based upon the pre-
launch information issued by the Government in February 2022 alongside the 
Levelling Up White Paper. The report also presented contextual information 
relating to the European Structural and Investment Funds (ESIF) which the 
UKSPF was intended to replace, and set out the preparations which were now 
underway ahead of the formal launch of the UKSPF anticipated in late June / 
early July 2022. 
 
Responding to Members’ comments and enquiries, the Board received 
clarification on the overall levels of UK Shared Prosperity Funding which had 
been recently announced for West Yorkshire as a whole and for Leeds within 
that. 
 
RESOLVED – That the contents of the submitted report, including the related 
processes regarding the UK Shared Prosperity Fund, as detailed, be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DATE OF PUBLICATION:  FRIDAY, 22ND APRIL 2022 
 
LAST DATE FOR CALL IN 
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS: 5.00 P.M., FRIDAY, 29TH APRIL 2022 
 

Page 189



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Minutes - 15 March 2022 and 26 April 2022
	Item 6b - Note of AHAL Scrutiny Board Consultative Meeting 26042022

	7 Co-opted Members
	8 Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference
	Appendix 1 - General Scrutiny Board TOR
	Appendix 2 - Article 6 Scrutiny Boards
	Appendix 3 - Scrutiny Board alignment to Executive functions

	9 Local Authority Health Scrutiny
	Appendix 1 - Local authority health scrutiny
	Appendix 2 - HSDWG Draft ToR (June 2022)
	Appendix 3 - WY JHOSC - Terms of Reference

	10 Sources of work for the Scrutiny Board
	Appendix 1 - Best City Ambition
	Appendix 2 - Leeds HWB Strategy (2016_21)
	Appendix 3 - 2022-23 Budget Council Report_A&H
	01 UPDATED Final Budget 2022-23 Cover Report
	02 FINAL Council Appendix 1 Final Budget 2022-23 03.02.22
	03 FINAL Annex 1 v4 22.01.27 v2 - Copy
	Annex 1. 21-22 - 22-23

	03 FINAL Annex 1 v4 22.01.27 v2
	Annex 1. 21-22 - 22-23

	04 DRAFT Annex 2 v2 9Feb22
	05 FINALApp 2 Budget Consultation 22_23 Report
	Proposed Budget 2022/23 - Consultation Report Consultation held December 2021 - January 2022
	1. Introduction and approach
	2. Analysis of respondents
	3. Executive summary
	4. Dealing with the challenges of reduced funding and prioritising service provision
	5. Council Tax
	6. How we spend the money we receive
	6.1 Adults and Health directorate budget
	6.2 Children and Families directorate budget
	6.3 City Development directorate budget
	6.4 Communities, Housing and Environment directorate budget
	6.5 Resources directorate budget
	6.6 Summary of views on the proposed net revenue budget by directorate
	6.7 Examples of comments on the proposed net revenue budget by directorate
	6.8 Overall proposed budget
	6.9 Comments about the overall proposed budget

	7. Perceptions of Leeds City Council
	7.1 Satisfaction with the way Leeds City Council runs things
	7.2 Comments on satisfaction with the way Leeds City Council runs things
	7.3 Suggestions for improvements


	[Page 1]
	Leeds City Council Budget Consultation for 2022/23
	Which one of these options do you agree with most?
	How much do you agree or disagree with our approach for increasing council tax in 2022/23 by 2.99%: an increase to the core rate of 1.99%, plus 1% to support adult social care services?
	[Page 6]
	[Page 7]
	[Page 8]
	[Page 9]
	[Page 10]
	[Page 11]
	Overall, to what extent do you agree or disagree with how we propose to spend our net revenue budget for 2022/23?
	[Page 12]
	As you’ve seen in the previous pages, Leeds City Council is responsible for running a range of services in your local area and across the city.   Overall, how satisfied or dissatisfied are you with the way Leeds City Council runs things?
	[Page 13]
	Do you? (please tick all that apply)
	How old are you?
	Please select the option that you most identify with:
	Is the gender you identify with the same as your sex registered at birth?
	[Page 14]
	Please indicate which best describes your ethnic origin:
	[Page 15]
	Do you consider yourself to be disabled?
	Please indicate which best describes your sexual orientation:
	Please indicate which best describes your religion or belief:


	06 FINAL App 3 Composite Scrutiny Budget Report
	07 4.1 Adults & Health Appendix 04 
	07 4.2 Appendix 04 C&F final
	07 4.3 Appendix 04 City Development FINAL
	07 4.4 Appendix 04 CH&E FINAL 28.1.22
	07 4.5 Appendix 04 Res FINAL
	08 FINAL Appendix 5 Parish & Town Council LCTS
	09 FINAL Appendix 6 EIA BCA and Budget 2022_23 FINAL at 27Jan2022
	10 FINAL Appendix 7 - Virement Rules
	11 8.1a Adults & Health Appendix 8 Narrative Template  2022-23 v2
	11 8.1b Adults & Health Appendix 8 figures FINAL
	11 8.2a Appendix 8 Narrative Template C&F draft 2022-23
	11 8.2b C&F Appendix 8 FINAL figures
	11 8.2c Appendix 8b(iii) - Schools Budget Report 2022-23
	11 8.3a Appendix 8 Narrative City Dev  2022-23 FINAL
	11 8.3b Appendix 8 City Dev FINAL
	11 8.4a CHE Appendix 8 FINAL
	11 8.4b CHE Appendix 8 Final
	11 8.4c 22-23 HRA Directorate Report FINAL
	11 8.5a Resources Directorate Appendix 8 Narrative Template  2022-23
	11 8.5b Res Appendix 8 figures
	11 8.6a Strategic Budget Report  2022-23
	11 8.6b Strategic Appendix 8 figures
	12 FINAL Appendix 9 - Capital Receipt Flexibilities v2 5pm 27.1.22
	13 FINAL Appendix 10 22_23 RESERVES v3 updated 27.1.22
	14 FINAL Appendix 11 Revenue and capital principles
	2022-23 Budget Council Report_City Dev.pdf
	01 UPDATED Final Budget 2022-23 Cover Report
	02 FINAL Council Appendix 1 Final Budget 2022-23 03.02.22
	03 FINAL Annex 1 v4 22.01.27 v2 - Copy
	Annex 1. 21-22 - 22-23

	03 FINAL Annex 1 v4 22.01.27 v2
	Annex 1. 21-22 - 22-23

	04 DRAFT Annex 2 v2 9Feb22
	05 FINALApp 2 Budget Consultation 22_23 Report
	Proposed Budget 2022/23 - Consultation Report Consultation held December 2021 - January 2022
	1. Introduction and approach
	2. Analysis of respondents
	3. Executive summary
	4. Dealing with the challenges of reduced funding and prioritising service provision
	5. Council Tax
	6. How we spend the money we receive
	6.1 Adults and Health directorate budget
	6.2 Children and Families directorate budget
	6.3 City Development directorate budget
	6.4 Communities, Housing and Environment directorate budget
	6.5 Resources directorate budget
	6.6 Summary of views on the proposed net revenue budget by directorate
	6.7 Examples of comments on the proposed net revenue budget by directorate
	6.8 Overall proposed budget
	6.9 Comments about the overall proposed budget

	7. Perceptions of Leeds City Council
	7.1 Satisfaction with the way Leeds City Council runs things
	7.2 Comments on satisfaction with the way Leeds City Council runs things
	7.3 Suggestions for improvements


	[Page 1]
	Leeds City Council Budget Consultation for 2022/23
	Which one of these options do you agree with most?
	How much do you agree or disagree with our approach for increasing council tax in 2022/23 by 2.99%: an increase to the core rate of 1.99%, plus 1% to support adult social care services?
	[Page 6]
	[Page 7]
	[Page 8]
	[Page 9]
	[Page 10]
	[Page 11]
	Overall, to what extent do you agree or disagree with how we propose to spend our net revenue budget for 2022/23?
	[Page 12]
	As you’ve seen in the previous pages, Leeds City Council is responsible for running a range of services in your local area and across the city.   Overall, how satisfied or dissatisfied are you with the way Leeds City Council runs things?
	[Page 13]
	Do you? (please tick all that apply)
	How old are you?
	Please select the option that you most identify with:
	Is the gender you identify with the same as your sex registered at birth?
	[Page 14]
	Please indicate which best describes your ethnic origin:
	[Page 15]
	Do you consider yourself to be disabled?
	Please indicate which best describes your sexual orientation:
	Please indicate which best describes your religion or belief:


	06 FINAL App 3 Composite Scrutiny Budget Report
	07 4.1 Adults & Health Appendix 04 
	07 4.2 Appendix 04 C&F final
	07 4.3 Appendix 04 City Development FINAL
	07 4.4 Appendix 04 CH&E FINAL 28.1.22
	07 4.5 Appendix 04 Res FINAL
	08 FINAL Appendix 5 Parish & Town Council LCTS
	09 FINAL Appendix 6 EIA BCA and Budget 2022_23 FINAL at 27Jan2022
	10 FINAL Appendix 7 - Virement Rules
	11 8.1a Adults & Health Appendix 8 Narrative Template  2022-23 v2
	11 8.1b Adults & Health Appendix 8 figures FINAL
	11 8.2a Appendix 8 Narrative Template C&F draft 2022-23
	11 8.2b C&F Appendix 8 FINAL figures
	11 8.2c Appendix 8b(iii) - Schools Budget Report 2022-23
	11 8.3a Appendix 8 Narrative City Dev  2022-23 FINAL
	11 8.3b Appendix 8 City Dev FINAL
	11 8.4a CHE Appendix 8 FINAL
	11 8.4b CHE Appendix 8 Final
	11 8.4c 22-23 HRA Directorate Report FINAL
	11 8.5a Resources Directorate Appendix 8 Narrative Template  2022-23
	11 8.5b Res Appendix 8 figures
	11 8.6a Strategic Budget Report  2022-23
	11 8.6b Strategic Appendix 8 figures
	12 FINAL Appendix 9 - Capital Receipt Flexibilities v2 5pm 27.1.22
	13 FINAL Appendix 10 22_23 RESERVES v3 updated 27.1.22
	14 FINAL Appendix 11 Revenue and capital principles



	11 Performance Update
	Appendix 1a - Public Health Report
	Appendix 1b Public Health Data
	Appendix 2a ASC Report
	Appendix 2b ASC Performance Measures
	Appendix 3 Active Lifestyles

	12 Work Schedule
	Appendix 1 - Draft AHAL work schedule 2022-2023
	Appendix 2 - Draft minutes of Executive Board 200422




